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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—E—tF “E-NF —ZET-NAF ET-_TF| ZEBE=Z—F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT & 7T
Results E¥
Revenue e =5 219,516,957 252,363,498 233,566,651 186,363,525 | 161,124,366
Loss for the year AKRAHEB A
attributable to owners EIEFAERE
of the Company (9,112,762)  (34,901,161) (77,936,393) (80,214,996)| (99,031,460)
Assets and Liabilities EE R & &
Total assets BEE 232,752,673 246,504,667 225,659,982 223,770,007 | 288,493,608
Total liabilities BwEE 106,240,910 154,188,456 209,307,135 268,959,397 | 300,934,586
Equity attributable AKRAHEB A
to owners of FE A #E 2
the Company 126,511,763 91,054,088 18,590,811  (48,746,456)| (14,646,808)
Loss per share BRER
Basic HA 0.03) 0.27) (0.28) (0.33)
Diluted #E 0.03) 0.27) (0.28) (0.33)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNRER
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BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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In Hong Kong:

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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In the PRC:

Bank of China
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CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
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Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
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Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

For other information relating to the Company,
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the Board (“Board) of Director (“Directors”) of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) and its audited financial results for the financial year
ended 31 December 2021.

In 2021, the economy of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
continued to recover steadily, and its economic development
and pandemic prevention and control have maintained a leading
position in the world. The GDP of the PRC grew at an annual rate
of 8.1%, outperforming market expectations.

During the year, while the pandemic continues to pose challenges
to various industries, the technological industry develops well and
the Group will invest resources in technology-related businesses
to seize market opportunities. On 2 July 2021, the Group
officially changed the English name of the Company to “Imperium
Technology Group Limited” and adopted the Chinese name as “#
BRI EBMARAT to reflect the current status of the Group
and its direction of future development.

In view of the development of current technological industrial trend,
the Group has initiated the plan to tap into the blockchain games
and the metaverse, enabling the Group to remain competitive
in the technology influenced online game and esports business
segments, which in turn will broaden the Group’s source of revenue
and maximise the return of the shareholders of the Company. The
Group plans to create a mega meta-universe game world for global
players, “Metasens”, and to release several NFT (Non-Fungible
Token) games in 2022, with a view to allowing players to enjoy the
fun of “earning while playing” through the combination of games
and NFT mechanisms, so as to seize the market opportunity of
“metaverse” and maximise the return of the shareholders of the
Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of board, | would like to express our sincere appreciation
to all our investors, customers, partners and shareholders for their
ongoing support, | would also like to thank my colleagues for their
invaluable contributions throughout the year.

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2021, the COVID-19 epidemic continued to rage around the
world. Lives are far from returning to “normal”, despite some
countries have begun to gradually relax quarantine measures and
anti-epidemic restrictions. The potential of the “home economy”
can not be neglected.

According to the marketing report issued by NewZoo, the total
revenue in the global game market reached US$175.8 billion
in 2021, of which US$88.2 billion was derived from the Asia-
Pacific region, accounting for 50.2% of the global game market.
The report anticipated that the global game market would rise to
US$218.7 billion at a CAGR of 8.7% from 2019 to 2024. The long-
term development of the game market is positive, especially with
the increasing discussions on the “metaverse”, the development
momentum is particularly strong.

The Group will continue to seize market opportunities and
aggressively explore the game publishing business, especially in
the blockchain games and metaverse sector. Also, it will continue to
diversify its business by further expanding the businesses of cloud
computing and data storage and esports, to extend the technical
elements and thematic contents in the blockchain games and
metaverse sector, thus maximizing the returns for shareholders of
the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately
13.5% to approximately HK$161,124,000 as compared to 2020
(2020: HK$186,364,000), mainly due to decease of revenue from
household products business in the PRC and game publishing
business. Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the
Year was approximately HK$99,031,000 (2020: HK$80,215,000).

Game publishing business

The Group has teams in place in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Southeast
Asia, and operates 6 games, namely “Jiuyin Zhenjing” ({1 &
#)), “King of Worlds”, “Champion Horse Racing”, “Eternal”, “Iron
Conflict” and “Myth of Empires”. The total number of game players
amounts to approximately 1,278,000, of whom approximately
160,000 are monthly active players.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In particular, the “Myth of Empires” game is a cold weapon war
sandbox online game in the background of Eastern Continent in
the 3rd century AD on a high-freely playing basis. The Company
has been authorised to act as an exclusive agent in the designated
places for the operation and marketing of the Myth of Empires
game for the period from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022. The
Group will continue to identify innovative games and good partners
in order to expand its business into various markets and sectors,
especially the fast-growing PRC game market.

In 2021, the Group officially launched the development plan of
“Metasens” to tap into the blockchain games and metaverse
sector, in order to create a super-huge metaverse game world for
players around the globe. The Metasens is designed as a large-
scale universe park with various theme planets, each of which has
its own unique game facilities, including real-time strategy games,
role-playing games, simulation and sports games, shooting games
and action and adventure games, by using future Web3.0 internet
technology incorporating blockchain technology, internet of things,
artificial intelligence and 3D images.

At present, the Group is planning to introduce several NFT
(Non-Fungible Token) metaverse games in 2022. In particular,
“METASNAKE”, being the first NFT game on Metasens, has
undergone a closed file deletion test, and related NFT ancestral
equipment has been available for pre-sale since December 2021,
which was over-subscribed by approximately 149% and secured
Ethereum equivalent to approximately US$752,000 based on
the current market price for the development of Metasens. The
“METASNAKE” is expected to be officially introduced in the first
quarter of 2022.

On 30 December 2021,
subsidiary Otey Gaming Pte. Ltd., successfully sold and delivered

the Group, through its wholly-owned

Metasens tokens (“MSU”) to independent third parties for a total
consideration of US$1,300,000 (the “Transaction”). The Group
will use the proceeds from the Transaction for the promotion and
development of Metasens. MSU is a Metasens-related encrypted
token whose main functions are to purchase NFTs, upgrade the
NFTs held and create more NFTs. The purchased NFTs will be used
as items on the Metasens.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

The Group has recruited experienced game designers and award-
winning artists with a track record in developing popular mobile
games and massively multiplayer online role-playing games
with global revenue of millions of dollars, and even recruited
the members of the major R&D team of one of the Top 10 Asia
Blockchain Technology Companies selected by APAC CIO Outlook
2020, to be responsible for the development of the Metasens
platform. The Board considers that the prospect of the Metasens
is promising and will enable the Group to remain competitive in
the technology influenced business segments, which in turn will
broaden the Group’s source of revenue and maximise the return of
the shareholders of the Company.

The revenue from game publishing business of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$21,420,000
(2020: HK$23,056,000) representing a decrease of approximately
71% as compared with last year, mainly due to the results from
games launched in 2021 is below our expectations. The segment
loss for the Year was approximately HK$49,001,000 (2020:
HK$45,960,000).

Cloud computing and data storage business

In recent years, the development of cloud computing and data
storage technology has offered a new way for businesses and
individuals to store, process and access large amount of digital
data in an efficient and secure manner. In particular, (i) the use of
blockchain technology and cryptocurrency has been increasing for
practical purposes such as for cloud computing and data storage;
(i) there are more and more institutional investors and individuals
who have started to invest in cryptocurrencies and related products
such as cryptocurrency ETF, leading to a continuing rise in the
prices of cryptocurrencies in the long run; (i) with the devaluation
of the traditional currencies due to quantitative easing measures
adopted by various governments in stimulating the economy, there
are signs indicating that cryptocurrencies are being regarded as
alternative assets with similar nature to that of gold given that
there is a limited supply of cryptocurrencies; and (iv) Filecoin
and Chia coin have positive outlook to be developed as major
cryptocurrencies. During the Year, the Group entered into several
leasing agreements to lease certain equipment as well as provide
software and technical services involving two cryptocurrencies, i.e.
Filecoin and Chia coin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In particular, the Group acquired and leased Filecoin Mining
Machines with a capacity of 53.4P, of which 38P were leased to
customers. Approximately 163,296 units of Filecoin have been
awarded to our customers for the year ended 31 December 2021.
According to the current practice of IPFS/Filecoin network, such
Filecoin will be vested within 180 days, 25% of which are made
available immediately while the remaining 75% of block rewards
earned by miners will be vested linearly over 180 days. As such,
the Group recognized its revenue of approximately HK$16,352,000
based on the value of Filecoin vested.

Furthermore, the Group took into account the fair value of Filecoin
as at 31 December 2021 and recorded the loss on the change in
fair value of cryptocurrency of approximately HK$7,911,000. As a
result, the Group recorded a gain of approximately HK$1,214,000
for the Filecoin related service segment during the Year. However,
based on the market price of Filecoin as at 31 December 2021,
approximately HK$6,025,000 of Filecoin granted during the Year
has yet to be recognized as revenue.

In addition to Filecoin related services, the Group acquired another
set of mining machines of Chia coin for its own use as well. During
the Year, the Group held approximately 2,303.6 units of Chia coins
with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,870,000.

As the cryptocurrencies are a pretty young market, lots of
uncertainties are necessarily taken into account, including liquidity,
price fluctuations and laws and regulations. To address the inherent
risk of cryptocurrency, the Group has established in-house policies
to manage such exposures. This includes making fair value
assessments on cryptocurrencies held by the Group and daily
monitoring of the price and liquidity of such cryptocurrencies.

The revenue from cloud computing and data storage business
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$22,233,000 (2020: Nil). The segment loss for the year was
approximately HK$10,901,000 (2020: Nil). As discussed above,
approximately HK$6,025,000 of Filecoin granted during the Year
has yet to be included in the above financial results.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

Esports business

On 27 January 2021, the strategic cooperation between PUBG
NVXQF team, the esports team owned by Nova eSports
International Limited, being a subsidiary of the Company, and
Tencent Video officially commenced. Tencent Video officially
becomes the title sponsor of NVXQF team, and the team has been
renamed as “NV”. In addition to existing various content categories
such as popular movies, variety shows, sports, news and anime,
Tencent Video is establishing a brand new esports channel. NV
will leverage on the inherent content advantages of Tencent Video,
while both parties will continue to develop more linked dedicated
content model, bringing more variations and possibilities for esports
industry and events operation. The cooperation will bring more
stable revenue to the esports business of the Group.

NV won the champion of the weekly final of the third week of PEL
2021 S1 season, weekly final of the fifth week of PEL 2021 S2
season, weekly final of the fourth week of PEL 2021 S3 season,
PEL 2021 S3 season, weekly final of the fourth week of PEL 2021
S4 season, weekly final of the fifth week of PEL 2021 S4 season
and PUBG Mobile Global Championship 2021. PEL 2021 is an
official professional esports contest organised by Tencent Games
and VSPN. In addition, our other teams won the runner-up in the
national mobile game contest of League of Legends.

Furthermore, the Esports Awards, a well-known esports award
overseas, announced esports awards for the year 2021. Paraboy, a
player of the NV Tencent Video team, won the Mobile Player of the
Year award, who was the only Chinese player winning the award
this year. Esports Awards, even known as the “Esports Oscar”
overseas, are the most influential annual awards in the eSports
industry in the world, which include various eSports projects,
players, game vendors and publishers in the assessment and
ranking.

The revenue from esports business of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately HK$33,736,000
(2020: HK$13,537,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 149.2%, mainly due to esports teams had won many
championship during the Year. The segment loss for the Year was
approximately HK$13,474,000 (2020: HK$11,163,000).

Annual Report 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Household products business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue from household
products business of the Group was approximately HK$80,464,000
(2020: HK$145,453,000),
compared with the corresponding period last year.

representing a decrease of 44.7% as
In 2021, the
Group has terminated the business relationship with the major
customer, as the major customer unilaterally demanded for the
enhancement of the existing production facilities of household
products business, including investments in automation, other
production equipment and environmental protection facilities.
Also, the market demand has decreased due to the continuing
tension between China and the U.S. and the outbreak of COVID-19.
The gross profit margin increased to approximately 8.6% (2020:
7.9%). The segment profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$1,385,000 (segment loss for 2020:
HK$6,880,000). The Group will take initiatives to increase revenue
and reduce costs, and consider the relocation of its factories to
those places with lower rents.

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue from
property investment business was approximately HK$1,401,000
(2020: HK$1,402,000). The segment profit was approximately
HK$951,000 (segment loss for 2020: HK$101,000), mainly due to
the decrease in fair value loss on investment properties which is
non-cash in nature.

Money lending business

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue from
money lending business was approximately HK$1,870,000 (2020:
HK$2,916,000). The segment loss of approximately HK$877,000
(2020: HK$518,000), mainly due to decease of interest income from
customers.
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1 2 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported
a revenue of approximately HK$161,124,000 (2020: approximately
HK$186,364,000), representing a decrease of 13.5% from that of
the fiscal year of 2020. The decrease in revenue is mainly due to
decrease of revenue from household products business in the PRC
and game publishing business.

Gross profit margin increased from 5.6% in 2020 to 11.9% in 2021
due to the increase of gross profit margin of esports business and
higher profit margin of cloud computing and data storage business
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Other income decreased from approximately HK$11,371,000 in
2020 to approximately HK$692,000 in 2021,
decrease in government grant and the decrease in bank interest

mainly due to the

income during the Year.

Distribution costs increased from approximately HK$8,750,000 in
2020 to approximately HK$17,894,000 in 2021 due to the increase
in marketing expenses for game publishing business during the
Year.

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
HK$63,245,000 in 2020 to approximately HK$77,251,000 in 2021,
mainly due to the increase in staff costs and legal and professional
fee incurred.

Other operating expenses decreased from approximately
HK$19,604,000 in 2020 to approximately HK$11,622,000 in 2021,
mainly due to impairment loss on intangible assets and exchange
loss and fair value change on investment properties during the
Year.

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$7,945,000 in
2020 to approximately HK$10,627,000 in 2021, attributable to the
increase in loan from related parties during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Income tax expense decreased from approximately HK$888,000
in 2020 to approximately HK$200,000 in 2021,
decrease of assessable profit of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2021.

mainly due to
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$43,026,000 (2020: HK$55,149,000) and
net current liabilities of approximately HK$156,441,000 (2020:
HK$69,864,000), the increase in net current liabilities is mainly
due to decrease in inventories and increase in loan from related
parties. Excluding current portion of the loan from related parties
of approximately HK$194,527,000 (2020: HK$106,000,000), there
was resulted in net current assets of approximately HK$38,086,000
(2020: HK$36,136,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had current liabilities
of approximately HK$292,589,000 (2020: approximately
HK$197,827,000). The increase in current liabilities was mainly
due to the increase in loan from related parties. Excluding
current portion of loan from related parties of approximately
HK$194,527,000 (2020: HK$106,000,000), current liabilities
decreased to approximately HK$98,062,000 (2020: approximately
HK$91,827,000).

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020. The Group had loan from related parties of
approximately HK$194,527,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$169,328,000). The loan from related parties carried interest at
fixed rate and repayable within three years.

As at 31 December 2021, three of the Group’s related companies
owned by the ultimate controlling party of the Company agreed
to renew and not to demand for repayment for the borrowing
amounting to approximately HK$194,527,000 for at least the next
twelve months.

As at 31 December 2021, a related company owned by the ultimate
controlling party of the Company and the ultimate controlling party
of the Company committed to provide unutilised loan facilities to
approximately HK$30,000,000 and HK$40,000,000 respectively.

Nevertheless, the Group will further seek for other financial
resources as alternative means to meet working capital
requirement.

BANK BORROWINGS

No bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020.
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1 4 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was derived from loan from
related companies to total assets, decreased from 75.7% in 2020
to 67.4% in 2021, as a result of the increase in property, plant and
equipment and right of use assets.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$4,837,000 (2020: Nil), attributable to acquisition
of licensing right of online games.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group had
contingent liabilities amounted approximately HK$6,133,000 (2020:
HK$5,970,000) for the economic compensation payable by the
subsidiary in accordance with the relevant labour law for the PRC.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

All transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, HKD,
and USD, MYR, SGD and THB. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk with respect to the fluctuation of RMB which may
affect the Group’s performance and assets. The Group has not
entered into any derivative contract to hedged against the risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed approximately 360
staffs. The Group’s remuneration to employees, including Directors’
emoluments, decreased by approximately HK$9,964,000 to
approximately HK$51,785,000 for the fiscal year of 2021.

The Group reviews employee remuneration annually and rewards
its employees with reference to the length of services and
performance. The Group also has the liberty to grant share options
and bonuses to employees of the Group at the discretion of the
Directors based on the financial performance of the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group will further explore the blockchain
game and metaverse market, and plans to introduce several NFT
metaverse games in 2022 to build a large-scale universe park with
various theme planets — Metasens. This platform will also include
the NFT market place and blockchain wallet, allowing players to
have fun in “earning while playing” by trading NFT characters and
items.

In addition, the Group will invite game companies and corporations
with intellectual property rights from all over the world to join in
the construction of an open metaverse ecosystem. The blockchain
technology enables each participant to have an independent planet,
so that each of them will create a self-contained in-game economic
cycle on their respective planets.

Qur plan will include the creation of the planet “Holosens”, where
Metasens players and game developers are able to create an open
world that can be edited in a 3D model. On the “Holosens”, which
will be based on the “Myth of Empires” game licensed to the Group,
players and game developers will be able to build their own virtual
world in the sandbox mode, by (i) creating unique game characters,
in-game items, digital collections, land and equipment; (i) owning
and decorating their virtual spaces, such as building their virtual
home; (i) communicating with other players; (iv) experiencing
the scenes or games set up by other players; and (v) breaking
through levels and interacting with each other on Holosens. This
will further enhance the participants’ experience and increase their
engagement in Metasens.

In addition, the Group will regularly evaluate the allocation of
resources among business segments to promote business
diversification and drive sustainable growth of the Group. Looking
ahead, the Group will accelerate the expansion of cloud computing
and data storage business as well as enlarge its esports team
in the PRC. Furthermore, we will continue to adopt suitable cost
saving measures and evaluate the business operations to enhance
the financial position of the Group as well as maximize returns to
our shareholders.
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1 6 Imperium Technology Group Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBEABZHABE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, aged 47, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the board of directors on
21 September 2012 and 5 October 2012 respectively. Mr. Cheng
is the chairman of the board of directors and executive director of
Imperium Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8029) (“Imperium
Financial”), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 5 July 2013. Mr. Cheng’s wife, Ms. Yeung So Mui is an
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Yeung So Mui, aged 46, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and vice chairlady of the board of directors
on 1 September 2016. Ms. Yeung is the founder and a director
of Sparkle Life Charity Fund Limited. Ms. Yeung was appointed
as a director of Yan Oi Tong Limited on 1 April 2013. Ms. Yeung
is experienced in corporate management. Ms. Yeung was an
executive director of Suncity Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1383), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from 5 October 2010 to 20 July 2017. Ms. Yeung was an executive
director of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
2310), a Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
from 10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022.

Mr. Lin Junwei, aged 26, obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree
in Accounting and Finance from the University of East Anglia in
2018. Mr. Lin is currently the chief financial officer of Imperium
Green Power Limited and his primary responsibilities includes the
planning, implementation, managing and running of all the finance
activities, including business planning, budgeting, forecasting and
negotiations. Mr. Lin has been serving as an executive director
of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), since 10 October 2019. Mr.
Lin is the nephew of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, an executive Director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company, and Ms. Yeung So
Mui, an executive Director.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yau Chak Fung, aged 31, holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration Degree in Managerial Statistics from the City
University of Hong Kong. He was a Vice President at China Tonghai
Securities Limited from December 2013 to November 2015 and
a Vice President at Karl-Thomas Investment Consultants Limited
from January 2016 to May 2016. He was a Senior Vice President at
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from May 2016 to May
2021. Mr. Yau has extensive experience in the asset management
and securities industries.

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, aged 31, holds a bachelor’s degree
in Science (Business and Management Studies) from University of
Sussex, England and a master’'s degree in Science (International
Marketing) from University of Surrey, England. Mr. Yeung has been
investing in blockchain company since 2018 and has cofounded
EchoX which is an NFT related platform in early 2021, where he is
responsible for the implementation and supervision of corporate
budgeting and project operation. He has also been consulting
different blockchain projects for past few years and assisting
traditional companies to complete their digital transformation.
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1 8 Imperium Technology Group Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBEABZHABE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, aged 65. He is a certified public accountant
and a director of an accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has
various years of experience in auditing, taxation and company
secretarial practice in Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree in
professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2000. He is a member of the HKICPA, the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and
the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He has also been
appointed as the independent non- executive director of Citychamp
Watch & Jewellery Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Island with limited liability and the issued shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0256), since April 2004 and from September 2004 to September
2015, he was an independent non-executive director of Jiwa Bio-
Pharm Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2327).
From April 2004 to February 2012, he was an independent non-
executive director of New Capital International Investment Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1062). Since January 2017, he
was an independent non- executive director of Freeman Fintech
Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 279). Since
May 2018, he was an independent non-executive director of Shen
Yuan Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 851).

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, aged 46. He holds a Master of Laws
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of The Hong Kong Bar Association.
He is interested in various issues of social concerns and he has
been an active pro bono adviser in the last 10 years. In 2020, the
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region has
awarded the honour of Chief Executive’s Commendation Public
Service to him in recognition of his contribution to the society. From
10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022, he was an independent non-
executive director of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2310), a Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, aged 46. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Business Administration. He is currently a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Tse has over 10 years of experience
in auditing, finance and accounting. From December 2006 to
September 2020, he was the financial controller of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0681). Since
September 2015, he was an independent non-executive director of
Thelloy Development Group Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1546).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Li Tingting, holds a bachelor’s degree in Chinese language
studies from Shandong Normal University. Ms. Li has been serving
as the chief executive officer of & ¥ &k &% B £ B R A F) (Wanhui
Suzhou Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Wanhui Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since September 2020.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was employed by 1t 3 45 5 B
TR AR AR @MY 2d (Beijing Changyou Space-Time
Software Technology Company Limited Fuzhou Branch*), a
company principally engaged in the operation of an online games’
platform and publishing of online games business, from 2003 to
2013 with her last position as the general manager of the sales
department. She served as the vice president of &M B & & 217
$H 28 &l B BR A & (Guangzhou Okidea Marketing Planning Company
Limited*) from May 2014 to July 2016 and was mainly responsible
for the online game advertising agency business and media
relations. She has been serving as the chief operating officer of &
BREBHERLARAT (Fujian Tianshang Network Technology
Company Limited*) since July 2016 and is mainly responsible for
media operations and advertising for virtual reality games. She is
the founder of the esports team YQLE 52 25 (YQL Esports
Club*) in July 2017. Ms. Li has extensive experience in the online
games industry, block chain technology applications and cloud
operation services.
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EEREREBEABZHABE

Mr. Lee Chia Hsien, who is currently serving as the chief digital
officer of the Group, obtained a bachelor’'s degree in information
management from Tamkang University in 2007 and a master’s
degree in industrial engineering from National Taiwan University
in 2017. He has over 15 years of experience in the information
technology industry. Mr. Lee Chia Hsien has been a founder and
chief executive officer of LeadBest Consulting Group, which is
principally engaged in the provision of business consulting services,
since April 2018. LeadBest Consulting Group assists clients to
develop new business strategies through advanced software
technologies such as artificial intelligence, the internet, cloud
computing, blockchain technology, and information security. He
has been serving as a director of EasyCard Corporation, which is a
subsidiary of EasyCard Investment Holding Co., Ltd., since January
2019. The main shareholders of EasyCard Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd. include, among others, the Taipei City Government, Taipei
Rapid Transit Corporation, various Taipei-based bus operators and
various banks. EasyCard Corporation has launched a contactless
smartcard for the electronic transport ticket system, which
can be used for electronic payments in public transit such as
buses of Greater Taipei, the MASS Rapid Transit system, Taiwan
High Speed Rail and Taiwan Railways, and serve as a tool for
small-value payments at designated shops such as convenience
stores, supermarkets and restaurants. Mr. Lee Chia Hsien was
one of the founders and the chief technology officer of Hiiir Inc., a
company principally engaged in provision of internet services and
digital integrated marketing, from May 2008 to August 2017. He is
currently a part-time lecturer at National Taiwan University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Luk Wai Keung, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 30 April 2021. He obtained a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of
Management of the University of New South Wales and a Bachelor
of Science in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a Chartered Financial Analyst at
the Association for Investment Management and Research. Mr.
Luk has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and finance
area. He worked for an international accounting firm and held
senior positions in a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.
Immediately before joining the Company, Mr. Luk served Fu Shou
Yuan International Group Limited (Stock Code: 1448), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from November
2013 to April 2015 as its chief financial officer. He was the chief
financial officer of Larry Jewelry International Company Limited
(Stock Code: 8351), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange from July 2011 to October 2013. Mr.
Luk was being an executive director of Imperium Financial from 2
December 2015 to July 2016 and from February 2015 to June 2020
he was an independent non-executive Director of Suchuang Gas
Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 1430), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an executive director of
the Company from 1 August 2016 to 30 April 2021.

Ip Ka Ki, was appointed as the company secretary with effect
from 31 March 2017. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from the Lingnan
University in 2003. He is a member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 15 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and finance. Since December 2017, he was
an independent non-executive director of Vicon Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3878).
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The Board are pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 19 January 2005 under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of financial position of this annual report respectively.

The Board do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 39 to the financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2021, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution amounted to approximately HK$42,967,000. Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group during
the year are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

BEME
AEBFREEVENEDFBI R T B RERN
FF19 o

[N
ARARFARAMNEHFRBHAMBERE
B 5¥36 ©

FEXFRMHER

RAMBERAR  TEEPRMERBD G AE
EHEERKBENEHNNT

Percentage of the Group’s
total Sales/Purchases

EREEHEE
KEBEAEEI L
The largest customer S NS 24.6%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAE 50.7%
The largest supplier &AM ERE 44.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR EE AR 99.3%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
of the Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5.0% of the share capital of the Company) has any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and
five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman)

Ms. Yeung So Mui

Mr. Lin Junwei (appointed on 30 April 2021)

Mr. Yau Chak Fung (appointed on 20 May 2021)

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry (appointed on 11 January 2022)
Mr. Luk Wai Keung (resigned on 30 April 2021)

Mr. Leung Kwok Yin (resigned on 7 April 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fung Tze Wa
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 16 to
page 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
ROTATION

The appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. All of the
independent non-executive Directors has entered a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the Corporate Government Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Fung Tsz Wa, Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, and
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry will retire from office by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Mr. Lin Junwei, Mr. Yau Chak Fung and Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry
has entered a service contract with the Company, save as disclosed
above, none of the Directors has entered or has proposed to
enter into any service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
note 12 to financial statements.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of their independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) (the “Associated Corporations”) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

Number of shares
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2 A
2RITRS

EEnE &8 A= RIRHE & N FE BY BHzEDHS

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - — 214,428,4882 (L) 214,428,488 (L)' 68.94%

BT ELE

Ms. Yeung So Mui — — 214,428,488% (L) 214,428,488 (L) 68.94%

BEEL T

Notes: Wi -

1. The letter “L” represents the Director’s interests in the Shares and underlying 1. %L “TJ ¢E§§$§$§?ﬂ E}ifijﬁ T 2k L 9 i 1) AEL R
Shares or, as the case may be, the equity interest of the Company or its B 13 o CHRAR 0 if 52 ) S B i
associated corporations.

2. This represents interests held by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong through Diamond 2. &tfﬁi%%ﬂ'i%ﬁ%i%ﬁ;@liiamorg ?tate Holdings Limit/e\d
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), which holds 214,428,488 shares of ([Diamond State] - X f§ 4 & 2 A1214,428,488 ”%@
the Company. Mr. Cheng Ting Kong has 100% interest in Diamond State, he Eﬁﬂ’ﬂgﬁﬁlo EBT/ﬁffﬁi%\ﬁD'amond Sta}[ejj(/)\()/oﬁ%
is therefore deemed to be interested in 214,428,488 shares of the Company. Z%ﬁt B AR RPN A ] 214,428,488 1 R A7 o B

3. Ms. Yeung So Mui is the spouse of Mr. Cheng. Ms. Yeung So Mui is deemed 3. 1%%*%12%%59&&?’\] EEE ﬁ% O. =& fé%&’ﬁﬂigﬂ% 1%
to be interested in all the shares held by Diamond State Under Part XV of the XV - %%T#i%&ﬁﬁﬁq Diamond State 5 % #0715
SFO. Mt PR R o

4, The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of 4. APUERBER-_F_—FT_A=1T—AARADH

the Company in issue as at 31 December 2021 (i.e. 311,036,000 shares).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significant to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year under review or any time during the year under review save
and except for the transactions disclosed as connected and/or
related party transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, (i) is a director and a beneficial owner of Imperium
Financial Limited (“IFL”),
Kong and a licensed money lender engaged in money lending
business under the MLO; and (ii) is a director and a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Imperium

a company incorporated in Hong

Financial which engages in money lending business through its
subsidiary, Imperium International Credit Limited (“lICL”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and a licensed money lender under
MLO.
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IFL and IICL competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

The Board considers that, having considered the facts that:

(i) Mr. Cheng is fully aware of his fiduciary duty to the Group
and he will abstain from voting on any matter when there is
or may be a conflict of interest;

(if) The Group is a capable of, and does carry on its business
independently of, and on an arm’s length basis with the
competing business of IFL and lICL;

(iii) An executive committee will be informed to ensure business
opportunities and the performance of Best Gold Corporation
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be
independently assessed and reviewed from time to time;

(iv) Mr. Cheng will abstain from voting on any matter where there
is or may be a conflict of interest in accordance with the
requirements of the articles of association of the Company;
and

(v) Mr. Cheng will allow Best Gold Corporation Limited to remain
as an independent operating entity with its own management
team and distribution network and will not involve in its daily
management.

Since (i) all the major and important corporate actions of the
Company are and will be fully deliberated and determined by the
Board; and (ii) any director(s) who is/are or deemed to be interested
in any proposed transaction(s) will have his/their interest fully
disclosed and will abstain from voting at the relevant resolution(s)
in accordance with the applicable requirements of the articles of
association of the Company, the Board is of the view that each
of the Relevant Directors does not, by himself or in an individual
capacity, competes with the Company and/or the business of the
Group. The Group’s interest is adequately safeguarded.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Except of the above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
directors, the management shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or the substantial shareholders of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group or has

any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency
of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the
Listing Rules up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION

On 29 June 2018, a resolution was passed in the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company to adopt a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange has granted the
listing of, and permission to deal in the shares of the Company
which may fall to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
which was granted and/or may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme subsequently.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

New Share Option Scheme
Purpose

To provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.
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Participants

Eligible participants include:

Any directors or employees, consultants and/or advisers, the
eligible participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, suppliers,
producers or licensors, licensees (including sub-licensee) or
distributors, of the Group or any person who, in the sole discretion
of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.

Exercise price

Determined by the Board and shall not be less than the higher of:

(@) the closing price of (1) one share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets at the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of (1) one share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the (5) five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of the share on the offer date, provided
that in case of fractional prices, the exercise price per share
shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cents.

Total number of shares available for issue and
the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents as at the date of this annual report

20,877,808 shares, being approximately 6.71% of the issued shares
of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Not exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under the option

Subject to the discretion by the Board and, in the absence of
which, from the date of acceptance to the earlier of the date on
which such option lapses and 10 years from the date of offer.
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Minimum period for which an option must be held

before it can be exercised

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Amount payable on acceptance

HK$1.00 payable upon acceptance of the offer.

Remaining life of the scheme

The scheme will be valid and effective until 28 June 2028, after
which no further options will be granted but the provisions of the
scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain
unexercised immediately prior to 28 June 2028 shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant, notwithstanding

the expiry of the scheme.

Employees and other eligible participants

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share

options during the periods ended 31 December 2021:
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Executive director
HITES
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BEZ —E--F 1,555,18017 & [ 12
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ZZ=-FRAZ++tA)
1,555,180 options
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1,555,18017 B [} 18
(ZZ=Z=#=A-t)\HZE
ZERE-EAAZHER)
Lin Junwei 28.9.2021 11.04 155,518 options - 311,036 - - 311,036
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
w2 —E--f 15,51817 % fi /8
AAZTNE (ZE-ZFAE=1)\R
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The estimated fair value of the share options granted under the
Scheme on 28 September 2021 was approximately HK$34,456,000,
calculated using the Binomial Model (the “Model”). The inputs into
the Model were as follows:

RIE-—FAA -+ N\BREFEFAELER
W ZIEE R REHX A34,456,00008 T 0 ThER A =
EABRA(RE DAE - BRAHDXHOT

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZTESH
—EZZHHhB=+NBE
—E=—-FhA=t+tH

Share price at date of grant ik qunl== o
Exercise price TiE(E
Expected volatility (per annum) T8 #f K & (& )
Expected life of share options AR ETE HE & HA
Expected dividend yield T‘EHﬁHx Bx

Risk-free rate # [3, fgx ) =
Fair value of share option Eﬁ Hﬁ Bz ARE

Fair values of the share options were with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

The Group recognises the total expense of approximately
HK$7,466,336 for the period ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
approximately HK$923,000) in relation to share options granted by
the Company.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group maintains a mandatory provident fund (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s and
employee’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 5%
of the relevant income of the relevant employee (up to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and related regulations.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (“Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in Yuyao, the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at the rate of 26% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one of its
subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Details of which are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has the following continuing connected
transactions (the “Connected Transactions”) and the Company
has fully complied with the announcement, reporting and/or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules (where applicable):

1 On 23 July 2021, an indirect subsidiary of the Company,
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Technology Limited (“Seven
Elements”) entered into the First Lease Agreement with Best
Master Limited (“Best Master”), pursuant to which Seven
Elements agreed to lease the certain Filecoin equipment,
storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which can generate 3
pebibytes of effective storage mining power, under the First
Lease Agreement to Best Master for the provision of cloud
computing and data storage services and mining of Filecoin
for a term of three years commencing from 1 August 2021.
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Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (“Mr. Cheng”), an executive Director,
holds 34.74% of the entire issued shares in Times Universal
Group Holdings Limited (“Times Universal”) through Rich
Vision Developments Limited. Times Universal in turn indirectly
owns the entire issued shares in Best Master. Hence, Best
Master is an associate of Mr. Cheng and a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Lease Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Financial year/period
HBEE/BH

MITEEH T BLE(E % %] HE BRich
Vision Developments Limited # & B £ I8 Bk
EEZERAERAR(RRIRR]) 2HMBEET
B& 7 #934.74% - T By X 3R R [ # % & Best
Masterf) 2 Z 28 1T - Bt tbif0 5 - Best
Master & 88 e £ O Bt B8 A R AR R AIABAEE A
ToE - REBLMRAUFUAEZ  HEW
FETRAETORIBERAAAIN T ERE
X5 e

From 1 August 2021 to 31 December 2021 ZE-FN\A-
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023

From 1 January 2024 to 31 July 2024

—E-=Zf—f—

On 10 August 2021, Seven Elements entered into the Second
Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng pursuant to which Seven
Elements agreed to lease the certain Filecoin equipment,
storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which can generate up
to 8 pebibytes of effective storage mining power, under the
Second Lease Agreement to Mr. Cheng for the provision of
cloud computing and data storage services and mining of
Filecoin from 1 October 2021 to 30 September 2024.

As Mr. Cheng is an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cheng is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Second Lease
Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction on
the part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Financial year/period

—E--F—fF—HZE

Caps

ZELR
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TR NF-A-HE-T-_WMFELA=1t—H

HK$1,500,0007% 7T

RZE-—FNA+H txEHEE L4
FIVEZMEERZE Bt ttE8RE
RBE—HHEEHBBRNSLEEREATESE &
%8 pebibytes ¥ B K & 7 & 1 # & T Filecoin
B HEREREEAMY - )EHEATET\—;n+
B R B 7 RR T LA KR B £ Filecoin » B =
T Ft+A-BHABEZE-_NFNA= ‘T’
=

HRBEERARARITESTRIERRR -
BEER/ARAMNEEALT - Bitb RiIF L
MRAUNEUAE  F_NHEHEBHEBRAR
ANBERERS -

Second Caps

BMBEE#BH E-LR
From 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 —E-—Ff+A-HBE_E-_—H+-A=+— HK$6,000,000/% 7T
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 E-—F-—A-HE_E-—F+-A=+— HK$24,000,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 —#—f-BE-B-=&+-fA=+— E HK$16,000,0005% 7T

From 1 January 2024 to 30 September 2024

Annual Report 2021

TR NF-A-HEZZ-WFEAA=TH

HK$7,000,0007% 7t



On 3 July 2020, Seven Senses Game Company Limited
(“Seven Senses”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the MOE License Agreement
with Imperium Entertainment Interactive Limited (“Imperium
Entertainment”) pursuant to which Seven Senses is authorised
to act as an exclusive agent in the designated places for the
operation and marketing of the Myth of Empires Game for the
period from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 23 June 2021, Seven Senses Game Company Limited
entered into the MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium
Entertainment agreed to amend the terms of the MOE License
Agreement to the effect that the aggregate annual cap for
the transactions under the MOE License Agreement for each
of two years ending 31 December 2022 shall be revised to
HK$9,950,000.

As Imperium Entertainment Entertainment is wholly-owned by
Mr. Cheng, Imperium Entertainment is a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the MOE License Agreement
and the MOE Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 6 December 2019, Cubinet Interactive, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
License Agreement with Imperium Entertainment pursuant
to which Cubinet Interactive was authorised to act as an
exclusive agent in the designated places for the operation and
marketing of the Iron Conflict Game for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 21 August, 2020, Imperium Entertainment, Cubinet
Interactive Int’l Co., Itd and Seven Senses entered into the
novation agreement pursuant to which (i) Seven Senses
undertook to observe, perform, discharge and be bound
by the terms, conditions and covenants of the IC License
Agreement as if Seven Senses were, and had originally been,
a party to the IC License Agreement in place of Cubinet
Interactive; and (i) Cubinet Interactive agreed to assign to
Seven Senses all it rights, title and interests in the IC License
Agreement.
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On 23 June 2021, Seven Senses entered into the IC
Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the IC License Agreement to
the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the transactions
under the IC License Agreement for each of the two years
ending 31 December 2022 shall be revised to HK$9,950,000.

As Imperium Entertainment Entertainment is wholly-owned by
Mr. Cheng, Imperium Entertainment is a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the MOE License Agreement
and the IC Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of item 1 of the Connected Transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 July 2021. Details of item
2 of the Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 10 August 2021 and 17
September 2021 respectively. Details of item 3 and 4 of the
Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 June 2021.
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The transaction amount and cap amount of the Connected
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BEXIGRBE_T_—F+_A=+—RHILFE

Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows: MXGENE FRESFBIT -
Maximum
Cap of the
Connected
Transactions for Actual Amount
Status of Connected Transactions 2021 Incurred in 2021
N —— N-—ZT——
BEX S MRE WEE LR EENEREE
HKD HKD
B TT & T
1 First Lease Agreement with Best Master Limited 6,500,000 698,108
EiBest Master Limited5] L W E —H A E &
2 Second Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng 6,000,000 358,884
HEEETVNE _MHHAEHR
3 MOE License Agreement and MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment 9,950,000 49,267
Ed Imperium Entertainment 5] 32 8 75 B 19 5& 5 7 1 5% & 75 B 18 55 4 7o 1 5
4 |C License Agreement and IC Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment 9,950,000 745,596

EdImperium Entertainment 5] 32 89 2 ACBE 55 57 AT 1 ik e BN B S 4 T i

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

EEEHN

FAMBIT LR FETMBEARARRAEXRE 2 BX

FENMEEEERAR

TAEEHSCERRITHRAEH -

2021 5% 37



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the Year.

AUDITOR

As the Company’s last AGM, RSM Hong Kong was reappointed
as auditor of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint the retiring
auditors, RSM Hong Kong, will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM. There has been no change of the Company’s auditors since
its incorporation.

On behalf of the Board

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

31 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Group is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”), amended from time to time, contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules. As far as the CG Code is concerned, during
the year and up to the date of this announcement, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions except disclosed
below:

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The role of chief executive officer
was shared among the members of the Board during the reporting
period. There is no time schedule to change this structure, as
the Directors consider that this structure provides the Group with
consistent leadership in the Company’s decision making process
and operational efficiency. The Board shall review this arrangement
from time to time to ensure appropriate and timely action is taken
to meet changing circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully
complied with the required standard set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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THE BOARD

The Board has a balance of skill and experience and a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors and is
responsible for oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. The Board does not delegate matters to Executive
Directors or management team to an extent that would significantly
hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its
functions. The Company formalises the functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management, and management are
aware of the matters needed to report back and obtain prior Board
approval before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on the Group’s behalf. The Board would review those arrangements
from time to time to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
Group’s needs.

As at 31 December 2021, the Board comprised of seven members,
namely the Chairman and three other executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the biographical details and
relationships between the Directors are set out on page 16 to page
21).

The Board considers that its diversity, including gender diversity, is
a vital asset to the business. The Board adopted a Board diversity
policy for better transparency and governance. Board appointments
are based on merit and candidates are considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and the
overall management of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The
Board members have a broad access to business documents and
information about the Group. Three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee have been established to oversee particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. The Board meets regularly to review the
financial and operating performance of the Group and to approve
future plans and development.
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All the Directors have actively participated in the review and
monitoring of the Company’s business. The Board meets regularly
and at least 4 times a year. Between scheduled meetings,
the senior management of the Group provides information to
the Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities and
development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
be given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance
and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than 3 days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting. All minutes
of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board committee, including any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by any Director.
These minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a total number of twelve
(12) Board meetings, three (3) Audit Committee meetings, four
(4) Remuneration Committee meeting and three (3) Nomination
Committee meeting were held. Minutes of these meetings are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

The Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all existing independent non-executive Directors and considers
them independent.
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The Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors,
have no fixed terms of appointment but are subject to re- election
at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
article of association. All of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered a service contract with the Company for a term of 3
years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and
the Corporate Government Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending training course or
reading materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations or the Company’s business or their duties and
responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is summarised below:

Name of Directors

EFEUATEFRINVTEBREZEFH
WARARB ZABERZ@DURANAB R RBE
AREEREME - -MABLFEJTESFHEERLRR
AR AHBFMRBEHN A BARBEARAN
A A5 72 A0 R R B X BT RE 25 AR B Y &%+ P A
FHEEREATGRFE SR RETL-

EEHA

BREBETRGEXFACLE MEEER2EBESR
XER G BRUTHEMBLZRE  ARREHE
BEEABE2EEARYAMBZERATHESS
EHER BEEAREAHL FAEEHEBL
HEERETEREEE ARMERINFIRE
SHBEBARAXB R B ERERBERBEERD
TAMSEGENFREZXEREY -

RNEBEE T - F+-_A=+-—"BLEFERNKESE
FrEsEdl 2 @Rl at an T

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or directors’ duties

HERERIEESBEEEZ
EEgE BERRE HEMEBEER
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong BT A A& Yes 52
Ms. Yeung So Mui BEBRZT Yes 52
Mr. Lin Junwei MEEIE K E Yes &
Mr. Yau Chak Fung EfZ e Yes =&
Mr. Luk Wai Keung R {8 o e A& Yes =&
Mr. Leung Kwok Yin Z2ERE LA Yes &
Mr. Fung Tze Wa HFESLE Yes =&
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TRREE Yes =&
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEHTE Yes 52
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021, suitable accounting policies
have been adopted and applied consistently. Save as disclosed in
the section “Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern” in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report, the Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2021 are set out below:

EREREE
EEUMBRROER

EEREREBERANEEREEERREAEH
REBESFTHENMBERE BEEQATHERAE
SENEBMRR 2EXERRERE - RER
BHEZZ-—F+ZA=+—HLEFENTBRE
B E—BHMEARERGENETHRER - ®E
FEMPERRDNEFELCLEEERE - BREBY
RHAMMER BRFELENEARATHEEME] —
BAHEREEN EBLTNEFBTMEELD
MZERTHEEMN At EBAEENBFELE
BENBARERER -

REBEE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE BEF
ERtFEZE BHRZES FMHZESRIER
HAEBEMERLEARHIIWMT

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

BEE/EREEEENAY
Annual Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Name of Director Board  Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting! Meeting?
ESfg EZe ENZEE HMWZEE REZEE RRAEAE REBAAE
Number of Meetings EE DS 12 3 4 3 1 2
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman) BTARE(ZE) 12/12 - - - 17 2/2
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Vice Chairtacl) BEELL(GLE) 12/12 - - - 0/ 0/2
Mr. Lin Junwei (appointed on MEERER-S_-F
30 April 2021) MA=TREZH) 1 - - - 1/1 212
Mr. Yau Chak Fung (appointed on MEgEs(R-E-—%
20 May 2021) RAZTHEZA) 6/6 - - - 0/0 112
Mr. Luk Wai Keung (resigned on BEREEE(RZE=-%
30 April 2021) MA=TRE) 6/6 - - - 000 0/0
Mr. Leung Kwok Yin (resigned on PHERE(N-F=—-F
7 April 2021) MA+HEE) 013 - - - 000 0/0
Indepencient Non-executive Directors BUFHGEE
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BFERE 12/12 3/3 4/4 3/3 1 2/2
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TeEE 12/12 3/3 4/4 3/3 1 2/2
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan MEHLE 12112 33 44 313 17 212
Notes: B 5 -
1. 2021 Annual General Meeting held on 30 June 2021. 1. TR FRRERBAFRERE—FAA=F+HET
2. Extraordinary general meeting held on 30 June 2021 and 8 October 2021. 2. BRENAER_ZE=Z—FNA=ZF+ER=ZZE=—F+
AN\B®IT -
FEREEMARA T 2021 ¥ 43
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
Company has formal and transparent procedures for developing
and overseeing its policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. The committee’s authorities and duties are
set out in written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee
comprises the following three members, all independent non-
executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, Chairman of Remuneration Committee
(if) Mr. Fung Tze Wa
(iii) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Given below are main
duties of the Remuneration Committee:

(i) to make recommendations on the Company’s policies and
structure for all the remuneration of Directors;

(if) to propose the specific remuneration packages of the
executive Directors, and to make recommendations on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors for the Board’s
approval;

(iii) to review and propose performance-based remuneration
for executive Directors by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and

(iv) to administer and make determinations with regard to the
Company’s share option scheme.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Review the remuneration package of the Executive Director
and senior management for year ended 31 December 2021;

° Review and approval of the grant of an aggregate of
4,732,432 option under share option scheme; and

° Recommend the remuneration package of Mr. Lin Junwei
and Mr. Yau Chak Fung as an Executive Director to the
Board for approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules. The Audit Committee comprises the following three

members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(1)

(if)

(il

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Chairman of Audit Committee

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

Given below are the main duties of the Audit Committee:

(i)

(i

(iil)

to make recommendations with respect to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external
auditor, and to evaluate their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process;

to review and monitor the interim and annual financial
statements, reports and accounts of the Company, and to
review significant and judgemental financial reporting issues
contained therein;

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems; and

to discuss with the management the system of internal
controls, and to ensure that the management has discharged
its duties and responsibilities in implementing an effective
internal control system.
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During the financial year, the Audit Committee performed, RABBEER BXREZESEET RN/
considered and/or resolved the following matters: RN EIE:

Considering the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 for the approval by the Board;

Considering the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2021 for the approval by the Board;

Approval of external auditor’s scope, plan and fees of the
annual audit and the interim review;

Meeting with the external auditor and discussing their major
findings in the annual audit and the interim review;

Review the reports prepared by the external auditor relating
to the annual audit and the interim review;

Considering the effectiveness the external auditor, giving due
consideration to the quality and contents of their reports to
the committee, feedback from management and compliance
with relevant regulatory, professional requirements and their
independence;

Considering the safeguard of external auditor’s objectivity
and independence in proposed engagement in respect of
audit-related and permissible non-audit services;and

Recommendation of the re-appointment of the external
auditor for Shareholder’s approval in AGM;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written

terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises the following three

members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(1)

(if)

(il

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, Chairman of Nomination Committee

Mr. Fung Tze Wa

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Given below are main duties of the Nomination Committee:

(i)

(if)

(il

(iv)

to review the structure, size and composition (by taking into
account the criteria as set out in the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company from time to time) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

to review the Board diversity policy regularly (including
any measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board diversity policy and the progress
on achieving those objectives); and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company annually;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman and the president (chief executive officer).
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During the financial year, the Nomination Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Annual review on structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° Review the existing nomination policy and Board diversity
policy, and the implementations;

° Assessment on the independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors and review of the annual
confirmation on the independence;

° Review of re-appointment of Directors who retired from
office by rotation at the past AGM and offered themselves
for re-election; and

° Recommendation of the appointment of Mr. Lin Junwei and
Mr. Yau Chak Fung as an Executive Director to the Board for
approval.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees paid/payable to
auditor of the Company, RSM Hong Kong, for the provision of audit
services and non-audit services as follows:

REBRFERN REEEQERET ERR/S
HFERAT FE:

HEFgWEK B RERZTLE
TEER

R RITREABRLEFEREZ TR
REEERBRL:

AZBLFATETNB LML RENRSF

EBIMHERE:

FHRERBRRBEA R LG R EREY
AEREREEZEFHENEME R

MESFSHEBZIMEELERBEESL
ERERTEZURIE -

AT B =

RBEE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE st
B RBRIEFRARBEN B AR R R EED
EEXEAMEHM2ERET:

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-F
Nature of services HK$ HK$
RS HEE BT BT
Audit = 1,650,000 900,000
Others i - 150,000
1,650,000 1,050,000
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the Corporate Governance Functions:

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain and oversee an
effective risk management and internal control system on
an ongoing basis in order to protect the Group’s assets and
shareholder’s interests. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are implemented to minimize risks to which
the Group is exposed. The systems can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The internal control system includes a well established
corporate structure and organisation with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is responsible
for its daily operations, and is also required to implement and
monitor the strategies and polices adopted by the Board and
effective employment of the resources of the Company, in order
to avoid misappropriation of resources and damages made to the
Company’s assets, and prevent against errors and fraud.
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The risk management framework includes identify significant risk B ERERBIEHNAEELERETNE X
in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate the impact of EBUA LT EZSREBERNEBRELNTE  §
those risks on the Group’s business, develop necessary measure M EBREMBUAETIEZSAR MEEUA MK ZSE
to manage those risks and monitor and review the effectiveness of 1 iE 89 B Ik °

such measures.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage AUER  FEREEBEEAREARBAER
significant risks

The Board and management, with the assistance of the external #ESNEERMNHEH T EFSREEEBA S KT
consultants, are responsible for designing, implementing and TR EERKREIE RN IMEIL KL -
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant ZAEBAL#R - FHEEEIREE AR K L FH

risks by the Group are summarized as follows: Aoan R

Risk identification B B2 & 5

. Identifies the risk through discussion with the management e BREARTNBRATINERERESE
and directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk 1T Em AR B R B o BN A A R B Rl &
identification and management questionnaire are used EREMSEEARAMNBATNEERER
to document the risks identified by the management and EEMHE R -

directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Response Bl B FE 2] 1 i

. Categories the risks into low risk, medium and high risk; . HRBSEAERER FERSRAR:

. Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and J ETRERRAKE: X

. Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and HZuEBRELMEAGEEEZFE - A
determines the frequency of review and control testing on ETFZELMNERNRETAAMNBEEX -

key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting EREEREE

. On-going communication of monitoring results to the Board HELFEREEARETFERR £ H
which enables it to assess control the Group and the SUFHASEERAFEMNEZERRRE
effectiveness of risk management during the Year; A R

. risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk e BEREEMTANRERES - B kERDM R

register and internal control audit plan; and NEEEIEE e &

. fact finding report with recommendations on the review and ERFAERE  WHEMRE TEEBHR
testing of internal control on certain operating cycles and HENSERANBEZAAREOEZ -
areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the
management of the Company, including analyzing and appraising
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. For the enhancement of the quality of
the internal audit, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to execute a certain scope of internal audit function to:

° facilitate the management’s process to perform the risk
assessment and evaluation; and

° conduct various agreed upon reviews on certain selected
operating cycles and areas in accordance with the
Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company were adequate and
effective during the year.

INSIDER INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 and
the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedure and internal
control policy which contains the guideline to the Directors and
officers of the Company to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
Such policy provides guidance on the Company conducting its
affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong in June 2012.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Ip has received no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh his
skills and knowledge.
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TEER®RE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

Details of the Last General Meetings

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Under Revised Code
Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders.

Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, a special general meeting may be convened by the
Board upon requisition by any shareholder holding not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company, specifying the transaction of any business in such
requisition.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two
(2) months after the receipt of such written requisition. Pursuant
to the Article 59 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Company shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting,
including the time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions
to be considered at the meeting and the general nature of the
business.

If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and; all the reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office address
of the Company, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Annual Report 2021

BRREMURERRBBERREERRE

ROEBRZBRRAEFE

ARABMRBFASGHEETERERRBE L
BEEHRE  REBEEETTRIXFEALTER B
FATEZTELHERRAGRGGTHERER

HRREMKRREI KRG

REARFNEBERAAFSG  EFEAR
FAEEARARRABRRAGLERER ZARAH
REARNIRt Dz —HERRERE GHK RS
ARG - FERRARNARAEZTSARAAWE
BHEEER NEEABERFEANTMNE
I8 o

EFECRALRRZEBERERMQMEAARNRITHZ

g - REARANEBERAAFM%G - AR
AEFLERRAGEN  ERERAENEH -
R REEBARBRAFBEARZFTEN K
HE -

WRKRBIZEBER -+ —CNERNESTEREAR
AZBRRBINAE  ZEBATETEARAS
ARAERAEABARFEABNEEEERAARAAKA
EMBEBIMNZ—UAEER -

RBERAEREZDH

BRAAARDEETEHAAWMEZHEDES
RELAFTEEARARBZAMER EAKRRY
BEER  HBAFBELENBRRAGRZZY
ZHEENRERS/  FEEBUREZRA -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s head office in Hong Kong
at Room 02, 26/F., One Harbour Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is
made for its business and financial performance through a
variety of formal communication channels. Information regarding
the Company will be published in its website: www.776.hk.
Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the Group
will be despatched to Shareholders in due course. The website
of the Company provides information such as e-mail address,
correspondence address, telephone numbers etc. for inquiries, and
provides information on business activities of the Company.

The Company’s AGM of Shareholders is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of
AGM and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules, and will be published on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company will also meet with the investment community and
respond to their inquiries about the status of the Company from
time to time, so as to strengthen the contacts and communication
between the Company and its investors.

Constitutional Documents

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents. The constitutional document
of the Company was published on the Company’s investor relations
website (www.776.hk) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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1.2.

54 Imperium Technology Group Limited

OUR REPORT
OVERVIEW

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as “the report”) is the 5th Report
published consecutively by Imperium Technology Group
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”). It systematically reviews the Group’s performance
and inadequacies in fulfilling its social responsibilities
and formulating a sustainable development strategy. We
strongly believe that offering a summary of the sustainable
development disclosure of the Group to stakeholders is
conducive to enhancing our sustainable development
performance.

This Report provides information on the corporate social
responsibility performance of the Group in terms of the
environment, society and governance during the year from 1
January 2021 to 31 December 2021. This Report complies
with the “comply or explain” provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide and contains all
disclosures as recommended in the Guide.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The scope of this Report includes all areas of the Group’s
business over which the Group has financial significance
and operational influence and those of ESG significance to
the Group and its stakeholders. This environmental, social
and governance Report mainly covers our core business,
including:

° household furnishings business: JF A.C.R. Equipment
Supplies Co., Ltd.
° Game publishing business: Cubinet Interactive

(Thailand) Co., Ltd. Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn.
Bhd., Phoenix Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd. (Bl El &

LR 2B R /A 7)) and Seven Senses Game Company
Limited

° Esports business: Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Science
Investment Co., Ltd.

° Cloud computing and data storage business: Fujian

Qiyuan Interactive Information Technology Co., Ltd.

The above business operations account for over 90% of the
Group’s earnings.

Unless otherwise indicated, all key performance indicators

herein only cover the data of our household furnishings
business and online game business.

Annual Report 2021
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1.3.

1.4.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We have considered the following reporting principles in
preparing this Report:

° Materiality: the Group determines the impact of
environmental, social and governance issues on the
Group’s operations through management interviews
and surveys of internal and external stakeholders.
For more information, please refer to the Materiality
Assessment section.

° Quantification: the data in the Report is collected and
analysed in accordance with relevant guidelines and
standards, and the relevant standards, approaches,
assumptions and/or calculation methods are set out
where appropriate.

° Balance: our Report is based on the actual operations
of the Group without any false or biased information,
and gives an objective view of the Group’s overall
sustainability performance for stakeholders.

° Consistency: we have followed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) for reporting since 2016. Where
there are any changes that may affect the comparison
with previous reports, the Group has added notes to
the corresponding content of this Report.

FEEDBACK MECHANISM

This Report is prepared mainly in accordance with the
Group’s internal statistics, various archive documents and
estimations. Should you have any feedback on this Report,
please send an email to ir@776.hk so that we can further
improve our policies in relation to sustainable development.
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Rk - HBREBRSE

2.

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

The management of the Group firmly believes that effective
and excellent environmental, social and governance (ESG)
management can help enhance its corporate brand image
and reduce energy consumption, thereby reducing operating
costs. We are committed to incorporating the concept of
social responsibility into the Company’s decision-making
management and business operations, and seizing every
opportunity for sustainable development.

The Group’s sustainability strategy is based on four core
areas of sustainable development, i.e. the environment,
employees, business and community. These core areas
underpin our commitment to creating value for our
stakeholders and enable us to deliver on our commitment
systematically.

Our Sustainable Development Goals:
BMWAIKERRES:

IHERRRE

SEEEEREERMHLENRE 4§
RERER AR DERETYR I
DRERHERE - EMmBEEZEERA - R
NEHEETESRARTREEEME
BEET NESANKAERRTROE
B o

5 B RO R) KR AE B R SRR A O IO 8 R AR B
EREZOLEE BRERHR BT EBMu
B BLERLEBBEBETHRMAASTMNE A
EEENAE THARELAZANARR
i 5 B o

Business Ethics and Governance
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Environmental
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Comply with the policies and codes developed by Imperium Technology Group. Conduct

transparent reporting and take remedial measures if necessary.

Operate in good faith and comply with all applicable laws and regulations within the operational

framework.

Maintain a high standard of corporate governance, a superior board of directors, sound internal

control, increased transparency and accountability to all stakeholders
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Regularly monitor environmental parameters and review production plans to reduce

Environmental

Management environmental impact

REER THERZERBE2YUERBRINEEFR RENABENRERE

Climate Change Strategy — Review the Group’s policy on climate change and develop a sustainability plan to identify
and address related physical and transition risks and opportunities

RIR R - BREERERESE (N THTAIHEERE UBPINELEBNERNE

HREREEE
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Our Sustainable Development Goals:

RiR - HEREBRS

BMWATRERRER:
Employees Employee Care — Provide adequate support for employees and strengthen good relations with employees
BT BMEET - REIRHEFTELE MRBESTIHORIFHEE
Personnel Training — Create a continuous learning environment and encourage employees to develop their
careers within the Company
BEAM - BEARBEECNERE URBEEECENERSEE
Diversity and Inclusion Respect the labour rights and human rights of all employees, maintain high ethical standards,
clearly define human resource management policies, and promote an inclusive culture in the
Company
ZLeR EEMAEINSIRNIAE SRSERRE UBRIHAANEREERE  LTER
ANEEBREH XL
Occupational Safety — Promote a healthy and safe work environment
— Achieve zero fatal accidents in the workplace
ZEI{E - RERRZEMIFERSE
- BEIESHERTHmER
Social Community Investment — Work with local charities to support the underprivileged and the needy
— Provide job and training opportunities for young people
e HtE&E - BRHEERB Y RBEMBERERTEAL

Product Safety

ERZE:

Responsible Procurement

BEARE

- REEAREIEREIIKE
— Improve quality, safety and environmental/health performance through innovative product
design, so as to give users a better user experience

Comply with all applicable data protection and cybersecurity regulations and reduce the risk of

business interruption from cyber attacks.
- BREAFMERIIRERERE Z2UNRE /BENGE ATHRFEENFRER
BTHEEAMNEBRRENBEALZ N EARFTEREEBI PR ERGHNAER -
— Require suppliers to comply with the Group’s environmental standards in all aspects,
covering workflows, products or services, child labour, basic human rights, working
conditions, compensation, occupational health and safety, and business ethics.
— The Group only cooperates with suppliers and business partners who meet

our requirements.
—KAMFﬁLTKEIXEEM%%@ CBEIERRE EmdRE EI ERARE-
TEGHE HM BERREZE  URBEEE -
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The Group will continue to review its internal sustainability
governance strategy and refine relevant policies and
measures. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen
communication with stakeholders to further enhance its
environmental and social performance and create value for
our shareholders and stakeholders in the long run.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Governance Structure

The Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) assumes the
role of leadership and supervision in the Group. The Board
reviews and manages ESG issues and risks every vyear,
ensures that they are incorporated into the Company’s
strategy, and leads the Group to develop and achieve long-
term strategies and goals. The management of the Group
is responsible for monitoring sustainability performance and
targets, reviewing the feedback from stakeholders, collecting
ESG data and information to prepare the Group’s annual
ESG report, and reporting to the Board for approval. This
Report was approved by the Board on 31 March 2022 after
being confirmed by the management.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI HERERERE
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Sustainability Governance Structure of Imperium Technology Group

FENMEEENAHAREELRRS

Board of Directors

reporting, risk management and internal
control, and report to the Board on the
appointment of external auditors and
their audit work.

- WHEFSEEMKER ARE .
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B
Audit Committee The Management
EREES BEEBHNEERE
o Assist the Board in overseeing financial e Responsible for monitoring sustainability

performance and targets, reviewing the
feedback from stakeholders, and
collecting ESG data and information
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Internal Control and Risk Management

To ensure that climate-related issues are integrated into our
strategy, the terms of reference of the standing committees
of the Board have been expanded to cover ESG issues. For
example, the Audit Committee regularly monitors ESG risks
and reviews our sustainability policy in public disclosures.

EXEeRERAEEMBRTARER KA
BEEEGFONARIUENEE MART ELH

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal

control systems. In order to better support the decision-
making process, the Board will engage external independent
professionals if necessary to help identify and evaluate the

risks facing the Group through interviews.

Risk Category .. Description

Efforts Made by Imperium
Technology Group

X FREBIRE
ZRENMBULBEXEALTEBT A BHHE
A RFFEAEEER -

EFEHEATER N

Measures to be Taken by
Imperium Technology Group

mRER [ B $ i FEREEECFEENSED FERBEEERRNEE
Product With the continuous development of The Group collects and processes The Group will continue to monitor and

Responsibility

o

network technology, online application
systems can bring convenience and
improve efficiency, but they also pose
new security threats to the Group.
Many countries around the world have
increasingly stringent regulations on
corporate and personal privacy. The
Group will be subject to legal and
compensation liabilities in case of data
leakage.

BEBREMO AR @ LER
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the personal data of consumers,
employees and partners lawfully and
fairly, and protects personal data from
unapproved or accidental access,
processing, erasure, 10ss or use

The Group takes different measures to
prevent external cyberattacks, such as
firewalls, data leakage protection, anti-
virus software, mail gateway protection,
etc.
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regularly review the implementation
of existing policies and measures to
ensure that the measures are effective.

The Information Technology
Department of the Group will
regularly update the internal
operating system to fix loopholes
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Risk Category .. Description
ARER 2, B i

Efforts Made by Imperium
Technology Group

FENREECHEHNS D

Measures to be Taken by
Imperium Technology Group

FENMBREERENRE

Anti-corruption

and planning

RES TENRBERREASER S
AEEZLAEAAERR  ©A
B RAMER mEARE -

With the increasing interest of regulatory institutions and
investors in sustainability issues and addressing related
risks, looking ahead, the Group will continue to refine
its sustainability governance, intensify the functions of
its ESG management, and enhance risk identification
and assessment, thus enabling the Group to deal with
sustainability issues more effectively and respond to

stakeholders’ expectations.

60 Imperium Technology Group Limited

A sound anti-bribery policy can help the The Group discloses anti-corruption
Group avoid more legal and goodwill
risks, and facilitate internal discussions

and anti-bribery policies and its
compliance with laws and regulations
in ESG reports, including whether the
Company is involved in bribery and
corruption litigation. The anti-corruption
measures include integrity requirements
for employees and directors, conflict of
interest declaration, supplier selection
and bidding guidelines, whistle-
blowing mechanism and procedures for
handling violations.
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The Group will prevent potential
corruption in the initial stage by
providing employees with training,
enhancing integrity transparency

within the Company, and taking anti-
corruption measures and other practical
actions, so as to reinforce the core
value of integrity in Hong Kong and
create a clean business environment.
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4. COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS 4. HEHEBR

The Group’s overall sustainability policy is closely related AEBMNBENFEERSHERZMHDED

to stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.
We believe that a thorough understanding of stakeholder
concerns and the sustainability challenges we face will help
us adjust our sustainability strategy to achieve maximal
positive impact and reduce the negative impact on social
and environmental issues while fulfilling our corporate
responsibility. Accordingly, we strive to build trust with all
stakeholders through transparent and open communication
channels, including annual reports, ESG reports,

SELREOHFGHSSHAE - HMABEE
BMTHwHEHENRBEMBMEAFEER
FEEBROKE  EHABERMNAREE
EREE  WEBTEERARETNRE -
EEHHEMNREMBENIETE &
Eamgg- - At RANEBEAR
NHAWBBRE  BEFHR ESGHE -
ReREs TEHEERERE BEMAERKD
ERMEERRE -

questionnaire surveys, regular dialogues and meetings, etc.

In 2021, in order to better understand the ESG awareness
and vision of stakeholders, the Group engaged an
independent consultancy firm to carry out stakeholder
communication activities and materiality assessment,
including: questionnaire surveys of the management and

20215 BRETHMBNELERE HER
BATEHNRAEANBER AEEREEL
BRARETNGaHEIBREDNEE
WG ER e - 88E IS RREE
hEBSRAE -

internal and external stakeholders.

We take three steps to conduct a materiality assessment:

Step 1
|dentify material issues

5%
BHEZHE

Step 2
|dentify material issues

FEZW

ETEEHE

Step 3

Confirm and review
F=

R NEH

BPRDN=_EFrBAEBEE TG

We identify potential material issues that can reflect the economic, environmental and social impact

of the Group’s business or affect stakeholders’ assessment of and decision-making on the Group

with reference to the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide and based on factors
such as corporate development strategy, industry development trends, regulatory and capital market
requirements, etc.

SERRRGMORE HEREARSEIDNGEARAIEREE  TXEEBY  EERELD
BEREREZ HLE RE e ERNELELE BHRARBAEEEBELNLE
REMHEYE IFYERRAUAZETAMRENECEZAE -

We collect feedback from internal and external stakeholders of the Company through online surveys to
understand the priority issues concerning stakeholders, and rank the issues based on the impact on
the Group’s ESG development and the impact on stakeholders to form a materiality matrix of issues.
BMBRAR FASKRERRATRINAFNEREZR  UTHRIERAMBEINE
LEE UTREBEUASEESGERZENSEGATERNE T METHF  EAEE
-

The management and the ESG Reporting Working Group review and confirm the assessment results.

EEENESGRETENERM LR ME
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Materiality to External Stakeholders

Materiality to the Imperium’s Development

HEREERENERY

Highly material issues Product Responsibility Emissions

Health and Safety Use of Resources

Training and Development Supply Chain Management
REEEZR EmAL 7378/

fEEEz2 BEREA

IR E R e R
Moderately material issues Equal Opportunities Community Investment

Employee Compensation and Benefits
Anti-corruption

FEEEEE TERe HERE
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Low-materiality issues Climate Change
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5.1.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROSPERITY
Management guidelines and policies

The Group always upholds the concept of sustainable
development. We are aware of the possible environmental
impact of our business operations, identify the key
environmental risks we face, and put into practice the
concept of green operation. We review major business
processes to reduce the negative impact of business
operations on the environment, enhance environmental
protection capabilities, and improve overall environmental
performance, in an effort to create a sustainable future for
our next generation.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims to
fully comply with regulatory requirements and strictly abide
by all applicable environmental laws and regulations, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China. During the reporting period, the Group had no
violation of relevant regulations.

EMISSIONS
Exhaust emissions

Exhaust gas is inevitably generated during the production of
the Group’s household products, and the exhaust emissions,
if not up to standard, may affect the environment. In view of
this, we have formulated the Measures for the Management
Exhaust Emissions for our household products business to
reduce the pollution of the surrounding environment caused
by exhaust emissions generated during production and
operations. We arrange for the person in charge of safety
management to take charge of the testing of exhaust gas
conducted on a yearly basis with reference to the Exhaust
Emission Standards issued by the state, and the production
department is responsible for the control of exhaust gas
generation in each post and the inspection, maintenance
and management of exhaust gas emission and absorption
facilities.

No exhaust gas is generated from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business due to their characteristics.
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Carbon emissions

In line with national policies, we have formulated a series
of measures and set up a task force for our household
products business. Each year, the task force identifies
carbon emission sources, calculates and assesses carbon
emissions, reviews the assessment results and sets carbon
reduction targets for the coming year. On this basis, we
develop relevant resource management targets. In addition,
the Group actively follows the requirements of the Stock
Exchange for disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions to
calculate the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions as
comprehensively as possible.

The source of carbon emissions from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business is the use of electricity, so we will continue
to aim to reduce the consumption of electricity.

During the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse
gas emissions reached 114.83 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Unit B
Total greenhouse gas REREHHBE 1002 Nt (4
emissions
Direct emissions (Scope 1) B & B (BE—) 1002 N R
Energy indirect emissions &2 R R (EE ) tC02% N ft=N(q73:
(Scope 2)
Emission intensity HMEE tCO2e per employee AE-_EKEE
l%EI
Notes:

— The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, the 2006 IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC
Fourth Assessment Report (2007), ISO 14064-1: Specification with
guidance at the organisation level for quantification and reporting of
greenhouse gas emissions and removals, China Energy Statistical
Yearbook 2009, 2019 Emission Reduction Projects — Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China, Country
Specific Electricity Grid Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors issued
by Carbon Footprint in January 2022, and the Electricity Carbon
Emission Coefficient for 2020 provided by the Bureau of Energy of
the Ministry of Economic Affairs in Taiwan.

— Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion sources of
diesel; and

— Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions from the purchase of
electricity.

Annual Report 2021
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17.24 51.28 36.86 9.45
10.92 0.00 4.85 0.00
6.32 51.28 32.01 9.45
0.59 0.39 1.76 0.14
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Waste management

As the control of waste has become increasingly stringent
in China, it is critical for the company to take a step
forward, making its manufacturing process greener and
cleaner. In order to enhance employees’ awareness of
waste disposal, the Group also provides training on waste
identification, management and classification. We will follow
the management strategy of waste recycling, reduction and
harmlessness to reduce environmental pollution in order to
fulfil our commitment to waste management.

In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, the Pollution Control Standard for
Hazardous Waste Storage and relevant laws and regulations,
the Waste Control and Management Procedures has been
formulated for our household furnishings business to clearly
set out the types and disposal methods of waste. For
the management of non-hazardous waste, the Company
classifies waste in the principle of turning waste into
treasure and reusing it. For some wastes such as discarded
secondary raw materials and parts, where applicable, we will
arrange maintenance, reuse and recycling to reduce waste,
and the non-recyclables will be regularly handed over to the
sanitation bureau for disposal. We are extremely concerned
about generation of hazardous waste, evaluate on a regular
basis the production process to identify the sources of
hazardous waste generation and formulate action plans to
reduce hazardous waste. For hazardous waste that needs
to be disposed of, we will engage qualified agencies to
transport and dispose of the hazardous waste in accordance
with relevant national laws and regulations. In addition, we
refer to the Hazardous Waste ldentification Standards to
prepare training materials, so that employees can effectively
identify, manage and classify various types of waste.

The main source of waste in games publishing business,
esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business is daily trash generated by employees in the office,
such waste will be collected and disposed of by cleaners
before being processed by the local Sanitation Bureau. In
addition, we have installed recycling bins in our office for
collecting used paper and inculcated the recycling habit
among employees.
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66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of waste generated by our household furnishings
business has decreased significantly and has no significant
impact on the sustainable development of the Group as a
whole. Therefore, no data are provided.

Wastewater management

In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control and
to meet the sewage discharge standards, we have strictly
implemented rainwater and sewage diversion for our
household furnishings business in Ningbo and have started
such diversion in underground water pipes since 2013. In
order to ensure up-to-standard water quality on a continuous
basis after the diversion, the Company has formulated the
Cleaning Procedures and requires the cleaning records
to be kept properly. According to the environmental
assessment report and the requirements of the sewage
discharge company, sewage must be treated in sewage
treatment facilities before being discharged to ensure that
the discharged sewage meets the statutory standards.
The grease traps of the staff canteen have obtained
environmental certification and are cleaned regularly
according to the Cleaning Procedures. Employees who need
to be exposed to and treat sewage are required to receive
relevant training at least once a year.

MAKING GOOD USE OF RESOURCES

The Company is well aware of the value of resources. In
order to use all resources including energy, water and
other natural resources more effectively and prudently, we
have formulated the Energy Conservation Action Plan, the
Management Procedures of Energy Conservation Projects,
the Energy Conservation Management Procedures and the
Water Management Measures.

Energy saving

Energy use has long been a key issue for global
environmental agencies. Therefore, the Group always strives
to introduce new technologies and equipment which can
not only improve production efficiency but also promote
environmental performance and reduce energy consumption.
In the year, we have adopted the following initiatives to
improve the energy efficiency of our operations:
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The household furnishings factory in Ningbo has formulated
the Energy Conservation Action Plan which is aimed at
improving energy efficiency and raising the awareness of the
employees in saving energy to discourage the employees
from wasting energy. Each workshop would list its own
energy saving items and set targets every year, such as
reducing the use of raw materials, electricity, water and fuel.
In the past year, we have started using solar power in the
factory areas.

A number of targeted energy-saving measures have been
implemented for our game publishing business, esports
business and cloud computing and data storage business,
so as to further reduce energy consumption, which include
the following:

° Employees have to turn off all electrical appliances
when they leave the office after work

° Keep air-conditioned room temperature at 25°C

o The printers are switched to energy-saving mode

automatically when not in use to reduce energy

usage.

° Promote the importance of energy, water and
resources savings among our employees and
customers

° Install energy-efficient office equipment or give priority

to purchase products with energy efficiency labels
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The total energy consumption of the Group in the past year SEBE—FHREREER:
is detailed as follows:

Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
EHER
Type of energy ERES Unit Bfy REAR  EREBT  EFRE  HERE
Total energy consumption BEREE 000" kWh FRTRE 8,000.84 90,720.00 39,827.83 11,754.95
Total energy consumption ~ # & B EERE 000" kWh/per employee TETRE/S48I
intensity 275.89 3,128.28 1,373.37 405.34
Direct energy consumption ~ E# R £ 000" kWh FETRE 2404 NATEFR 2183 NATEA
Direct energy consumption  E#&FEERE  000' kWh/per employee TETRE/S48I
intensity 083 NATEH 075 NATER
Of which: g
Fuel consumption hhEE 000" kWh FETRE 2404 NATEE NATER  NATER
Fuel consumption intensity i fE €28 000" kWh/per employee TETRE,/S48T 083 NATHEE NATERE NATEA
Gas consumption RAER 000’ KWh TETRE NATER NATER 2183 NATEA
Gas consumption intensity M RFEEBE 000" kWh/per employee TETEE/S4ET NATER NATEE NATEER NATER
Indirect energy R RfEE 000" kWh FETRE
consumption 7,976.80 90,720.00 39,806.00 11,754.95
Indirect energy consumption R RFEERE  000° kWh/per employee TETRE/S88I
intensity 275.06 3,128.28 1,372.62 405.34
Of which: g
Power consumption BN 000" kWh FRTRE 7,976.80 90,720.00 39,806.00 11,754.95
Power consumption ENREDE 000" kWh/per employee TETRE/S88I
intensity 275.06 3,128.28 1,372.62 405.34
Note:  energy data are converted to kWh with reference to lower calorific fak: BRRBEEZ2EREZRERERTER - Rk
values. Fuel includes diesel oil. Gas includes natural gas. BIEEH  MABRERAR -

68 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2021



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Water efficiency

To protect the precious water resources, we actively promote
the idea of water conservation among employees and
strengthen the maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment to achieve the purpose of
water conservation. According to the Water Management
Measures developed by the household furnishings factory
in Ningbo, we reuse the cooling water from the pipe-making
workshop, and about 50% of the wastewater is recycled to
wheel vibration polishing devices through pumps. We also
carry out inspections of underground fire-fighting water to
eliminate leakage of water pipes and reduce waste of water.
We conduct regular statistics collation and analysis of water
consumption in workshops, and those workshops using
a relatively large amount of water are required to receive
assessment and be equipped with independent electricity
meters to measure their water consumption more accurately.

Fresh water for game publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage business is provided
by the property management company, so there is no record
of water consumption.

The Group’s total water consumption in the past year is
approximately:
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Water

Water consumption
consumption intensity
EKE HKkEEE

m3/

m3 production line

Unit By MEK MEKEER
Household furnishings business RERAmED 2400.00 1.40
Game publishing business E%ﬁ%f?%?}% 462.70 3.53
Esports business FHREER 864.00 4114
Cloud computing and data storage business EERBBRTER 251.18 3.59
EENEEEERAT 2021 ¥4 69
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Using environment-friendly materials

Our household furnishings business has obtained FSC
certification which proves that the wooden furnishings
produced by the Company, including cupboards and
kitchen cabinets, are made of FSC certified wood and
meet the relevant requirements of FSC certification. We
also require our suppliers to have the FSC certification
for certain materials such as particle boards and bamboo
boards. FSC hopes humans and forests can reach a balance
among the environment, society and economy, and wishes
that businesses will not cause excessive damage to the
forest ecosystem and the species diversity of trees during
timber harvesting. It also lay emphasis on the sustainable
development of forests so that local residents can live
on forests for a long time. FSC has made tremendous
contributions to environmental protection.

As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of packaging materials used by our household
furnishings business has decreased significantly and has
no significant impact on the sustainable development of
the Group as a whole. Therefore, no data are provided. The
packaging materials and chemicals we choose to use must
meet the national standards; our suppliers are required to
go through Environmental Impact Assessment Registration
or make environmental impact reports; we conduct internal
environmental assessments and regularly review and adjust
existing environmental measures to ensure their feasibility;
we also have technical specifications for all packaging
materials which require paper packaging materials to come
from sustainable sources and do not allow the use of new
100% virgin plastics.

Due to the business nature of our game publishing business,

esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business, no packaging materials are used.
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PROMOTING GREEN OPERATIONS

The Group integrates environmental responsibility into its
daily business operations. To this end, the Group promotes
green operations and a green procurement policy to reduce
its environmental impact and consumption of natural
resources. Our household furnishings business has obtained
ISO 14001 environmental management system certification,
and the Group regularly conducts internal and external
assessments on the effectiveness of the system to ensure
that the system keeps up with the times.

Raising environmental awareness

As to energy conservation publicity and related training, we
have formulated the Measures for Energy Saving Publicity
and Training, and the Human Resources Department and
Technical Support Department jointly conduct training on
environmental projection for employees in hope of enhancing
their awareness of energy conservation.

In addition, in order to make all employees regard energy
conservation as their duty, we encourage employees to
actively participate in the design of various energy-saving
and consumption-reducing schemes, and will commend
and reward employees who have made special contributions
to energy conservation. In the event of a serious waste
of resources, we will consider imposing punishment as a
warning.

Promoting green procurement

When looking for high-quality products and services, other
than the reasonability of prices, we also have to consider
human health and environmental factors to reduce the
impact on the environment. We use PEFC/FCS certified
paper from responsible forest resources which dissuades
deforestation.

5.3.
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Advocating green office

We advocate paperless office and promote electronic
communication via the Internet, email, internal workflow
system, etc. We also encourage customers to choose
electronic bills and place electronic orders. The online
collaborative office management platform and the related
mobile app introduced by the Group cover the day-to-day
office management and operations and approval processes
and greatly promote paperless office. The Company also
encourages employees to use double-sided printing as
much as possible and reuse all single-sided printed paper to
reduce the consumption of paper.

Vegetarian Carbon Reduction is an environment-friendly act
advocated by all places and environmental agencies around
the world. As such, we add vegetarian elements to the free
meals for our employees to help them understand that low
carbon diet is an important part of environment-friendly life
and is greatly beneficial to reducing global carbon dioxide
emissions and protecting the ecological environment.
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5.4. CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group is aware that the impact related to climate

change may bring risks to the Group’s operations. As such,

we regularly assess and review the risks of climate change

and take precautions against financial risks that may arise in

the future.

Risk Category
EBER

Risk Description
2 B i

RiR - HEREBRS

5.4, RIE#1L

SEERINRREEAENTEATRES
HEBEETRTIRAOER - Bt - M
EHFEEBESREZE/LCRR  RAKA
EETRNMBRARMARMAL  (ELE
Z£ o

Risk Response Measures
BB JE B 48 e

Policy and legal risks

HERRER

Long-term risk

R E R

Increasingly stringent climate change-related
regulations regarding operations, products and
services will lead to an increase in operating costs,
including compliance costs and product development
costs.

EREZE EmMRBIENRKRECHABNEER
ERSRE - EMEHEERAEN - BEARKAK
BB EAAREM

The gradual changes in the natural environment
caused by climate change, including rainfall changes,
extreme fluctuations in weather patterns and
emergence of unknown viruses, will affect the health
and work pattern of employees, which will increase
medical insurance premiums and incur extra costs of
work pattern transformation.

ARBECMEHAREEEFNE SHRTES
MR REATHRDRELTARS  SHATR
BREFEATYE AMLBERERSREMT
f 18 20 B A

In the past, the Group’s factories implemented energy-
saving and emission-reduction measures, and fully
abided by all environmental laws.

In the future, the Group will increase investment in the
development of emerging businesses (game publishing
business, esports business, cloud computing and
data storage business) that have a slight impact on the
environment, which will help the Group diversify business
risks for sustainable development.
BEEENSEIROERSZENGMEMBEER L2
HETHARZEEBNED -

MERK KEBMERAFEER(BRBTRS
BEfBREABNEAERBBEREERINER &
LEBHRENZEREN EHEEIMER LHA
FEBRNER -

After the COVID-19 epidemic, the Group has intensified
occupational, health and safety measures for employees,
such as allowing employees to work from home during
the epidemic, so that the Group can resume operations
more quickly.

ERHFABERER SERLCTEINER RERZ
RERE N ERBHRASFEIARIES  <&E
NBRERMEEE -

FENMEEEERAR

2021 5% 13



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
Rk - HBREBRSE

6. PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST VNG -F:
We invest heavily in our employees, providing extensive BMANKERELISLE BETHER%
opportunities for staff training and development, robust ez FEJINER  BUANBRERLZS
health and safety measures and competitive remuneration S AR EFEFINFMNAER - £t
and benefits in order to recruit and retain the best talent. BEMEBEREAT - EEERET(RE
The Group strictly abides by the Labour Law of the People’s ARKEMBELESHE) - (PEARKLMES
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s BEaRE) (REARLEMELEREE)
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s EENURBIEN) AR EN(SE A%
Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong EY MEHEYEERMBENEREN R
Kong and the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan. During EROER - MEEFEAENIRFESR
the reporting period, the Group did not have any cases of
violation of relevant employment laws and regulations, nor
did it receive any complaints related to recruitment.
Overview of the Group’s employees over the past year is as UTREEBE-—FHESMN
below:
Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
REAR  EEBT  EFRE EHEHUE
Employee B8 Unit B £% £% % REEH
Total number of employees  ET & AH Number A& 29 131 21 70
Age profile FROMH
18-24 18-247 Number A# 0 1 17 12
25-34 25-347 Number A# 0 54 3 3
35-44 35-447 Number A# 5 59 0 23
45-54 45-547 Number A# 23 15 1 1
55-64 55-647% Number N 1 0 2
65 or above 65 3 b & Number A& 0 1 0 0
Gender profile 32 16
Male g Number AE 10 79 18 47
Female X Number AE 19 52 3 23
Employment type ERER
Full-time £ Number AE 29 130 21 70
Part-time E3 Number AE 0 1 0 0
Area profile wEAh
Chinese Mainland HE A Number A& 29 0 21 70
Hong Kong N Number A& 0 2 0 0
Taiwan L Number AE 0 93 0 0
Malaysia SRAED Number AH 0 11 0 0
Thailand %8 Number AE 0 25 0 0
Others Bt Number AE 0 0 0 0
Note: B 5

- The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs

published by the Stock Exchange
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Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
RERR  EBHEBT BEFER EHEIE
Employee k8 Unit Bfy % % % REEH
Total number of employees  E T # A& Number AH 29 131 21 70
Age profile ERph
18-24 18-2437% Number NE 0 1 17 12
25-34 25-345% Number AH 0 54 3 32
35-44 35-445% Number AH 5 59 0 23
45-54 45-543% Number NE 23 15 1 1
55-64 55-645% Number AH 1 1 0 2
65 or above S Number A& 0 1 0 0
Gender profile RS MH
Male i Number NE 10 79 18 47
Female I Number AH 19 52 3 23
Employment type ERER
Full-time 2B Number AE 29 130 21 70
Part-time ®B Number AE 0 1 0 0
Area profile a7
Chinese Mainland HE N Number A& 29 0 21 70
Hong Kong BB Number AH 0 2 0 0
Taiwan sE Number AE 0 93 0 0
Malaysia SRAD Number A& 0 11 0 0
Thailand % Number AH 0 25 0 0
Others i Number A& 0 0 0 0
Function profile Baenfh
Senior management ARERE Number A& 1 5 1 1
Middle-level management ~ HREEE Number AH 3 13 3 5
Supervisor IE Number A& 0 8 0 0
General Staff —-REI Number AE 25 105 17 64
Staff turnover AERK
Turnover percentage MK L E Percentage BAlt 1.44% 210% 1.19% 0.71%
Age profile ERph
18-24 18-2477, Percentage BOK 0.00% 8.33% 1.47% 2.08%
25-34 25-345% Percentage BAl 0.00% 2.31% 0.00% 0.78%
35-44 35-445% Percentage BAl 3.33% 1.69% 0.00% 0.00%
45-54 45-545% Percentage BAl 1.09% 2.78% 0.00% 0.00%
55-64 55-645% Percentage BAl 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
65 or above S Percentage BRL 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Gender profile RS
Male 3 Percentage BOK 1.67% 1.90% 1.39% 0.53%
Female x Percentage B 1.32% 2.40% 0.00% 1.09%
Area profile a7
China Mainland HE N Percentage BAl 1.44% 0.00% 1.19% 0.71%
Hong Kong BB Percentage BRL 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Taiwan s Percentage BAlt 0.00% 2.87% 0.00% 0.00%
Malaysia SRAD Percentage BOK 0.00% 0.76% 0.00% 0.00%
Thailand % Percentage BOK 0.00% 55.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Other i Percentage BRL 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
EENEEEERAT 2021 ¥4 TH



ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRI HERERERE

LAT%%@%-@E’UEEUHEWER

Overview of the Group’s employee turnover over the past
year is as below:

Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
RERR  BEZT ETRH EHEHE
Employee turnover ABR% Unit Bfy % % % REEH
Turnover ratio mE L E % ARl 1.44% 2.10% 1.19% 0.71%
Age profile FERph
18-24 18-245 % BAN 0.00% 8.33% 1.47% 2.08%
25-34 25-345% % BAN 0.00% 2.31% 0.00% 0.78%
35-44 35-445% % BAN 3.33% 1.69% 0.00% 0.00%
45-54 45-545% % BAN 1.09% 2.78% 0.00% 0.00%
55-64 55-645% % BAN 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
65 or above e % BAN 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Gender profile RS MH
Male 3 % BAN 1.67% 1.90% 39.35% 0.53%
Female x % BAN 1.32% 2.40% 222.22% 1.09%
Area profile &5
Chinese Mainland HE R % B 1.44% 0.00% 119% 0.71%
Hong Kong B % BAK 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Taiwan B % BAl 0.00% 2.87% 0.00% 0.00%
Malaysia SRAR % BAl 0.00% 0.76% 0.00% 0.00%
Thailand =B % BAl 0.00% 55.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Others it % BAl 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Note: B3 :
- The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs _ HEHERNBIAR GO SRS WIsE
published by the Stock Exchange TE R 153
6.1. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 6.1. EZEE
Management guidelines and policies BIE LR E

76 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group sees employees our greatest assets and the
key driver of our business success. Our businesses have
been working actively to create a working environment that
features mutual respect and harmonious coexistence of
employees and gives priority to safety; to attract the best
people and motivate them with a rewarding career, and to

AEE-AREIRBMEEENEE
HEESRMAXGRINOER - FEET
NRAEERHEERESE  MEABARL
ERENTHERE BEREROIE B
SIFABE T AN fIZETEMS
MRERM BRMEEFZENANEREZ

equip them with the necessary skills and knowledge. We EeTHENMNEABHE  YiEEH
have a dedicated human resources committee to regularly Fa FEENEMRITEER - HITEENE
review, improve the relevant policies, and developed a TSFA| - LR EREREREE . ZH - TEE

written staff manual according to the relevant laws and
industrial standards to govern the recruitment, promotion,
discipline, working hours, leave and other benefits of our

employees.
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Equal opportunities and diversity

We are proud of our talented employees and allow them
to achieve with their great potential. To attract and retain
the right talents are always crucial in our people approach.
We care for our people and offer them with fair and equal
opportunities and benefits irrespective of their gender, age,
family status, race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation or
disability. Experience, ability and related qualifications are
the primary concerns in talent selection.

As a responsible employer, the Group will handle retirement
formalities for employees who have reached the statutory
retirement age in accordance with the relevant regulations,
and go through any dismissal procedures according to the
relevant labour laws. In the event of a work-related accident,
the Group will make reasonable compensation and handle it
properly in accordance with relevant laws.

Employee compensation

Our businesses give due recognition to employees’
contributions fairly and objectively by implementing equitable
remuneration polices. To offer incentives to our staff, our
remuneration mechanisms are reviewed and re-adjusted
regularly to remain completive. We determine employee
benefits, rest time and holiday arrangements according
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations in the
places where all business operations are conducted, such
as making contributions to the Five Major Types of Social
Insurance and Housing Provident Fund, Mandatory Provident
Fund, Labour Insurance, Health Insurance and Pension Fund
for employees and participating in the Well-being Mutual Aid
Fund Scheme for the benefit of female employees.

RiR - HEREBRS
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6.2. OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

6.2 BXREEHEZE

78 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Management guidelines and policies

Employees are our most valuable resources. The Group
strictly adheres to all relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Fire Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, so as to create a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment for our employees.

In the context of COVID-19 threat for the duration of
2021, we were highly concerned about the health of our
employees. In order to step up prevention, our household
furnishings segment quickly developed the Prevention and
Emergency Rescue Plan and the Emergency Response Plan
to regulate personnel management and monitor the physical
condition of employees. It also developed the Prevention
Training Plan for employees to develop their awareness of
the pandemic and hygiene habits. In the game business
section, it distributes preventive kits including disinfectant
alcohol and masks to employees.

Household furnishings business

Our household furnishings factories under the Group have
developed a series of comprehensive policies to manage
occupational health and safety issues, including the
Occupational Health and Safety Policy, the Indoor Air Quality
Policy and the Fire Fighting Policy, in order to comply with
relevant regulatory requirements and meet the development
needs of the Group. We strictly abide by the provisions in the
Compilation of Laws and Regulations on Occupational Safety
and Health Supervision issued by the Ningbo Municipal
Administration of Work Safety.

Our factories arrange dedicated personnel to take charge
of the Company’s occupational health and safety affairs
and regularly review the occupational health and safety
performance. We also provide employees with adequate
training on occupational health and safety and appropriate
protective equipment, with a view to enabling them to
identify high-risk areas in the workplace, work out solutions
to lower work-related risks, prevent accidents in the course
of work and reduce occupational hazards. Each year, the
Group provides physical examinations for employees to
prevent occupational diseases and give them appropriate
health guidance.

Annual Report 2021
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In addition, we carry out assessment of workplace hazards
and detection of occupational hazards on a regular basis,
and engage third-party agencies to review our occupational
health and safety performance. Through such assessment
and review, we aim to ensure the effective implementation of
all occupational safety and health measures.

Games publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

Due to our business characteristics, employees of games
publishing business, esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business mainly work in the office, and
they are not exposed to dust, radioactive materials and
other toxic and harmful substances at work, so there is
no occupational disease. But due to enduring desk work,
employees may suffer from symptoms such as wrist and
upper limb pain, muscle soreness, eye fatigue and mental
pressure. Therefore, we provide employees with ergonomic
desks and chairs, and regularly make arrange employees to
participate in annual meetings, community activities, team
building for festivals, staff travel and other activities to help
employees relax, as well as enhance cohesion and a sense
of belonging among employees.

During the reporting periods for the last three years, the
Group did not have any cases of work-related accidental
fatalities. No work days were lost due to work injuries in the
past year for various business segments.

Employee communication

The Group welcomes and values the opinions of employees
who can express their opinions through different channels,
such as: the general manager mailbox and the trade union.
We also encourage employees to provide constructive
suggestions on the management measures and methods of
the Company. The Company will grant certain rewards as
appropriate to those whose suggestions are adopted.

RiR - HEREBRS
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6.3.

Induction Training

BT ABE

Action sharing session

TEHHES

Technical staff training series

BT A B R 553

Management efficiency improvement

training

B IR KR T A

External training

SMER 5 B

80 Imperium Technology Group Limited

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Management guidelines and policies

We firmly believe that continued training and development
for employees will enhance the value of the team and
professional quality of the employees themselves, thus
bringing higher production efficiency for the Group. The
Company has formulated the New Employee Training Policy,
the Employee Guidance Policy and the Vocational Skills
Training Policy to continuously improve the ability and quality
of our workforce. In order to conduct staff training in a more
regulated manner, we establish the staff training system and
incorporate the objectives into the evaluation indicators, so
as to encourage the staff to actively participate in various
work-related internal and external training activities, improve
personal professional skills, keep up with the strategic
development of the Group and strengthen the Group’s
market competitiveness

Our training topics include the following:

6.3.

IR
EBTHREF

BMBEEIFRET GO MEECNER F
iR B EERETEANBESRS
MELSEETRESNEEREK - RA
ETGIEIHIERR) (BIHEEBRRK
(BERBEEIBR)E UAEHREAET
BFHMEIMZE - REBTIHIERE
bt ZEYBTHRIBE XHEEAAR
ZHER URBEIRG2ETERREA
MEBER INEEINES BABAZEE
REE UECAARNSEEEZR M INEANE
BE TS H

BAWMEIEBERE:

Provide new employees with induction training which covers the Group’s background, profile, facilities,

employee handbook introduction and corporate social responsibility, so that new employees can
become familiar with the situation about the Group quickly and gain a sense of belonging

METABRKHE ITEANTRESHE

db =
A=

B R BIFMENTREEHE

BEEE EHETRAZEESRERAN LR MBS RENEEZ -

We invite industry experts, scholars or senior mentors from external training institutions to carry out

special training sessions, so as to improve employees’ skills and comprehensive capabilities

=&

BHEITRER
M ABEN

BEXENIBBINEBERGMBRFET - LWIERE T RE

The Group adopts a training strategy of “having old employees guide new ones” in hope of passing on

the experience and technical know-how of old employees to new ones. We also arrange experienced
staff to provide orientation and induction training for junior staff

ETEERTREABE

SERBIAZENIOEIER BESLCREBRMAE - AT ELHALBNBETIANRET

We carry out special training for the management, which deepens management personnel’s

understanding of corporate culture, hones their management skills, sharpens their communication
skills, and thus raises management efficiency

FRIAHEEENFERE)  MREEABHEE LR IERE -
PAREEBBERD  BABERE

We offer subsidies to our employees for participating in accredited external courses to equip them with

TEEEREE  £H

professional knowledge and skills relating to their duties and keep them abreast of the most cutting-

edge developments in the industry

RUAT 5 & AT S B
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Average training hours of employees
A BRI E I B

Cloud
computing
Household Games and data
furnishings publishing Esports storage
business business business business
PR T ETEHE
REAmMES X BYFHREER REE®
Male s 9.00 0.65 96.00 5.00
Female L8 9.00 0.69 96.00 5.00
Senior management aRERE 9.00 0.80 96.00 5.00
Middle management FRERE 9.00 0.62 96.00 5.00
Executives *E 0.00 0.38 0.00 0.00
General staff —ET
Note: B -
— The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — AEDERBIAEONLSHERERIER
published by the Stock Exchange & ¥R 45 5l
Percentage of employees trained
ABEIEGOHE
Cloud
computing
Household Games and data
furnishings publishing Esports storage
business business business business
B BT EFEEE
RERAmMER XKk BTHEER REEK
Male s 34% 63% 86% 67%
Female s 66% 37% 14% 33%
Senior management aBRERRE 3% 3% 5% 1%
Middle management PREEE 10% 5% 14% 7%
Executives *E 0% 3% 0% 0%
General staff —MET 86% 88% 81% 91%
Note: Bt 5 -
- The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — AEDNERBRAEMHLSERBERIEEZE
published by the Stock Exchange & %} 5 5|
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6.4.

82 Imperium Technology Group Limited

PROTECTION OF RIGHTS AND INTERESTS
Management guidelines and policies

The Company conducts staff recruitment and management
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulations on the Prohibition
of Child Labour, Employee Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations
in the places where all business operations are conducted.
It is absolutely forbidden to employ any child labour and any
form of forced labour.

The Company considers child labour and forced labour
intolerable, which must be eliminated. The Company has
set up strict recruitment processes to conduct intensive
examination of identity documents, such as ID card, and
sign labour contract and create personal file in a fair and
voluntary manner in accordance with legal requirements.

In accordance with the standard working hours stipulated
by the laws in the places where our business operations are
conducted, the Company makes reasonable arrangement of
working hours for our employees. Leave and benefits, such
as paid leave and sick leave, are provided in accordance
with labour Laws. Subject to production requirements,
our production bases arrange overtime work on a
voluntary basis, and it requires negotiation with employee
representatives and employees and approval from the local
labour department, and must not exceed the statutory
working hours. Production bases and sales division of the
Company in the PRC and overseas prohibit and disapprove
any forced labour or contractual servitude, corporal
punishment, confinement, violent threat, and forbid collecting
any deposits illegally from employees, withholding identity
documents and battering employees.

During the reporting period, the Company did not have

any material non-compliance incident relating to the labour
standards under relevant laws and regulations.

Annual Report 2021
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OPERATIONAL COMMITMENT

In the process of business development, the Group always
keeps in mind that we have to manage our relationships
with our suppliers and customers in a responsible and
sustainable manner. We are dedicated to providing our
customers with the highest quality products and services,
and working with suppliers to create win-win results. To this
end, we implement different plans and measures and provide
safe and reliable products to achieve the vision of creating a
better society.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
Management guidelines and policies

Good supply chain operations have a positive impact on the
environment and society. Accordingly, we work closely with
suppliers to reduce relevant risks and jointly create a better
and greener future. The Group adopts a comprehensive
supply chain management mechanism, including a code of
conduct and a supplier assessment system, to monitor and
assess the quality of suppliers’ products and services and
their performance in environmental and social aspects and
business ethics. The Group is also committed to complying
with all laws and regulations related to its business
operations, and did not violate relevant laws and regulations
during the reporting period.

71.
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Household furnishings business

We monitor the quality of our suppliers on a monthly basis
to ensure that the products and services provided by
them meet the relevant contractual requirements, so as to
safeguard the quality of the products provided by the Group.
We also conduct standard training for suppliers on a regular
basis to provide suppliers with the opportunity to exchange
ideas and keep abreast of the latest industry developments
for the expansion and sharing of business opportunities.

The Company will strictly require our suppliers and their
own suppliers to comply with minimum requirements
for environmental and social performance and working
conditions when purchasing products, materials and services
and to abide by local laws and regulations, confidentiality
and anti-corruption.

In order to ensure that suppliers effectively honour their
corporate social responsibility at the community and
environmental levels, we appoint a third party to conduct SSI
system audits on suppliers each year.

Games publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

The Group has developed a standard Supplier Management
Mechanism for its game business. We will give priority
to partners with sustainable development concepts who
undertake corporate social responsibilities. We hope to work
with suppliers on improving the industry’s performance in the
environmental and society aspects, and effectively managing
the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. In
addition, according to the situation, we will classify the green
products purchased or to be purchased and make a list of
green products applicable to the Group for subsequent use.
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HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS
Management guidelines and policies

Providing quality products to our customers is our ultimate
goal. The Group commits itself to establishing, maintaining
and improving the 1ISO9001 quality system, in a mission to
provide quality products and services to meet customer
needs. In the course of operations, the Group strictly
abides by national laws and regulations and industry quality
standards and constantly improves quality management to
safeguard the basic rights and interests of customers.
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Product
responsibility
indicators of

In terms of household furnishings business, we strive
to provide high-quality products. Each product will be
tested for quality and safety before being packaged as a
finished product. We have a quality control department
to be responsible for testing products, formulating testing
management procedures, and conducting final testing
according to such procedures. During the reporting period,
the Company did not violate any laws and regulations related
to product responsibility, nor did it receive any customer
complaints. The percentage of products recalled for health
or safety reasons was 0%.

In terms of privacy and intellectual property rights, all
information reports, discussions, and written messages of
customers regarding household furnishings business of the
Group must be kept confidential. In addition, the Company
will never purchase pirated products or use photos or
designs without third party licensing.

the Group
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Games publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

For marketing and management, the Group strictly controls
the release of marketing information through the Internet,
newspapers, media and other channels to ensure the
compliance of publicity, promotion and advertising releases
in accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations
such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of
Internet Advertising and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
For intellectual property rights, the Group strictly complies
with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Tort
Liability law of People’s Republic of China, the Measures
for the Administration of Internet Domain Names of China,
the Administrative Measures for Software Products and
other laws and regulations to formulate the Intellectual
Property Management Policy in order to regulate intellectual
property management. We have also signed non-disclosure
agreements with our employees and business partners to
ensure the security of our intellectual property. We take
measures to prevent infringement of the intellectual property
rights of third parties, and conduct frequent monitoring and
review. If any potential infringement risk is found, the legal
department will set up an urgent working team to investigate
the potential infringement, and cease the infringement
activities against third parties through legal actions, while
protecting the legitimate rights and interests of the Group.

In terms of privacy, employees who have access to customer

information and important company information will sign
confidentiality agreements to prevent data leakage.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Management guidelines and policies

The Group requires all employees to comply professionally
with the Group’s policies on conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy, confidentiality of
information, prevention of bribery and corruption, and equal
opportunities. The Group’s employment contract requires
employees to abide by the code of business ethics and to
refrain from corruption and bribery.

The Group strictly abides by the Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China and, according to its own
characteristics and circumstances, stipulates standard anti-
corruption requirements to strengthen corporate governance
and internal control and standard business practices to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders
and promote the healthy and stable development of the
Company.

The Audit Centre of the Group regularly conducts group-
wide anti-fraud publicity. Specifically, it collects the latest
anti-fraud information, including recent major fraud events
in various industries and the handling measures, prepares
anti-fraud publicity materials after compilation and analysis
based on the characteristics of the Group’s business, and
distributes the materials to all employees of the Group
for self-study, with a view to creating a sound anti-fraud
environment in the Group.

In addition, our esports business provided standard anti-
corruption training for directors and employees during the
reporting period, and formulated relevant rules for employees
to abide by, so as to facilitate the Group’s strategic
development and enhance its market competitiveness.

7.3.

RiR - HEREBRS

¥R E
EZEL IR BEE

SEFHBETHERILAEXRMETE
BRAEER NBER LB BEHR
TR EESNTEKE G
RcBR -SEERAAOAN BRET
BITHFERER  FTAUBAEMNESLE
BT/ -

SEBEBET(REARKXMBEAE) I
REESNEFERNBARBLTREFSTE
B HIE - DA DN SR 2 AR M A EB IR B - AR
HEL2TR HERRAGEER  RER
AR BEERER-

AEENEFFLOEHHE2EEEHR
BREE WEEFHEREENER
BRETEOPBENERNEFRSEMN K
BEBS HAEBEEBEOEHELST
THRERZFREEFEN  EREEEARE
BETEZ EHEEANEERFHORER
R ©

FH BPMEFERER  EREHMA
REFREBEIRHARMCHREEI > I
HERBHEAE2EET - UEEEARE
BERERNMINBAEBENTIZHEFS -

FENMEEEERAR

2021 5% 87



88 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group also provides whistle-blowing channels for
stakeholders to report suspicious activities by email,
telephone or fax. The reported cases will be independently
investigated and properly followed up. After the final review
of the investigation report, if it is specified in the handling
plan that the labour contract with any person involved in the
fraud be terminated, the employee dismissal process will be
initiated. For a fraud case that must be referred to the judicial
authority, the Audit Centre will hand over the personnel
involved in the fraud and the related materials to the judicial
authority for handling. We will take remedial measures to
rectify any procedural defects or implementation loopholes
found in any fraud event and follow up the implementation of
such remedial measures, so as to avoid recurrence of similar
fraud events.

During the reporting period, the Company found no cases of
violation of laws and regulations related to corruption.

GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

The Group is well aware that our responsibility is not only
to contribute directly to the economy, but also to generate
positive impact on society as a whole through our business
operations and charity undertakings. Our household
furnishings factory in Ningbo is committed to reducing the
potential environmental impact of production on surrounding
communities. During the reporting period, we not only made
charity donations, but also encouraged employees to take
an active part in community activities such as acting as
volunteers.

Our esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business teams participated in a number of community
service activities in 2021, including: second-hand items
donations, tree-planting activities, regular participation
in cultural and educational activities and visits to nursing
homes.
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Chapter
2
A Environmental
A R
Aspect A1 Emissions 5.1 Emissions
7 EAA 73787 5AHER
Indicator A.1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 5.1 Emissions
EIRAL BRI R B R B BUE 518
Indicator A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 5.1 Emissions
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
EEAL2 EREE)REREE(BE)RERBHENE UEAE) R(WER) BE (WUSESER - 51HEKY
SERHE) -
Indicator A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 5.1 Emissions
production volume, per facility).
EIRALS FMEARSEEVEE UMFAH)R(NERFE(WASGESENL  BERME) 518
Indicator A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 5.1 Emissions
unit of production volume, per facility).
EEAL4 MEABREREDLAEAEAE)N(MERBE(WNBESEN  BERMAHE) - 5AHERY)
Indicator A.1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 5.1 Emissions
EIEALS HRFMITUNEREERRAENELERMERNTSR - 5AHER
Indicator A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of 5.1 Emissions
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
EIRAL6 HUREEERESEEMNG L  REAMITUNREEERAEINELERMERS 51K Y
g
Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 5.2. Making Good Use of
Resources
FHEA2 BERER 52.EAEIR
Indicator A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in  5.2. Making Good Use of
’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Resources
EIRA21 REAESNERER /SHEER(WE R AREUTETREHEREE (WU 52.5RER
SEREN - FERMHE) -
Indicator A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 5.2. Making Good Use of
Resources
EiEAL2.2 BEKERFE(WASESEN  GEREHE) - 52.EAEIR

Indicator A.2.3

EIEA23
Indicator A.2.4

HEEA24

Indicator A.2.5

EEAL25
Aspect A.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

AR UMERERR SRR REINELREMRRNTHE -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water

efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
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ML -

reference to per unit produced.
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The Environment and Natural Resources
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Chapter
4
JIHAS3 RERKRER 53HFRELE
Indicator A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources There were no accidents
and the actions taken to manage them. which have significant

impacts on the environment
and natural resources
during the period

ERA3A HUEBEHHRBERARABERNEAZERERNEREHZ ENTHY - BARBHRERARRE
RONEATENER
Aspect A.4 Climate Change 5.4. Climate Change
HEA4L RIxE 5.4 R1EE
Indicator A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which  5.4. Climate Change
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BEALI HABRLARGHETAELAYENEARRAREBRSEE RESHTH - 54 RIxE(
B Social
B reE
Aspect B.1 Employment 6.1 Equal Employment
7 EBA ER 6.1 FF &R
Indicator B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), age group and 6.1 Equal Employment
geographical region.
HEEBA BRUER BREER(WE2BIEFE) FRENRMEZDNESEL 61T EEE
Indicator B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 6.1 Equal Employment
EEB1.2 muR FRAMNEEDNERRKLE - 61T EER
Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 6.20ccupational Health and
Safety
FEB.2 BEEAZZE 2BRERREER S
Indicator B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years (including There were no work-
the reporting year). related fatalities in the past

three years (including the
reporting period)

E1RB.2.1 BE-FBREESFE)EFRITHMARRLER - BRBEHANBE=F
AEEAITHES
Indicator B.2.2 Lost days due to work injury. There were no work days

lost due to work injury
during reporting period

EiZB.2.2 FAIGELAIERE- BRERAERIBGEEAT
ERE

Indicator B.2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are 6.2 Occupational Health

implemented and monitored. and Safety

E1EB.2.3 HMPIRANBERRET 2R WREBRIRERFE 2B ERREL S

Aspect B.3 Development and Training 6.3 Training and
Development

HHEB.3 R RE 6.3 3% &
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Chapter
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Indicator B.3.1

E1EB.3.1
Indicator B.3.2

#E1£B.3.2
Aspect B.4

FHEB.4
Indicator B.4.1

E1ZB.41
Indicator B.4.2

#E12B.4.2
Aspect B.5

FHEB.5
Indicator B.5.1

E1EBS
Indicator B.5.2

E1EBS.2
Indicator B.5.3

E1EB.5.3
Indicator B.5.4

#E1EB5.4

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior

management, middle management).
BRUFILESER(WSREEE HREEE)EANNXIEEESLL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BURLEBEANED  SREETHZIOFIEH -

Labour Standards

BT

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.

it e ST RIS E DM 1B B A @

REIRBEHSBI -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

6.3 Training and
Development

6.35% FI & &

6.3 Training and
Development

6.35% 9% &

6.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

6.4 5 IRIE

6.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

6.4 5 IRIE

There was no violation
during the period

HAEERERBERNSERE BB R MR - HARBERBER
Supply Chain Management 7.1 Supply Chain
Management
e g e TR E R
Number of suppliers by geographical region. 7.1 Supply Chain
Management
RRESNBREFHE - TR E R
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the 7.1 Supply Chain
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
HRAEBRERHEEENED  MERTABENNHEFHE  UREBRTRERE - TIHERER
Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply 7.1 Supply Chain
chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
HAEEBARERGERGNRERLERARNEN  URBBRTRERTZ - TR E R
Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services 7.1 Supply Chain
when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
HAEREREAREEZARRERIRBOELN  ARBBRTREESE - TR E R
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Chapter

B
Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility 7.2 High Quality Products
7 EB.6 EmEE T2REBEEMm
Indicator B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.  There were no products

subject to recall for safety
and health reasons during

the period
¥E1ZB.6.1 PEREEXEmBETRLZ 2 RERERMANKNADLL - HAREERER2ER
FEARmARK
Indicator B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with. There were no complaints

due to quality problems
during the period

jE12B.6.2 EEEREMRBRBENRFBEEALEHTE - HAREEmEMENRK
Fil

Indicator B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. 7.2 High Quality Products

E1$B.6.3 HHEgERRENEEREFBNEN - T2BEEm

Indicator B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 7.2 High Quality Products

1E15EB6.4 HREERTAERERDWKRER T2BEEm

Indicator B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented 7.2 High Quality Products
and monitored.

1E15B.6.5 HLHBEERREBRABERE  URMBRTRERRE T2BEEm
Aspect B.7 Anti-corruption 7.3 Corporate Governance
HEB7 k&= 73R ¥ RE
Indicator B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or There were no corruption
its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. proceedings during the
period
EEBTA REGRBAGETAREGERLDIEEENE SFARUHNHERFLER BARBESFRDERN

Indicator B.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are 7.3 Corporate Governance
implemented and monitored.

EEBT.2 HEEERBERERX  URBERTRERGE - 73R ¥R

Indicator B.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 7.3 Corporate Governance
E1EB7.3 HRMEESREIRBOREFE - 73 ¥ RE

Aspect B.8 Community Investment 8. Giving Back to Society
FHEB.8 HERE 8. BB &

Indicator B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health, 8. Giving Back to Society

culture, sport).

E12B.8.1 ETERER(NHE  REFE BIFK BE -t 8BF)- 8. &

Indicator B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 8. Giving Back to Society
1E1EB8.2 EEASEEMPAER(NS BHER) - 8. Bl &t &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

IMPERIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED

(FORMERLY KNOWN AS IMPERIUM GROUP GLOBAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (formerly known as Imperium Group
Global Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 104 to 252, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$100,382,696 during the year ended 31 December 2021 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
HK$156,441,176 and HK$12,440,978 respectively. As stated in note
2, these events or conditions, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit

matters we identified are:

1. Valuation of investment properties

2. Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets

3 Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrency assets

transactions and balances
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZRBERE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

ARERELER

ESHEERTEEBRERSTEAMNS X

Valuation of investment properties

BREWMEMEE

Refer to note 5(b)(v) and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements

2B 4R 6 B 15 | R M FE5(b)(v) K19

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be HK$22,201,938 as at 31 December
2021 with a net revaluation loss for the year ended 31 December
2021 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$450,250. Independent external valuations were obtained in
order to support management’s estimates. The valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgments including the adjustment factors used
on comparable properties. These adjustment factors were either
based on public published data or substantially unchanged since
prior year.

EEEYHANRZE—F+ZA=+—H BE£BEREMEZ
NAER /222019388 MBE-_T_—F+_-_A=1+—H
IFFERGEERARKRBGEMEIRFE450,2508 T - 2 IFE
VAN EEAXFERBN MR - FENDBUNREREEZEERE
HEOHETHERER  ERAELEMEMKARABEE - %
ERBRAZEN AR ZHE BB LEFERENELRTEE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

EERHEEENAREVENRFEE:

— Evaluation of the independent external
valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

— ST B INER L ERD R B L RE ) - EHE A
P& R

— Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the property
industry; and

— EREFUYETROME - FFRERAR
ik ERRENEE L &

— Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used.

— EHEEEREMRAH ABBNERER
B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

ARERELER

ESHEERTEEBRERSTEANS X

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

N B B ERE R

Refer to note 5(b)(ii) and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements

2B 4R A B 75 3R 2R M 7E5(o) (i) K221

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of certain subsidiaries in
previous years, the principal activities of which are the operations
of online games.

EZFERERRRKRBETHEAR(HIEXRBALER LI
B e

The other intangible assets represent game intellectual
properties and licenses, game software, rights on esports
team and trademark. Management performs impairment testing
of goodwill annually. For other intangible assets, impairment
testing is performed when indicators of potential impairment
are identified. In performing impairment testing of goodwill,
management considered that the entire operations of the online
games operated by these acquired subsidiaries represented one
separately identifiable cash generating unit (“CGU”).
HinB\ILEER BB ABERELIRE BT EFHEK
MESANEE EREESFUHRBETRENR - st A&
WEEMSs EBESEEZEREBERETFREETRENR -
FHEMEBEMEMETLEELETRENAR EEBZEREZSEE
WEMNBEARLENR TER 2 BEBREEKEN—@ATES
HBRAMBCELEM(REELEBM]) -

Management assessed potential impairment by using the value
in use method and engaged a firm of qualified external valuers
to assist in preparing the value in use calculations. The value in
use calculations required the exercise of significant management
judgement and estimates.

ERBAEREBEETIHEEERE  TEFSERNIBGHE
ARABEEFEEREE AEEBEEFTETEEREREA
g -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

EERHEEENARENEFERE:

— understand management’s impairment
assessment process;

—  TREREMREF R

— challenge management’s assessment
of whether indicators of impairment are

present;
— EREEBYHRSHE MERERMELNT
[

— assessing the external valuer’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering
their objectivity and independence;

— FEINBHEEAFEREEE T ANER
KBMBENME - WEBRETEMAE

— working with our in house valuation
specialists to review the integrity of the value
in use model and the appropriateness of the
discount rate adopted by management;

— EABHEEREIEEHNEREEREA 2T
BUREREBERBZMBEXRNEE ML

— checking input data to supporting evidence
including approved budgets;

— REMABBEAERE (BEEMERE)E
Po ¥

— challenging the reasonableness of
management’s key assumptions underlying
the cash flow forecasts in view of the
historical performance of the CGU and our
understanding of the business; and

= BRERCEESMUNBERRTARKMAE X
BHOTH EREEENTIERRK  HBER
eREBAZEEN R

— considering the adequacy of the impairment
testing disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

— EEFAMBREABEIAKERS R

7 e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZRBERE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

ARERELER

ESHEERTEEBRERSTEAMNS X

Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrency assets transactions
and balances

MEEBEERGREHRNERRMGE

Refer to note 5(a)(ix) and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2 B4R & B 1% 2 MY 525()(ix) &2 27

The Group during the year entered into material transactions
involving cryptocurrency assets. The Group has cryptocurrencies
of HK$22,670,013 at the year end date classified as current
assets.

RAEEBRFANETIRNEEBEENEARS - BEEER
FHERABEB22670013BTHMERY.  BER/ARDEE

o

The type and form of these assets can differ significantly with
regard to the ability to make payments, trade or exchange. In
addition, not all cryptocurrency assets have an active market
whereby transactions in the cryptocurrencies take place with
sufficient frequency and volume in order to provide pricing
information on an ongoing basis. Cryptocurrencies can be
subject to high levels of volatility.

EXf - RGERBENTE  ZFEENRERPAARREF
HEEAEZR - WIN WHMEANEEEEEHRBERNTS
BIERHAMERBENNTERRS  UWEHBRHEETEEM -

MEZEERAEEXISERBNTE -

On the other hand, HKFRSs do not specifically address
accounting for cryptocurrencies. Accordingly, for the preparation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements, management
needs to apply judgements in determining appropriate
accounting policies based on the existing accounting framework
and the facts and circumstances of the Group’s cryptocurrencies
related businesses.

S—FH - BEMBRELNTEAREENEEENSARE -
Hit - £/ SEEENGaUBHRK EEEFTERERA
SHAERARAEENNEEEHEEBNETERER  £F
EEEE G ET BUR R R B -

In responding to the identified key audit matter we
completed the following audit procedures:
HEEBEMNNEREZEE  ESETKUTE
BT

— Updating our understanding of the internal
control environment in operation for the
significant income streams and undertaking
a walk-through to ensure that the key
controls within these systems have been
operating in the period under audit;

— EHBMAEUEZRARRETHNARLIE
FIRROIERE  WET-RESLS  UER
ZERGANBRENEEZHE—BE
EIT

— Performing substantive transactional testing
of income recognised in the financial
statements, by vouching a sample of
transactions within the Group’s wallets to the
respective blockchain with the assistance
of our in-house professionals with expertise
in the industry, and testing the fair value on
initial recognition;

— BUBBERPEINRAETELEERS
AR ERMETEEXRTENALEE
ABHHBT  mAEREERHE S£E
BEEARZHEAR  THEDNHERFAAR
A

— Observing the performance of the transfer
of an amount of cryptocurrency from
the Group’s cold wallet storage with the
custodian to a different wallet to test the
rights and ownership of the cryptocurrencies
with the assistance of our in-house
professionals with expertise in the industry;

— ERMATRERABZNALERAEN
BT BERE-—EHENNEEER &
SENEERAABOMEFRERBEERIS
BEEENRERE - AANEERNERN XA
B

\
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

ARERELER

ESHEERTEEBRERSTEANS X

Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrency assets transactions
and balances (Continued)
MEEBEERGREBROBRRMGE(E)

Therefore, there is a significant risk of material misstatement of
cryptocurrency assets, due to both the significant management
judgements and estimates involved in accounting for such assets
and the volatility attributed to cryptocurrency assets.

Bt MzmEBEEFEEREREAR - AR EHEEEE
ETEHEERIRNERETEABRMGE  UERNMEEEE
EHR MR

In responding to the identified key audit matter
we completed the following audit procedures:
(Continued)

HUHERRNNEREZEFER BEFETKATE
%2R (48)

— Confirming the title to and quantities of the
cryptocurrency assets within the Group’s
wallets with the assistance of our in-house
professionals with expertise in the industry;

— EHRMETEEZANBZNNBEEAEN
W R EEEBERANEEEEE
BT ERELEE:

— Reviewing and testing underlying
agreements giving rise to the receipt of
cryptocurrency assets;

- EELAHACBRERNEEREENER
1 7€

— Agreeing the fair values of the
cryptocurrency assets at the transaction
date;

- BAEMBERKEENRSBHRNRARIE:

— Confirming that only the cryptocurrencies
traded on an active market have been
measured at fair value at the transaction
date;

— BRRABEERT S XS0 MEEER
REARAARETE:

— Performing impairment assessment on
the carrying amount of cryptocurrencies
by comparing to the price of the
cryptocurrencies as at the year end date;

— BEENEEENFENERETL R
Hmm g REEETRE G
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRBERE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

ARERELER

ESHEERTEEBRERSTEAMNS X

In responding to the identified key audit matter
we completed the following audit procedures:
(Continued)
HUHERRNERELZEFER BEFETKATE
%R (4)

— Understanding and evaluating the
accounting policies adopted by management
for its cryptocurrencies related businesses
based on the contractual and business
arrangements with respective customers
and counterparties; and

— THREIHEERRBESZTPREF TN
BRREBRHRENZ EBHEELM
REEABE &

— Assessing the Group’s application of
current HKFRS standards in relation
to the accounting for cryptocurrency
assets and satisfying ourselves as to the
appropriateness of the recognition and
measurement criteria adopted and the
disclosures of cryptocurrency assets held at
the reporting date.

- A EEENEEBEESSATEER
RITBEBMBHRELENNBR - WEHFT
RANEARNRGTELENARRNHE BB
FMZEMEENRERTKE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Annual Report 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

B ZRBERE

REMAERGEMBBRRAREZER
(53

EENERRAEREERSEAMBBERREE T
TFHEBNRFFSERMERN T M ERERRAL -
VELEAESEBERNZBMRE - EFRER
BATEDIF4051KER HMTUEABR)BRSE
FMNER BREZIAREHNELMBEN - BF
AR AR EZABTEERHEMALE TR AR
Bif o

EEBTESEAKE BETRERBREREESR
RAERETHEX TFRERRMEFENEX
B8 AR BR o $5 BR BROM AT R RO BRAF g AR - e {8
FEEBNREEANBENTAREEAEREZS
RAMBBRRFONEERER  AIRE/EX
i AR PRt -

REBBENEUETERR  EFEREXY
B REBEEEZARTAFEXRERE - BF

DI

. BB K R AR A IS AR KR B AR
MEBHWEAXFERRAE B - HE L ER
REFARBTERREF EGSRARLEE
EVRERESNERRMHER - AR
FESRERBR BE HEER RE
MERRA s 2 BB IE S - Bt ReE#H R A
I E ARH) K R AR RO LR BORBE B 3R M
RERMBBNERERRLARES -

. TREEZBBOANIES - URAREE
MEZERF BYFEHEYH EREAI
EHONERIEEERER -

. AEFAERRESRE  ARESAR
FEAHEREHEEERTAE -

FENEEEERAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

1 02 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Wong Tak Man, Stephen.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

31 March 2022

B ZRBERE

RBMRERGEMBERRAEREZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBRRRK
For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E T
Note HK$ HK$
BT 5 BT on
REVENUE I 3% 8 161,124,366 | 186,363,525
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (141,918,086)| (175,951,366)
Gross profit EF 19,206,280 10,412,159
Other income NN 9 691,547 11,370,846
Impairment of receivables JE W 3 I8 R (B (2,687,266) (3,221,627)
Distribution costs 7 88 Ak AR (17,893,827) (8,750,202)
Administrative expenses THRAX (77,250,583)| (63,245,398)
Other operating expenses EmgeERz (11,622,460) (19,6083,542)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS B EE (89,556,309)| (73,037,764)
Finance costs B & A AR 13 (10,626,672) (7,944,611)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRBATEIE (100,182,981)| (80,982,375)
Income tax expense ez 14 (199,715) (887,512)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRAEE 15 (100,382,696)| (81,869,887)
Attributable to: LTALEA:
Owners of the Company KABHER A (99,031,460)| (80,214,996)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR M = (1,351,236) (1,654,891)
(100,382,696)| (81,869,887)
LOSS PER SHARE BREE
Basic HAR 17 (0.33) (0.28)
Diluted By (0.33) (0.28)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBRBEREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss for the year FRER (100,382,696)| (81,869,887)
Other comprehensive loss: Hih2HEEE:
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or l0ss: TEEM S EEEmER
Fair value changes of equity instruments at fair value BRNE u‘U\ HEfh 2w =
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) JEZTAZAREEE - (2,059,000)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AR B 2R I IEE -
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations & )& 9\\%4@%?@? vl
MEHEH 1,908,073 4,892,541
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMZEKZE (BRFTEE)
net of tax 1,908,073 2,833,541
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRETEHEBRAE (98,474,623) (79,036,346)
Attributable to: LTALREL:
Owners of the Company iN/NEIE F =N (97,123,387)| (77,381,455)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR M = (1,351,236) (1,654,891)
(98,474,623)|  (79,036,346)
EENEEEERAT 2021 &5 105




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE MR R &R
At 31 December2021 R—E=-—F+-_A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
Note HK$ HK$
BT 5 BT on
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WENREZE 18 33,895,356 8,575,540
Investment properties "EME 19 22,201,938 23,389,782
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 46,845,654 11,809,411
Goodwill kS 21 2,982,214 2,982,214
Intangible assets BEEE 22 46,420,779 49,049,729
152,345,941 95,806,676
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 23 1,175,653 16,703,834
Contract costs B H AR 180,534 359,946
Loan receivables and interest receivables R E 3R K e R B 24 6,949,334 10,458,154
Trade receivables FEW E 5 BR 3K 25 26,976,583 13,307,468
Current tax assets BNERR 18 & B 134,120 —
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables mEg%iEae Rk
JEB N E B 6,340,469 —
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments &4 - H i & U 30 I8 &
T8 R IE 26 28,694,751 31,984,998
Cryptocurrencies e g% 27 22,670,013 —
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTAER 28 43,026,210 55,148,931
136,147,667 127,963,331
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables FERTE SR 29 5,361,514 5,134,462
Cryptocurrency payables FEfT N B 103,752 —
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 30 8,145,346 3,755,132
Loan from related parties REBB T 2 EX 31 194,526,754 | 106,000,000
Other payables and accruals Hib e sIE R EETIER 32 76,902,730 78,832,650
Retirement benefit obligations RIKBFEE 33 58,253 64,710
Contract liabilities aHBE 34 7,476,605 3,810,739
Current tax liabilities ENHAT TE B & 13,889 229,670
292,588,843 197,827,363
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE (156,441,176) (69,864,032)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERABARG
LIABILITIES (4,005,235)| 25,942,644

1 06 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Annual Report 2021




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A B REARR R

At 31 December 2021 A =T - —F+-_A=+—H

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E T
Note HK$ HK$
{h=a BT BT
Non-current liabilities krnBERE
Lease liabilities HEARE 30 5,389,875 4,681,383
Long-term loan from related parties REBE A REABER 31 - 63,328,042
Retirement benefit obligations RRBEANET 33 324,107 490,848
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 35 2,631,761 2,631,761
8,345,743 71,132,034
NET LIABILITIES FEE (12,440,978)| (45,189,390)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERK B
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ZN2A 7] # B A FE {5 A% 4
Share capital & < 36 3,110,360 2,872,060
Reserves 1 (17,757,168)| (51,618,516)
(14,646,808)| (48,746,456)
Non-controlling interests FEIERE S 2,205,830 3,557,066
CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES B ARE A (12,440,978)|  (45,189,390)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2022 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong
BT E
Director

=

EFepph T -

TEEREREE:

Yeu

ng So Mui
BES

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEREEBR

+—BIFE

——f+=ZRA=

—==

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

2021 2020
—E-— “E-TF
Note HK$ HK$
BT 5E BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZHHNEERE
Loss before tax bR %5t A &5 18 (100,182,981) (80,982,375)
Adjustments for: "
Net fair value losses on investment properties BREWMERNREBEERFE 19 450,250 1,490,726
Investment income HEWRA 9 (108,120) (234,869)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREHE 35,102,316 20,708,176
Finance costs MEKR 13 10,626,672 7,944,611
Interest income MEMA 9 (41,747) (136,466)
Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries W B AR 2 W& 38(a) - (455,616)
Defined employee benefit RERERF - (50,502)
Equity-settled share-based payments AR B S B DARR (D B B HE R
5K 7,466,336 923,408
Impairment of cryptocurrencies NEEERE 7,004,817 —
Impairment of cryptocurrency deposits NEEERS RER NS
and receivables VERED 3,060,657 —
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEWME BERREZ
equipment BR/ () 690,915 (298,213)
Gain on disposal of intangible assets HERFEE W& - (4,827,284)
Gain on lease modification HEBIT = (145,874) (4,575)
Impairment of receivables JRE Wy SR R (E 2,687,266 3,221,627
Impairment of goodwill EERE 21 - 8,000,000
Impairment of intangible assets BV EERE 22 7,000,000 1,566,969
Write off of property, plant and equipment MEME - BB REE 94,747 -
Operating loss before working capital changes BEECEYH KEER (26,294,746) (43,134,383)
Increase in cryptocurrencies ME GBI (29,674,830) -
Increase in cryptocurrency receivables JE U o0 2 & IS HE (9,401,126) -
Decrease in inventories FERL 15,528,181 9,695,365
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables fEUWE 58 GE M), (16,356,381) 12,641,383
Decrease in loan receivables and interest receivables & W & 3k & & U F1| 8 R > 3,508,820 1,885,195
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, other receivables 124 - H & U 508 K& FE (4 7008
and prepayments WA () 3,290,247 (757,954)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B SEREM,/ (R D) 227,052 (5,199,983)
Increase in cryptocurrency payable FE N2 & 3 N 103,752 -
Increase in other payables and accruals H 4 B 5008 & JEETIE B g 0 6,722,506 25,909,319
Decrease in defined employee benefit REEBERMAL (173,198) -
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHAECRD) Em (510,479) 279,327
Decrease in contract costs B KA, D 179,412 260,248
Decrease in due to related companies JE < B B8t A R SROB R - (7,650,046)
Decrease in due from related companies JIE Uit 28 Bt A B 3 R = 4,737,355
Cash used in operations KEMANRE (52,850,790) (1,334,174)
Income tax refunded REFFED - 151,752
Income taxes paid EREH (549,616) (1,035,471)
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE (859,915) (411,208)
Net cash used in operating activities KEFEMAMNE €55 (54,260,321) (2,629,101)

1 1 0 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
= iﬁrﬁl)lbg

For the year ended 31 December 2021 i ZE — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E--F —TTF
Note HK$ HK$
Bt & BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBNEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEDE BMEREH (35,201,972) (4,656,506)
Acquisition of intangible assets WiEERFEE (12,769,824) (31,056,600)
Acquisition of subsidiary W B BT 8 A A 38(a) - (11,971,893
Payments for right-of-use assets BEREEEMNK (17,500) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE BEREREZ
equipment Fris A 1,784,510 263,253
Proceed from disposal of intangible assets HEEVEEMSHE - 775,400
Investment income received B E WA 108,120 234,869
Interest received EEEP 41,747 136,466
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMANR S FRE (46,054,919) (46,275,011)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RiEZBHNELRE
Proceeds from placing of shares B E R 17 P %TKIE 116,171,251 —
Bank and other borrowings raised MERTR AR 20,500,000 81,919,863
e
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BRETRAMER - (6,026,990) (119,534,346)
Net advance from related companies SR B R B N A ) B R R - 80,000,000
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in I Y BB 2 B 0 ) 48 25 PTAS 508
a subsidiary 38(b) - 6,359,430
Principal elements of lease payments HERFzx2BH (44,529,731) (4,939,869)
Interest paid BERAE (164,889) (1,788,907)
Net cash generated from financing activities MEZHEENRSFHE 85,949,641 42,016,171
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBACEEYWNFE
EQUIVALENTS D (14,365,599) (6,887,941)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE Exgmgsv g
CHANGES 2,242,878 5,074,908
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—BZBEeRBEESEY
1 JANUARY 55,148,931 56,961,964
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+ZA=+—-HZzRER
31 DECEMBER REZEEY 43,026,210 55,148,931
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReRBESEENIM
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances We RIBITHE S 43,026,210 55,148,931
EENEEEERAT 2021 3% 111



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

1.

1 1 2 Imperium Technology Group Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

Imperium Technology Group Limited (formerly known as
Imperium Group Global Holdings Limited) (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its
principal place of business is Room 02, 26/F, One Harbour
Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent and Mr. Cheng Ting Kong is the ultimate controlling
party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“the Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$100,382,696 during
the year ended 31 December 2021 and, as of that date,
the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
HK$156,441,176 and HK$12,440,978 respectively. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the
above, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the directors have
given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied
that the borrowing facilities from three of the Group’s related
companies owned by the ultimate controlling party of the
Company and the ultimate controlling party of the Company
for its working capital requirements for the next twelve
months will be available as and when required, having regard
to the following:

(i) Up to the date of the consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issue, three of the
Group’s related companies owned by the ultimate
controlling party of the Company agreed to renew
and not to demand for repayment for the borrowings
amounting to approximately HK$194,526,754 currently
included in the current liabilities at 31 December 2021
for at least the next twelve months.

(if) Undrawn borrowing facilities amounting to
HK$30,000,000 and HK$40,000,000 were committed
by a related company owned by the ultimate
controlling party of the Company and the ultimate
controlling party of the Company respectively.

2.

BB (B

BEGE AR RME TH LEER
FEEMHREER  RAKEASHE
BREREAIHERN R - AEBERI R
ERAZEEASEEN BT ETHEA
AR MBI EAME RS EHERD
TAEZHERASEEAMBREIARYL
A B & R &R K AES -

AEBREE-_TE-_—F+-_A=+—H1E
FE E A FE18100,382,6968 T 0 A%
ERZEANTBHAEFERABEFES
£156,441,17678 7T }12,440,978/8 7T » % =&
MRBRFEEATHETNE  AlgeEARE
E@EESECEZRENBERRER - Bt
AEBTIFEEBBAR T —ERGHE
EFHSBaERR -  BEFE LK -
REMBRERDEBESCERELERR R
AREFLEEERAEEE A RE R X
RARBHESHTE BEXREALXEER =X
B AR (RARARKRERAEB) AR
RARERERAZEERE DHER
RE-—BMAEEBEESHE REFTERA
TER HETIEERR:

(i) HEGEMBERRERETIZAEH -
REBZRBEEH AT (BEARRRE
TRAHEAREEEBETHREL R
R+tZEAREREER-_ZT=_—F
TZ A=+ —H AR ##194,526,754
BLTZEEERFTARDER) -

(ii) KRIEEUE B g & A£30,000,0007 7T &
40,000,000/ 7T + Jh AR &) & 4 4E IR
FHEBZ—RBH AR RARA &
BB A DB EEED -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
2.

1 1 4 Imperium Technology Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Having taken into account the above, the directors consider
that the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
meet in full its working capital requirements and financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to restate
the values of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
classify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phrase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(a)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform — Phrase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as modifications, and (ii)
discontinuing hedge accounting when an interest rate
benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates
(“IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the group does not have
contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates
which are subject to the IBOR reform.

Amendment to HKFRS 16,
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that
allows a lessee to by-pass the need to evaluate
whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
(“COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions”) are lease
modifications and, instead, account for those rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED

RMFAIREETERMBREE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Al ()
STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but (b) EEMEERERZHITRE

not yet effective

The Group has not applied any new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2021. These new and revised HKFRSs include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

EITERMBEREER

AEEBVEREFEAATEHME
R-TE-_—F—-—F—HHAMRZHEF
ERRERZHRT RBETE LM
BmELEL - RFMFTREERE
BB mEERBEIAT AT EAN
SEBERNER -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTERMRZEHEA

ZEHHBER

Amendments to HKFRS 16, COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
ERAPEREELFIH 2B T —FANAZTHZENTTHRSHAEN
HeRrE

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination — Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
ERVBRELAFEIR2BITXHEH — HAERNREM

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use
BEA G EREK 2EITME BELXE EBHERBANMERE

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
ERGEREITRZEITERELN — BITAHNHKAE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
EEMBREEN _Z-)\FE_Z_TFEHPNFENE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
B ENEIR 2B BAELEARYNERD

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

EEGHERFIRUBEBRER I EBREBENBRELNEB RS F295 2 BT
EREARMHE — SRR ZBKE

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors — Definition of Accounting Estimates
ERESHEAESRZEITEABE S EAZIRER — eHEHANES

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction

BB ERERREZETREN — BE—RFEENEERABRHEBNEL
i 18
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1 January 2022
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1 January 2022
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1 January 2022
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1 January 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned

otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment

properties that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting

estimates. It also requires management to exercise its

judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement

or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates

are significant to the consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

1 1 8 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

1 20 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Business combination and goodwill
(Continued)

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration
transferred is recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to
the Group.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation
currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each
entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency on initial
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

1 22 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Transactions and balances in
each entity’s financial statements
(Continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

= All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation
(Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

1 24 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The principal estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvement 2-5 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents plant and
equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
withdrawn from use. Any gain or loss on disposal of
an investment property is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property, and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 4(p).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for

all leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)

(i)

1 26 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)

(i)

1 28 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases,
the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to access whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative lease payments in profit or loss in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Game intellectual properties and licences, game
software, rights on esports team and trademark
acquired separately are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrencies on hand at the end of a reporting
period are accounted for under HKAS 38 Intangible
Assets, as an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life measured at cost, deemed to be the fair
value upon receipt as described in note 27, less

accumulated impairment losses.

The Company has classified cryptocurrency on
hand at the end of a period as a current asset as
management has determined that cryptocurrency
markets have sufficient liquidity to allow conversion
within the Group’s normal operating cycle.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

)]

1 30 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

— FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(n

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss
as other income.

Loan receivables

Loan receivables are loans granted to customers in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of loan
receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Loan receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

1 34 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL").

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

1 36 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from the manufacturing and
sales of household products

Revenue from the manufacturing and sales of
stainless steel furnishings products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the customers’
specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the
customers have full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from online games business
(a) Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games
developed by third-party game developers.
The Group licenses online games from game
developers and earns game publishing service
revenue by making a localized version of
the licensed games and publishing them
to the game players through distribution
platforms, include online application stores
(such as Google Play installed in mobile
telecommunications devices), web-based and
mobile game portals in certain countries and
regions (collectively referred to as “Platforms”),
including the Group’s websites.

The games licensed to the Group are operated
under a free-to-play model whereby game
players can play the games free of charge
and are charged for the purchase of virtual
tokens or other virtual items via payment
channels, such as the various mobile carriers
and third-party internet payment systems
(collectively referred to as “payment channels”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHHXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WHmRHEMBKAE)
Revenue from online games business K E AR L BRI 7 (B
(Continued)
(a)  Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (@) EEEITHRE K (E)

(i)

Principal Agent Consideration

Proceeds earned from selling virtual
tokens and other virtual items are
shared between the Group and game
developers, with the amount paid to
game developers generally calculated
based on face value of virtual tokens
or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting
certain deductible fees, multiplied
by a predetermined percentage for
each game. The deductible fees are
predetermined and negotiated game
by game, including the fees paid to the
payment channels and the Platforms, as
well as the credit allowable for deduction
for each game.

During the year ended 31 December
2021
arrangements under which the Group

there were game license
takes primary responsibilities of game
operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels,
providing customer services,
hosting game servers, if needed,
and controlling game and services
specifications and pricing during the
license period. Under this type of
game license arrangement, the Group
considered itself as a principal in this
arrangement. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenue from
these third-party licensed game on a
gross basis. Commission fees paid to
Platforms and payment channels and
amortisation of license fees paid to
third-party game developer are recorded
as cost of revenues.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business
(Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
(ii) Timing of revenue recognition

For the purposes of determining when
services have been provided to the
respective players, the Group has
distinguished between consumable
virtual items and durable virtual items:

— Consumable virtual items
represent items that are
extinguished after consumption
in the form of fixed charges
levied on each round of games
played. The paying players will
not continue to benefit from the
virtual items thereafter. Revenue
is recognised when the items are
consumed.

— Durable virtual items represent
items that are accessible and
beneficial to paying players over
an extended period of time.
Revenue is recognised ratably
over the average life of durable
virtual items for the applicable
game, which the Group makes
best estimates to be average
playing period of paying players
(“Player Relationship Period”).
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4.

(Continued)

(p)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

(Continued)

@)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(if)

Timing of revenue recognition
(Continued)

The Group estimates the Player
Relationship Period on a game-by-game
basis and reassesses such periods
semi-annually. If there is insufficient data
to determine the Player Relationship
Period, such as in the case of a newly
launched game, it estimates the Player
Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by
the Group or by third-party developers
until the new game establishes its
own patterns and history. The Group
considers the games profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players
of different demographics groups in
estimating the Player Relationship
Period.

If the Group does not have the ability
to differentiate revenue attributable to
durable virtual items from consumable
virtual items for a specific game, the
Group recognises revenue from both
durable and consumable virtual items
for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHHXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WHmRHEMBKAE)

Revenue from online games business K E AR L BRI 7 (B

(Continued)

(b)  Royalty income )  EFEEKA
The Group receives royalty income from AEEEERES = HF KR
third-party licensee in exchange for the EFEBRA  AZBERER
exclusive operation of the Group’s licensed ETHWEERELAEEHDY
games in certain region. The royalty fee REEE ZEANEEERS
includes a monthly minimum fee and an AxEREBREREGEHNERESRME
additional fee during the contracted license WENER WERE B
period, which is determined based on an BEAKKER AIFEININEA
agreed percentage of sales of the licensee WIFEEFFR A ZHE W
when it exceeds the monthly minimum fee EEOLET SAXKKEA
in that month. The monthly minimum fee is RENRERBIZ L O #ER -
recognised ratably over the contracted license HONBFNEBRREFATA
period. The additional fee is recognised when ZHEENERHBERED LR
the actual agreed percentage of sales of the EARBHEBAREERR
licensee exceeds the agreed monthly minimum R o

fee in that month.

(c)  Contract liabilities and contract costs ) EHEEREKA

For game publishing service revenues, contract MBERETRBK RS
liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised EHEREIZBRERBEEH
revenue from sales of virtual tokens and virtual ERiSWSER Sl il X
items for web-based games and mobile games, MR E Y G 2 ARSI
where there is still an implied obligation to be MASBEEESHENDERES
provided by the Group and will be recognised EAREZEYR BEN
as revenue when all of the revenue recognition Rl = iR IR R - 8
criteria are met. WRAEWE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHHXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WHmRHEMBKAE)
Revenue from online games business K E AR L BRI 7 (B
(Continued)
(c)  Contract liabilities and contract costs )  BRIBERELKLE)
(Continued)
Contract costs are mainly related to contract BHKAEEHEEG LU EEK

acquisition costs, which primarily consist of
unamortised commission costs charged by
distribution platforms. The Group recognises
contract costs in relation to commission
charged by distribution platforms, which
meet contract acquisition cost criteria as an
incremental cost of acquiring a customer
contract. They are capitalised as contract
acquisition costs and amortised over their
respective Player Relationship Periods, which
is consistent with the pattern of recognition of
the associated revenue.

Revenue from esports business

@

®)

Merit awards for esports competitions

The payments to merit awards for esports
competitions based on final position and
performance are variable consideration as
they are contingent on achieving certain
performance goals. Such merit payments are
recognised over time over the season at an
amount that is highly probable of not being
reversed when the uncertainty is resolved.

Live streaming

Live streaming revenue are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contractual term of
the agreement.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESHHXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WHmRHEMBKAE)
Revenue from cloud computing and data KREZETNEREBERFFH Kz
storage
(a)  Cryptocurrency mining (@) EEEFR
The Group engaged in the provision of REBEBREEMNE B BRLE
transaction verification services within NEHXFGRIRE BF

®)

1 42 Imperium Technology Group Limited

cryptocurrency networks, commonly termed
“cryptocurrency mining”. As consideration for
these services, the Group receives non-cash
consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
from each specific network in which the Group
participates and from the customers of the
Group. Revenue is measured based on the fair
value of the cryptocurrencies received. The
fair value is determined using the spot price
of the cryptocurrencies on the date of receipt.
A cryptocurrency is considered earned on
the completion and addition of a block to the
blockchain, at which time the economic benefit
is received and can be reliably measured. This
fair value is determined by taking the price of
the cryptocurrencies at 2400 hours (per the
Hong Kong Time zone).

Leasing of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

The Group engaged in the leasing of machines
to customers to engage in cryptocurrency
mining. The Group receives non-cash
consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
consideration calculated as certain agreed
percentage of the cryptocurrency earned by
the customers through their cryptocurrency
mining activities using these leased machines
during the lease period. These variable lease
payments are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from cloud computing and data
storage (Continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

The Group operates various post-employment
schemes, including both defined benefit and
defined contribution pension plans.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHEHE®)
(Continued)
() Employee benefits (Continued) (g EERHN@E
(i)  Pension obligations (i) BUhELEHEF

1 44 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to
profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

For the defined benefit retirement plans, the
liability (asset) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation less
the fair value of plan assets. When there is
a surplus in a defined benefit plan, the net
defined benefit asset is measured at the lower
of the surplus in the defined benefit plan and
the asset ceiling. The defined benefit obligation
is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates
of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related
pension obligation. If there is no deep market
in such bonds, the market rates on government
bonds denominated in that currency are used.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Pension obligations (Continued)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit
liability (asset)
gains and losses, the return on plan assets

— which include actuarial

(excluding amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (asset)), and
any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding amounts included in net interest on
the net defined benefit liability (asset) — are
recognised in other comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss. Service costs and
net interest on the net defined benefit liability
(asset) are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period
to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
However, if the Group remeasures the net
defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the
Group determines net interest for the remainder
of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using
the benefits offered under the plan and the plan
assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability or asset during the
period resulting from contributions or benefit
payments.

4. FESTHR®E
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

1 46 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits,
and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants
are measured at the fair value of the services
rendered or, if the fair value of the services rendered
cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured
at the date the Group receives the services and is
recognised as an expense.

Annual Report 2021

FTESHHE®E)
() EETH
(iii) BRI
AMERIBERUT RS &%

(r)

ERER BEASEBEEH
EZERANZEZNEREXR
SEERBEAKRAL SR X
NEHRILHER -

LR ABERNNTRK

AEERETREZRTUARELE
W AR 0 23 BB E) T 50 o DA B A4S
BAABRODRERNRITIERA
TARLASMNAAREBEGETSRB
RIFRZERINGTE - WIREEE
WIA R B ERAM RN E LA H
MAREBEINREBHBEAERE
BREASERGTSZEETHRBHOR
- UWHIETGHEBIRTFOTZENR
B -

MR EEEY AR RERRAES
KE8 XN RIRRE N B B
TANRAREREFRMSERE
BHRENTE)GE URBEEY
AN AERONRRNEHBHE
ERRARE DHRERNEEGFS

REREBORN (LIETESRB &M
MEBETRHE)ERBYANZAER
RS e
) B8 ] S 2 DA B i 48 30 A B {7
REVONRBAREHERBORRL

BHE AMARERBEOQE
TR E - MIEMEHRAT
EMAREFE - AREREAEER
ESRBERE THERARFEX -
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FESTHR®E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

(s)

t)

(u)

BE KA
EERAEELHEANRBEANER -

AT 2 B

BRFEMENREAERIAEEKE
STABMERERE BRG] E
ERBE T LARE R o

7 ¥ 18 78 78 B S T M ER £ I A AR S
ZHFRERM @RELEANA RN
ARz MEANBEREHER -

B 1R

s IR ERELRE R
B o

BIEIEN BT IR A E ERV %
MAE BREENEREMFERE
ZRERB S AT I 2 W A BB X TR
B ReBTAMOHR2EE KA
RIEZRBONEMNTE - A& E R
HRBACBENERARKRESHER
MEETHREECETZIREAE -

FENEEEERAR

2021 8 147
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

1 48 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for
such investment properties are measured based on
the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

1 50 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.
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4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value
of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

1 52 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

(w)

TREEZRE®)
1= B 7 B A & 2 ()

— R—EHEANEMLER TA
MEERBRBZELM:

- EHEANESE  LBEXKM

REFERKBBHNEZT
FEE  BWEBABERR
HIBE NFRE T % o

B AT ANEROM AEER
iR 2% fisi & 40 7 3 780 HA B 3@ 30K - J
TREENFEERRB YV XHER
RN ﬁ?iFKE.*ﬁamﬂﬁﬂ
EERBIYEBZEMMNEGIEYE
BH - BItERIG -

BEML MREBTARKEH
KASAERKEERR  BIAEERA
REZeMITAZEERBRE MM
RERBEBELZN - EBMTAA
BEREZEERR  BRE:

(i) eMTEAEMNENRREIE -

(ii) BRAEE ALY H &
ETTEE\%"jiﬁi/MEZ%%
)53

(iii) %g&ﬁiﬁ#EiZ$ﬂ

Bl F—EGREMLERA
BiT6& ?ﬁﬁi/llbiﬁﬁkzﬁb
jjo

EENEEEERAT

2021 &5 153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

1 54 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

1 56 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting
date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash
flows used for determining the expected credit losses
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring
the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

4. FESTHR®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

(x)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position
at the end of the reporting period are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies,

the directors have made the following judgements

that have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the consolidated financial statements

(apart from those involving estimations, which are

dealt with below).

()

(i)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends upon the financial
support of the three related companies
owned by the ultimate controlling party of
the Company and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the
Group. Details are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distinction between investment
properties and owner-occupied
properties

Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals and another portion that
is held for use in the daily operations of the
Group. If these portions can be sold separately
(or leased out separately under a finance lease),
the Group accounts for the portions separately.
If the portions cannot be sold separately,
the property is accounted for as investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production of goods. Judgement
is applied in determining whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property. The
Group considers each property separately in
making its judgement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Deferred tax for investment
properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax for
investment properties, the directors have
adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale.

Consolidation of entity with less
than 50% equity interest holding

Although the Group owns less than 50% of
the equity interest in Cubizone Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd, Cubizone Philippine
Corporation and Cubinet Interactive Philippines
Corporation, these entities are treated as
subsidiaries because the Group is able to
control the relevant activities of these entities
as a result of the shareholders’ agreements
between the Group and other shareholders of
these entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

1 60 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to
12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset
moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset to the
Group’s operation.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
During the current financial year, no lease term
has been reassessed.
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5.

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Estimates of the Player Relationship
Period for online game business

As described in Note 4(p), the Group
recognises revenue from durable virtual items
ratably over the Player Relationship Period. The
determination of Player Relationship Period
in each game is based on the Group’s best
estimate that takes into account all known and
relevant information at the time of assessment.
Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation on
a semi-annual basis. Any adjustments arising
from changes in the Player Relationship Period
as a result of new information will be accounted
for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate.

Revenue recognition for online game
business

Pursuant to game publishing and operation
arrangements signed between the Group and
the third-party game developers or Platforms,
the Group’s responsibilities in publishing
and operating the licensed games vary for
each game. The determination of whether
to record these revenues using gross or net
basis is based on an assessment of various
factors, including but not limited to whether
the Group (i) is the primary obligor to the
game developers and game players in the
arrangements; (i) has latitude in establishing
the selling price of virtual items; (iii) changes
the products or performs part of the services;
(iv) has involvement in the determination of
product and service specifications; and (v) has
the right to determine secondary Platforms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z T - —F+_-_A=+—HItEE
5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(ix)

1 62 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Revenue recognition of
cryptocurrencies mining

There is currently no specific definitive
guidance in HKFRS or alternative accounting
frameworks for accounting for the revenue
recognition from cryptocurrency mining as well
as subsequent measurement of cryptocurrency
held.

Management has determined that revenues
should be recognised as the fair value of
cryptocurrencies received in exchange for
cryptocurrency mining services on the date
that cryptocurrencies are received and
subsequently classified as an intangible
asset. Management has exercised significant
judgement in determining the appropriate
accounting treatment. In the event authoritative
guidance is issued by the HKICPA, the Group
may be required to change its accounting
policies, which could have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(x)

Useful life of cryptocurrencies
mining equipment

The cryptocurrencies mining equipment is used
to generate cryptocurrency. The rate at which
the Group generates cryptocurrencies and,
therefore, consumes the economic benefits
of its cryptocurrencies mining equipment is
influenced by several factors including, but not
limited to, the following:

— The complexity of the cryptocurrencies
mining process which is driven by
the algorithms contained within the
cryptocurrencies open source software;
and

— Technological obsolescence
reflecting rapid development in the
mining machines such that more
recently developed hardware is
more economically efficient to run
in terms of cryptocurrencies mined
as a function of operating costs,
primarily power costs (ie., the speed
of cryptocurrencies mining machines
evolution in the industry) is such that
later cryptocurrencies mining machine
models generally have faster processing
capacity combined with lower operating
costs and a lower cost of purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(x)

Useful life of cryptocurrencies
mining equipment (Continued)

Based on the Group and the industry’s limited
history to date, management is limited by the
market data available. Furthermore, the data
available also includes data derived from the
use of economic modelling to forecast future
digital assets and the assumptions included
in such forecasts, including digital asset’s
price and network difficulty, are derived
from management’s assumptions which are
inherently judgmental. Based on current
data available, management has determined
that the straight-line method of amortisation
best reflects the current expected useful
life of cryptocurrencies mining equipment.
Management will review their estimates at
each reporting date and will revise such
estimates as and when data become available.
Management will review the appropriateness of
its assumption related to residual value at each
reporting date.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

are discussed below.

1 64 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Annual Report 2021

5.

ERHEHREZMET B

(a)

(b)

FERE s BEK 2z EE ¥ ()

(x)

NEEHHRIEZ TR
HER (%)

ERNAEEREXTEERES
ESLAER BEREXASMS
BB PTIR B o LS - RIS B
BETEREREBERIER
ARBFEEMS L 2 8UR -
MmzxEFRAFESZHEER(E
REFEEZBREBKEE)
BEAE L RHEE &R
BR®Z - RIEREAGEHE -
EEECETHEREHEIR
ERBRMNTZEBEREREZ
EABEHAERFY - BE
BEEREHREBHMERHEM
iR ESHERFETAR
Mt - EEERRNERSE
At £l R ek EE 2R

AERRELHEE -

A THBER 2 EEZRIR

A R 5 B A5 SRR B OR 2R I E b R
THEIRFZZ EZRENEZRE -
BTEMBFEANEERBEDN
FHEERBEAABRZERNARAE
X e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

()

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

Further, the cash flows projections, growth
rate and discount rate are subject to greater
uncertainties in the current year due to
uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve and volatility
in financial markets, including potential
disruptions in the Group’s manufacturing
operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

()

(i)

1 66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31
December 2021 were HK$33,895,356 (2020:
HK$8,575,540) and HK$46,845,654 (2020:
HK$11,809,411) respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less
than the expected, or change in facts and
circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

Furthermore, the estimated cash flows and
discount rate are subject to higher degree of
estimation uncertainties in the current year due
to uncertainty on how the COVID-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve and volatility in
financial markets.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period was HK$2,982,214 (2020:
HK$2,982,214) after an impairment loss of
HKS$NIl (2020: HK$8,000,000) was recognised
during the year. Details of the impairment
loss calculation are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives

Determining whether intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit to which intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The carrying
amount of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives at the end of the reporting period
was HK$499,999 (2020: HK$499,999). Details
of the impairment loss calculation are provided
in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Recoverability of game intellectual
properties and licenses

The Group tests whether game intellectual
properties and licenses suffered any
impairment every six months and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Judgement is required to identify
any impairment indicators existing for any of
the Group’s game intellectual properties and
licenses, i.e. the remaining period of licensed
games, the performance of those launched
games and etc. If there is a significant adverse
change in the games’ performance, it may be
necessary to take additional impairment charge
to the profit or loss.

The carrying amount of game intellectual
properties and licenses at the end of the
reporting period was HK$26,891,514 (2020:
HK$24,620,197).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

1 68 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an
professional valuer to assess the fair value of

independent

the investment properties. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and
are satisfied that the method of valuation and
inputs used are reflective of the current market
conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the
Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
has resulted in greater market volatility
depending on how the COVID-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve, which have led to
high degree of uncertainties in respect of the
valuations in the current year.

The carrying amount of investment properties
as at 31 December 2021 was HK$22,201,938
(2020: HK$23,389,782).

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment
loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward
due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(vi)

Impairment of trade receivables
(Continued)

Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered
by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current
year as there is higher risk that a prolonged
pandemic could lead to increased credit default
rates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note
6(b).

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is HK$26,976,583 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of HK$5,047,390)
(2020: HK$13,307,468 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$2,434,883)).

(vii) Allowance for slow-moving

inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is
made based on the ageing and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

As at 31 December 2021, allowance
for slow-moving inventories amounted
to approximately HK$544,000 (2020:
HK$4,106,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EZHERFEMFTE
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EETFHBERZEZEERIEE)
(Continued)
(viii) Actuarial assumptions on defined (viii) REFF B2 BB

benefit retirement plans ERR
Accounting for defined benefit plans may ARTERMETE 2 ABRAIEEE
be complex because actuarial assumptions #ORERFERBER “’LW’E
are required to measure the obligation and féfé&ﬁaﬂi%% CEBRER
the expense, with the possibility that actual HERTERAEEERE - b F
results differ from the assumed results. These Eﬁ’ﬁz BB EE A
differences are known as actuarial gains ERFMEAUNTEHENER
and losses. Defined benefit obligations are EETE B AEEMAERE
measured using the Projected Unit Credit ARERMYER RBTH
Method (PUCM), according to which the Group MR RS TERNERN S
has to make a reliable estimate of the amount FEITRI S 5T o ﬁt?\\ ' E?\i
of benefits earned in return for services ERMFEESESMNE
rendered in current and prior periods, using g ﬁ’il%\zﬁ\fﬁ E‘l‘E‘f’%‘JéfLsz
actuarial techniques. In addition, in cases MAnE- At FHAEHE
where defined benefit plans are funded, the MNEREIRZEBERK -
Group has to estimate the fair value of plan HERZBEAODSFRE (10
assets. As a result, the use of the PUCM b T - 2R K R KF )
involves a number of actuarial assumptions. K B 7 R 5% (R BE 3R &« %7 Bl
These assumptions include demographic & ﬂ7j<¥) ZEBEIR
assumptions such as mortality, turnover and FIET - PJREEATR BRI IR B K
retirement age and financial assumptions such =8 Ilﬁt A e Y R ER A
as discount rates, salary and benefit levels. EEEREATE

Such assumptions are subject to judgements
and may develop materially differently than
expected and therefore may result in significant
impacts on defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of retirement benefit E’:‘: T+ A=+ —

obligations as at 31 December 2021 was AR KE %'J?CTEE’J@EETE

HK$382,360 (2020: HK$555,558). 7%382 360B T (ZE-_T &
555,558/ JT) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest

rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s

financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HKD, United
States dollars (“USD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Malaysia
Ringgit (“MYR”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) and Thai
Baht (THB”). The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2021, if the HKD had weakened
5 per cent against RMB with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax for
the year would have been HK$1,504,000 (2020:
HK$1,526,000) higher, arising mainly as a result
of the foreign exchange loss on cash and bank
balances denominated in HKD. If the HKD had
strengthened 5 per cent against RMB with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax
for the year would have been HK$1,504,000 (2020:
HK$1,526,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the
foreign exchange gain on cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

1 72 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents
is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with acceptable credit-rating
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’s established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HHKEBRERE®
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) ERRRE
Trade receivables (Continued) EREZRN (&)
The following table provides information about the TREJNEUAEER_ZT_—F
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade TZA=T—BZERESERNE
receivables as at 31 December 2021: AR EREHEEBE AR :
2021
—E--E
Household products and property investment Online game Esports Total
FEERRNERE RLER ETHER @it
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance rate amount allowance rate amount allowance amount allowance
BAERE RE&E BERE EEEEEZ REEE BERE EEEEZ RE4HE BERE REAE BERE
% HK$ HK$ % HK$ HK$ % HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
% AR B % o En % b En R o
0-30 days 0E30K 0% 7,700,113 - 100% 1,131,115 (1,131,115) 0% 1,294,106 - 10,125,334 (1,131,115)
31-60 days 31260K 0% 2,235,660 - 54% 1,050,007 (565,707) 0% 904,645 - 4,190,312 (565,707)
61-90 days 61290K 0% 4,150,865 - 50% 1,076,958 (539,950) 0% 331,776 - 5,565,509 (539,950)
91-120 days 91E120K 0% 6,213,754 - 16% 28,856 (4,748) 0% 1,783,061 - 8,025,671 (4,748)
121150 days ~ 1212150% 0% - - 55% 60,614 (33,618) 0% 1,255,475 - 1,316,089 (33,618)
151-365 days ~ 151E365K 0% - - 100% 82,781 (82,781) 0% 28,716 - 111,497 (82,781)
Over 1 year £ 0% - - 100% 2,689,471 (2,689,471) 0% - - 2,689,471 (2,689,471)
20,300,392 - 6,119,802 (5,047,390) 5,603,779 - 32,023,973 (5,047,390)
FEREEMARA T 0021 &% 173
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HMERBER®E
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) ERRRE
Trade receivables (Continued) EREZRN (&)
2020
“E-FE
Household products and property investment Online game Esports Total
FEERRNERE RLER BTHR @it

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss  Expectedloss  Gross carrying Loss  Expectedloss  Gross carrying Loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance rate amount allowance rate amount allowance amount allowance
bk BHAE FEARE  EDEEX FHEME FEAE  EDpEE FHEME FRER BEAE BEEA
% HKS HKS % HKS HKS % HKS$ HKS$ HKS HK$
% BT B % I o % B o B B
0-30 days 0Z30% 0% 162,028 - 45% 1,587,379 (715,402) 0% 216,313 - 1,965,720 (715,402)
31-60 days 31E60K 0% 264,251 - 64% 420,848 (270,159) 0% 1,081,817 - 1,716,916 (270,159)
61-90 days 61290X 0% - - 64% 448,812 (288,110) 0% 8,142,580 - 8,591,392 (288,110)
91-120 days 91E120K 0% - - 60% 319,635 (193,040) 0% 1,612,804 - 1,932,439 (193,040)
121-150 days 11Z150% 0% - - 64% 279,079 (179,152) 0% 21,687 - 306,766 (179,152)
151-365 days ~ 1512365K% 0% - - 64% 1,229,118 (789,020) 0% - - 1,229,118 (789,020)
Over 1 year 3 0% - - 0% - - 0% - - - -
426,219 - 4,084,871 (2,434,883) 11,081,201 - 15,742,351 (2,434,889

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past two years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HERBRERE®
(b) Credit risk (Continued) EARRE
Trade receivables (Continued) EREZRN (&)
Movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables FHN BEBREZEZINBERES
during the year is as follows: EJRUNNE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January n—H—H (2,434,883) (2,400,186)
Impairment losses recognised for the year R #ER 2 B & 18 (2,687,266) —
Reversal &g - —
Exchange differences ME N Z 74,759 (34,697)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—AH (5,047,390) (2,434,883)

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the
increase in the loss allowance during 2021:

— origination of new trade receivables net of
those settled resulted in an increase in l0ss
allowance of HK$2,687,266.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s investments at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the period was therefore
limited to 12-month expected losses. Instruments are
considered to be low credit risk when they have a low
risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

RZTZ—%  DTERKE SRR
HEAENENEYEHEREE
®m

- EEXEFRREIRHEZEES
REER ) EBUE B BHEIE
2,687,266 JT °

BEBFEXLINEZ & BEE

AEBRBEXAIE ZMAERE
HEASEEARR  SHERHRA

RZEBEBEBEEERN2EAEDR
BR-ETACZEORBREAZETT
AEBERHAETHEANRERE
BEREZRYDRENR EEERA/L
AZERERIE -

FENEEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z T - —F+_-_A=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. HMKEREE®

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EHRARR@®
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBELLIN Rz EMEEE)
(Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost include deposits, BFEBHEKANERE 2R EERIER
other receivables and prepayments and loan - HEMERRIERENRENR
receivables and interest receivables. FEWE R K BT B -
Movement in the loss allowance for financial assets at FRNEBHEKEINECCREES
amortised cost during the year is as follows: BEEBZEHBERNT:
Loan
Deposits, other receivables
receivables and and interest
prepayments receivables Total
Be - HttEWK EWEZR
HEREMRE FE W A B @t
HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-_ZTF—H—H (2,273,315) (7,808,747) (10,082,062
Impairment losses recognised FHNERAZAEBLE
for the year (3,489,299) (1,300,000) (4,789,299
Reversal #mE 1,567,672 - 1,567,672

At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 RZ-Z_T&#+-_A=+—
and 31 December 2021 2R -#—-fA-AkK
ZEI-FTZA=T-

B (4,194,942) (9,108,747) (13,303,689)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that

it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group, based on undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the

6. HHXEBEREW®W
(c) "BELEAR

AEENBEATEHREZEANNE
HREe2k UBRHEERR
EReHEEBE UnTEEHEES

MRBESRE -

UTHERBIRNBERERFAE
BHTHANIMBE Lt kK
FERERE(BREAGOF EH (L0
FE)RIE R S A R AR KRG
FOHEXMEAEETENH

reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can =P A -
be required to pay.
2021
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
—B--E
HEADH - ARERERL

More than ~ More than Total
1yearbut  2years but undiscounted
less than 2 lessthan ~ More than cash
Ondemand  Within 1 year years 5years 5 years outflows
-ENEE WEMLE AfERE
BREX —-EHn SRAE PREE BENE THAE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT &R B B
Trade payables ERESER - 5,361,514 - - - 5,361,514
Lease liahilities HE8k - 8,949,239 5,619,700 - - 14568,939
Due to related companies ERBEELFNE - 204,050,000 - - - 204,050,000
Other payables and accruals EfEAER R - 78,717,729 - - - 18,717,729
- 297,078,482 5,619,700 - - 302,698,182
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

1 78 Imperium Technology Group Limited

6. HXERERE®

Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) "RBELERE
2020
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
2
AR - AMERERL
More than More than Total
1 year 2 years undiscounted
butless than ~ but less than More than cash
Ondemand ~ Within 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years outflows
—FNHE RN HE AMERS
REX —EhR PRAE PRAE ik HHEE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT B BT BT BT BT
Trade payables ERBAER - 5,134,462 - - - 5,134,462
Lease liabilities HEEE - 4,258,757 4,995,252 - - 9,249,009
Due to related companies ERBBLAANE - 111650000 71,050,000 - - 182,700,000
Other payables and accruals i EREREEE - 79183711 - - - 79183711
- 200,221,930 76,045,252 - - 276,267,182
Interest rate risk (d) FI== b

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily
relates to its bank deposits, loan receivables, loan
from related companies and other payables that are
interest bearing.

The Group’s bank deposits bear interests at variable
rates that vary with the then prevailing market
condition.

The Group’s loan receivables bear interests at fixed
rates and therefore are subject to fair value interest
rate risk.

The Group’s loan from related parties and other
payables of approximately HK$194,526,754 (2020:
HK$169,328,042) and approximately HK$5,391,000
(2020: HK$10,850,000) respectively bear interests at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE
6. HMKEREE®

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, if interest rates had been
100 basis points lower with all other variables held
constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$104,000 (2020:
HK$180,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of lower
interest income on bank deposits. If interest rates had
been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$104,000 (2020:
HK$180,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of higher
interest income on bank deposits.

Categories of financial instruments at
31 December

(d)

(e)

A 2R = By ()

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H8" ¥
& TEI00E E 2 Hubpra &
BRETE  FREAHKRBEER
15 18 A1 #49104,000/8 T (T T 4F ¢
180,000 ) - F ZEH RN W ITF K
R B AR D BT R - W F
E EF00ME £ & - H b Fr A & &
RETE FRNEEHRTEEBEER
A > #9104,0008 T(ZE ZF F:
180,000/ 7T) * F ZAHNRITHF XA
M BU AN Z R -

R+=-ZA=+t—BzE&®MIA
28

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets: StREE:
Financial assets measured at BEBEK AT EZEMEE
amortised cost 96,922,125 102,068,738
Financial liabilities: tRaE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WHER A E2S/MBE | 265,998,178 | 231,836,262

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

(f)

FENEEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:

included within level
observable for the asset or liability,

inputs other than quoted prices

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

1 80 Imperium Technology Group Limited

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Annual Report 2021

1 that are

DREFE
RRERME2EENAEARNETZE
FREFHEEEMRBMIEBERAEMS
NZzER -UTAREFEREERANQ
REEAGRRAEANENRERMZ
DESR=ERBR:

F1ER2 AEBARFERD
GHHEREELEE
2B S RECRE

HE) -
F2EAR2H: FIBRERZHRE
AON2 B % S & 8
2o
EIBEMB2H: BESBBEZITAE
R2H -

AEBOBR DN EHZEB ZEH IR
MEHBREHEARRE =ZEERTOHEM
—EERNBAREL -



7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value

7.

DMREFE®E
(@ R=F=-—-%+-A=+—H

hierarchy at 31 December 2021: WARBEERKERE:
Fair value measurements using: Total
MABTEFANER: @t
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
EH E1ER H2EB& $EIBH —E--f
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B B
Recurring fair value REMDABTE:
measurements:
Investment properties REME
Office units — Malaysia WABMN — FRAD - - 22,201,938 22,201,938
Fair value measurements using: Total
AREHEFANER: B
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
EH FIER E2ER Ry e S 3
HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT
Recurring fair value BEMQAAETE
measurements:
Investment properties REM%E
Office units — Malaysia WREN — BRAD - - 23,389,782 23,389,782
BENEEEERAR 2021 4% 181
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e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTE®E
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) REFEIBHREAAETEMN
fair value based on level 3: EEYHK:
Description 2021
B8 —%=-
Investment
Properties
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2021 wnZZE-_—%—8—H 23,389,782
Total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (#) ERIEZERZWENEBEEEH (450,250)
Exchange difference [ 5 =% (737,594)
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—F+-A=+—8 22,201,938
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of #BIERBEH R FAEENRE
reporting period &8 (450,250)
Description 2020
HE —E-EF
Investment
Properties
WEME
HKS
BT
At 1 January 2020 RNZZE-FF—H—H 24,540,315
Total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (#) DRIEBHRERZWFHEEBEEH® (1,490,726)
Exchange difference fE 5 =5 340,193
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTFE+_A=+—H 23,389,782
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of (# EFENBEHAKRFZFAEEMH KK
reporting period (g2 (1,490,726)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in other operating expenses
(2020: other operating expenses) in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at 31 December 2021:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial
controller reports directly to the Board of Directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the Board of Directors at least

twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements are mainly:

— Floor level difference (estimated based on
actual data)

— Size difference (estimated based on actual
data)

— Time difference (estimated based on Property
Guru Malaysia Property Market Index.)
— Location difference (estimated based on

valuation experts’ in-house database)

— Asking price (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

7. DR

(c)

CEFE(E)

R=—®=—F+=g=+—8
5 9 0 5% A A9 15 LR R R
SOMEL B AT BR R 40 4 1B BT R
SHNHE

AEENMBREERERMBRS
ETHENEERBEZANBER
EREFEEBRLAAETE) BB
BERZEANEFEEERNES
ZEFR MBREREEEeFFE
MR REEEFREBEER

HESERAREFEMS  AEE
%ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁg%’%ﬂfﬁ& RABXRERNK
METHELCR ZIINPEEERER

=

=

X

EIB/AABHBHFEAONTER
TBRSHTEA:

— BEZR(ERERHBE 2
E1p)

— HEEZZEREBHEEZMG
E1p)

— B = & (E W Property Guru
Malaysia Property Market
Indexfd &)

— UEEZREENRGEERAN
IR E b ED)

— FEERMGEZER A EHE
[ & 51)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z T - —F+_-_A=+—HItEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AARETTEE
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) R=E=-_—F+=-H=+—H
the Group and valuation techniques and rEEFRFEANGERRFRAD
inputs used in fair value measurements AREFEMEANGERTR
at 31 December 2021: (Continued) SENEE (8
Level 3 fair value measurements FEIERLLETE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of
Description technique inputs Range inputs Fair value
SYEMERARE
BB fRER TUBESY §E 2 DAE
2021 2020
—E--ZE| ZT-TF
HK$ HKS
B A
Investment property Market comparable  Time difference 0% (2020: -4.6% to -1%) Decrease 22,201,938 | 23,389,782
— Commercial building located  approach
in the Malaysia
RENZE - URBRAD B THLRE B ZE 0% (ZZZF%:-46%%-1%) B
AE
Location difference 0% (2020: 0% to 5%) Decrease
uEZE 0% (ZZ=FF : 0%E5%) By
Floor level difference 0% (2020: -3% to 3.5%) Decrease
BEZZE 0% (ZF-F%:-3%%35%) B
Size difference -3.53% to -2.87% Decrease
(2020: -3.3% to -2.1%)
HEZE -3.53%Z-2.87% B
(ZZZTF:33%E-21%)
Asking price -3% (2020: 0%) Decrease
Fi(E 3% (ZZ=FF %) B
During the two years, there were no changes in the PREFERN EWEMKAZ
valuation techniques used for investment properties. HERMT I B E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

8. REVENUE 8. Wz
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) Wz=EA4H
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with AEERFZEEMIRBEEH» 2
customers by major products or service line for the BEP&EHWEPEMANT
year is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—=F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Revenue from contracts with EEMBHRELERE165
customers within the scope of BRZEFAHWE
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or REEERARBREES 2
service lines BH 48
— Household products —RXEE® 80,463,579 | 145,453,186
— Game publishing —EE BT 21,419,774 23,055,819
— Cloud computing and data storage —EFERYSERT 5,215,825 —
— Esports —BFHEE 33,735,681 13,536,813
140,834,859 182,045,818
Revenue from other sources H 3R OR U =
Rental income from investment properties X &ME LKA 1,401,422 1,401,650
Interest income from money lending BB 2 F BB A
business 1,870,487 2,916,057
Rental income from cloud computing and E:FE M HiERHFHEZE
data storage machines & WA 17,017,598 —
161,124,366 186,363,525
EENEEEERAT 2021 % 185
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 & EZ T -—F+ - A=+—HItFE

8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. W&m®
- - . pYA =
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (a) WM&
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of AEEBZUNTEEERGERIBERE
goods and services over time and at a point in time KEERE - HHEBEZE D LR
in the following major product lines and geographical THEE W
regions:
Household products Online game Property investment Money lending Esports Cloud computing Total
SEER Srig nERE ik | L5343 2iE ai
For the year ended 31 December HETZA=T-ALER 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Z§s-E | CRCRF | C%-F | DR | ZBI-F | D3R4 | Z®I-F | CRC%E | ZgI-F| CTO%F | ZRC-F| CRORF | ZRI-f| CTO%E
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
A T A AT BT BT A AT # & B o A7 AT
Primary geographical markets ITHETS
— Hong Kong -Ek = | 10072029 | 1,638,000 - - - | 1870487 | 2916057 - - 21,950,156 — | 25,458,643 | 103,636,353
— PRC except Hong Kong -3 (FREEE) 80,463,579 | 44732,890 - - - - - —| 32,675,085 | 13,191,982 263,267 — | 113,421,981 | 57924822
— East and South East Asia -RORRES - — | 19781774 | 23095819 | 1401422 | 1401650 - - - - - — | 21,183,196 | 24,457,469
— Other -Ef - - - - - - - - 1,0605% 344 881 - - 1,060,59% 344 881
Segment revenue Az 80,463,579 | 145453186 | 21,419,774 | 23095819 | 1,401,422 | 1401650 | 1,870,487 | 2,016,057 | 33,735,681 | 13536813 | 22,233,423 — | 161,124,366 | 186,363,525
Intersegment revenue PRI - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Revenue from external customers RENBERZUE 80,463,579 | 145453186 | 21,419,774 | 23055819 | 1,401,422 | 1401650 | 1,870,487 | 2916057 | 33,735,681 | 13,536,813 | 22,233,423 — | 161,124,366 | 186,363,525
Timing of revenue recognition RERREE
Products transferred at a point n time ERRE-HRYEY 80,463,579 | 145,453,186 - - - - - - 839,512 377,015 - — | 81,303,001 | 145830201
Products and services transferred over time ERRBRERRER - — | 24419774 | 23055819 | 1,401,422 | 1401650 | 1,870,487 | 2,916,057 | 32,896,169 | 13,159,798 | 22,233,423 — | 79,821,215 | 40533324
Total & 80,463,579 | 145453186 | 21,419,774 | 23055819 | 1,401,422 | 1401650 | 1,870,487 | 2916067 | 33,735,681 | 13,536,813 | 22,233,423 — | 161,124,366 | 186,363,525
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

OTHER INCOME 9. HikA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 7T
Bank interest income R R B UL A 41,747 136,466
Government grants (Note) KT v B (B 7E) 100,518 1,296,602
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BMERIZE WS
equipment - 298,213
Investment income E WA 108,120 234,869
Gain on lease modification MEEBT 145,874 4,575
Gain on disposal of an intangible asset HEREEE K= - 4,827,284
Gain on bargain purchase mERBERR - 455,616
Reversal of impairment of other receivables i JE U SR TE R (B 2 (] - 1,377,740
Written off of deferred revenue I 58 I JE U 2= - 2,401,419
Others Hh 295,288 338,062
691,547 11,370,846
Note:  Government grants mainly related to the subsidy received from e B EBEZEBEAEE 2R AT K

the local government authority for the achievements of the Group
of HK$68,708 (2020: HK$133,606). During the year, the Group
recognised government grants of HK$31,810 (2020: HK$1,162,996)
in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies, of which HK$Nil (2020:
HK$957,730) relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by
the Hong Kong government.

T H 4 W Y 2 2 BE68,70878 T (—ZE - T 4F:
133,606/ 7C) BB - MARF E - A& E#E R
¥18 5 5 48 B 4 B ) BUAT O£ 831,810 T (=
T T F 11629968 L) HFEZ B T (ZF
ZTF 957,730 L) R BB BT IR H#

IR 5E AT E -

FENEEEERAR
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10.

1 88 Imperium Technology Group Limited

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has six (2020: five) major operating segments as

follows:

Game publishing — marketing and operation of mobile
games and computer games

Cloud computing — to engage in cryptocurrency

and data storage mining and rental of machines
to customers to engage in

cryptocurrency mining

Esports — participating in esports
competitions, streaming and
marketing event, and merchandise

sales

Household products — manufacture and sale of stainless
steel furnishings and home
products

Property investment — rental income from investment
properties

Money lending — interest income from money

lending business

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated finance cost and unallocated corporate
income and expenses. Segment assets do not include
unallocated deposits, other receivables and prepayments,
unallocated cash and bank balances and unallocated other
corporate assets.
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AREZA(CE-2F R)ELBLES
B0 -

LERETT — HEREETHE
I5k K2 7B il 5 6K

EEREERT PSRN &8 M A
EPMELRAFMNE

i R0k =

BFHR — EMBTHEL
B RRERTS
i R B R 7 %

=

St

|

mt

2o
|

HERIHETH M
RERFKEM M

MERE — BREMEZHEESHK
A

& - BMEERHZHBEK
A

REE 2 B DA HENRE®R KR
B2RBUEEBEL ARZIOHBFED
R MR M S #EERE  REAHRDH
SR DAL

KED Bz @A BE LS B ®KM T
AfTitEMERE - D HERZAETBIERDE
BEXAUARRDECERARMZ - 5
HEELTRERSEES - HEi B
BRBNRIE RAoBRBE2 RRTEHRU
RADREMPEEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 Eizi_?:—fﬁ-?—:ﬂ =t+—HIEFE
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. ZFEHRE)
Information about operating segment profit or loss and EHREDIBEREEZEAR:
assets:
Cloud
computing
Game  and data Household ~ Property Money
publishing storage Esports  products investment lending Total
EiER
EEET  HERF ETRR  ZEER  NERE HE &
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B BT B b BT B b
Year ended 31 December 2021 B2-B--£+-R=t1-A
L5E
Revenue from external customers REndErP L E 21,419,774 22,233,423 33,735,681 80,463,579 1,401,422 1,870,487 161,124,366
Intersegment revenue FHELE - - - - - - -
Segment profit/{loss) "* Pt/ (58 (49,000,621) (10,900,917) (13,473,984) 1,385,362 951,173 (876,803) (71,915,790)
Interest revenue %‘J & 807 1,023 23,724 16,191 - - 41,745
Interest expense e (59,203)  (439,079) (60,597)  (374,341) - (2,095,264) (3,028,480)
Depreciation and amortisation Tﬁ’é&ﬁ% (9,520,703 (15,105,971)  (6,050,208)  (1,751,862) - (14,018) (32,442,762)
Income tax credit/(expense) FERES/ (B 15,973 - (76,382)  (117,823) (21,483) - (199,715)
Additions to segment non-current assets ERRE T §F 20,273,386 79,834,683 2,927,661 1,423,330 - - 104,459,060
Other material non-cash ftem: EERFRSER:
— Impairment of assets - AERA (9,687,266) (10,065,474) - - - - (19,752,740)
— Net fair value loss on investment - RENELLEREE
properties - - - - (450,250) - (450,250)
As at 31 December 2021 RZBZ-%+Zf=1-H
Segment assets PHEE 56,343,348 97,741,234 60,783,336 30,873,383 22,201,938 8,118,837 276,062,076
Game Household Property Money
publishing Esports products  investment lending Total
EEET  EFHRR XEEm  WERE i Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-E-TF+-A=+—H
EEE
Revenue from external customers R BN EIE F 2 i 23,055,819 13,536,813 145,453,186 1,401,650 2,916,057 186,363,525
Intersegment revenue EEEL S - - - - - -
Segment loss NEERE (45,960,457) (11,163,273) (6,880,086)  (101,488)  (517,895) (64,623,199
Interest revenue ﬂ B 712 3868 131,869 - - 136,449
Interest expense R EFZ (70,042) - (1,965,793) = (2,593) (2,038,428)
Depreciation and amortisation Tﬁ EREE (11,159,948) (2,681,723) (4,259,715) (90,310)  (376,269) (18,567,965)
Income tax credit/(expense) 15 E“E Tfi %/ (R%) (133,828) - (635,948)  (130,265) 12,529  (887,512)
Additions to segment non-current R E 2 IR B EE
assets 16,426,189 26,582,525 153,228 - — 43,161,942
Other material non-cash item: ~ HtEAFHELER
— Impairment of goodwil —HERE (8,000,000) - - - —  (8,000,000)
— Impairment of assets —-EERME (3,488,596) - - —  (1,300,000) (4,788,596)
— Net fair value loss on -RENERAAERER
investment properties - - - (1,490,726) - (1,490,726)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ-FRF+-A=+—H
Segment assets DHEE 57,905,438 60,344,569 55,603,004 23,389,782 12,527,730 209,770,523
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. o HER @)
Reconciliations of segment revenue and THBERBERZHER:
profit or loss:
2021 2020
B —F —ETETF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue Y &
Total revenue of reportable segments AJER 3R o> B0 2 4B UK % 161,124,366 186,363,525
Elimination of intersegment revenue ez bas Il & - —
Consolidated revenue RE W 161,124,366 186,363,525
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-THF
HK$ HK$
BT & 7T
Profit or loss B
Total loss of reportable segments AR D M BEE (71,915,790)| (64,623,199)
Unallocated finance costs K9 AL g B AR (7,598,192) (5,906,183)
Unallocated corporate income RoBEEERA 643,669 262,739
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBEEMAE (21,512,383)| (11,603,244)
Consolidated loss for the year FRNEGZEEEBE (100,382,696)| (81,869,887)
Reconciliations of segment assets: PTHEEHR:
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments AR Bz REE 276,062,076 | 209,770,523
Unallocated deposits, other receivables and RAOMZES - EMERFKIE R
prepayments TET R IE 1,104,204 1,017,715
Unallocated cash and bank balances AoBER e NIRRT 8,076,065 7,865,326
Unallocated other corporate assets AP EMPEERE 3,251,263 5,116,443
Consolidated total assets MEBEE 288,493,608 | 223,770,007
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. o HER @)
Geographical information: hE &R

AEEREFPHHBEOREINBELZI
mARREEMHEDIERDEEZEN

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of
customers and information about its non-current assets by

location of assets are detailed below: FBWT
Revenue Non-current assets
W = ERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—ER-—F | _TFTF | ZBZ—F | _T_TF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Hong Kong BB 25,458,643 | 103,636,353 | 90,329,684 | 34,822,087
PRC excluding Hong Kong FE(TRERBE) (113,421,932 | 57,924,822 | 24,037,292 | 25,855,204
East and South East Asia REMREIE 21,183,196 | 24,457,469 | 37,978,965 | 35,129,385
Other Hh 1,060,595 344,881 - —
Consolidated total & 161,124,366 | 186,363,525 152,345,941 | 95,806,676
Revenue from major customer: REFEEFEFZzWH:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Household products segment KIEE mH &
Customer A ZFEA 40,048,422 4,648,309
Customer B ZFB - 120,273,838
FEREEMARA T 2021 #5191
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11.

1 92 Imperium Technology Group Limited

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 11. EEEABEX
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Employee benefits expense BRERMNAX(BEEEME)
(including directors’ emoluments) (note 12): GEIE
Fees e 396,000 396,000
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e o~ B4 MR 40,460,777 55,970,600
Equity-settled share-based payments LR EEEST ARG BERED
3R 7,466,336 923,408
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORE T FHEH 3K 3,461,397 4,459,379
51,784,510 61,749,387
Five highest paid individuals TEBREFMAL

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the

year included three (2020: one) directors, one of them was

resigned on 30 April 2021 and became key management of

FAXKEELGRSFMALTEBE=2(Z

TE_TF:—R)EF AP

FERZZE

“—FOA=THEE BUHEEAEET

the Group since then, whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented in note 12. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2020: four) individuals and the emoluments of
the one resigned director after became the key management
of the Group during the year are set out below:

EEEE WEFZMENME12MI 2
DA - FABKTMEB(ZT_FF: MH)
ATHHE R - RERETASEETZE
BEENBTIESOMSEIDT:

2021 2020

—E-—F —EETF

HK$ HK$

T & 7T

Basic salaries and allowances HEARF & KER 1,903,647 2,610,607

Discretionary bonus B 15 TE 4T - 48,620

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREAME B 30,000 67,500
Equity-settled share-based payments AR A B AR 73 AT

(NEA 1,995,317 -

3,928,964 2,726,727

The emoluments fell within the following band:

e FTHNEBEZRE :

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-THF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T 7T £1,000,0007% 7T 1 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,0005 7T 2 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

12.

EEEARER
(a) EE=ME
BREZEZHFMOT:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEABREZ(FRAZMRIENRLARRRHEAIRUME
Emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
Remunerations the management
(Note i) Employer's paid or receivable of the affairs of
Estimated contributiontoa in respect of the Company
Discretionary  money value of retirement  accepting office Housing  or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries Bonus other henefits  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
HEZERANT
(Wit Exi kg JENELTER
AHE  BAEAHY BEEH SENERER
He gt BERL  fHEREE 25 AEhEH RERE SHdRUME a3
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
En A B # B #n B E B
Name of director  £3:2
Evecutive directors §figz
~ M. Cheng Ting Kong -gTkRE - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
— Ms. Yeung So Mui ; - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
= Mr. Lin Jun Wai (note i - 480,000 - 497,365 12,000 - - - 989,365
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung (note il i) 2-Sikatia) - 443,226 - 5,087,987 11,661 - - - 5,542,874
— Mr. Luk Wai Keung note v By %R - 576,553 - - 6,000 - - - 582,553
— Mr. Leung Kiwok Yin [note v) - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-gxecutive directors
— Nr. Tse Ting Kiwan 132,000 - - - - - - - 132,000
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa 132,000 - - - - - - - 132,000
= Nr. Ting Wong Kacee 132,000 225,000 - - - - - - 357,000
Total for 2021 CEC-E4E 396,000 1,964,779 - 5,585,352 41,661 - - - 1,987,792
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEEARER (B

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@ EEM£®
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors FA BESRITERABENERE
waived any emoluments during the year (2020: ERETM @ﬂl (22T F TF
HKS$NI). JT) °
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or i s subsicliary undertaking
REAREES (FRALLTIERBATRR BACNTRNHS
Emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director's other
services in
connection with
Remunerations the management
(Note Employer's paid or receivable of the affairs of
Estimated money contribution i respect of the Company
Discretionary ~ valug of other  toarefirement  accepting office Housing ~ or its Subsidlary
Fees Salaries Bonus benefts  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
§$ g/\u
Exfi  fEREE AERBLTXR
RT3 Eir%ﬂr SENABRE
Bt #e [afez 5 ARk REEE CHakkNS i
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT £ AT AT BT BT BT £
Name of director 32
Evecutive drectors EGEH
~ Mr. Cheng Ting Kong -OTER - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
— Ms. Yeung So Mui G - 120000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
— Mr. Luk Wai Keung (note iv) Ef - 1,729,698 - - 18,000 - - - 1,747,658
— Mr. Leung Kok Yin [note v) - 216,000 134,000 - - - - - 350,000
Independent non-executive directors
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan 132,000 - - - - - - - 182,000
= Mr. Fung Tze Wa 182,000 N - - - - - - 182,000
— Nr. Ting Wong Kacee 182,000 - - - - - - - 182,000
for 2020 CECREER 396,000 2,185,658 134,000 - 30,000 - - - 2,745,658
Notes: o o
(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include rent paid, (i) HtF=HE¥EEeREeEE -
share options, etc. Bk ESE
(ii) Appointed on 30 April 2021 (i) REZB-_—FNA=1THEZF
(iii) Appointed on 20 May 2021 (iii) RZZE_—FARA-+HEZRHE
(iv) Resigned on 30 April 2021 (iv) RZZE_—FMA=1+HEE
(v) Resigned on 7 April 2021 (v) RZE——FWAEHEE

1 94 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 — T - — &+ _A=+—HILFE

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EER®ARER (H)
(Continued)

(b) Information about loans, quasi-loans (b) BBEARARAIEAQAKELT
and other dealings entered into by the URBEEBEREZENLIEAS
Company or subsidiary undertaking of BAZER  EERRHEMEK
the Company in favour of controlled ZZERWOT:

body corporates of Mr. Leung Kwok Yin
is as follows:

Qutstanding Maximum
amount at the QOutstanding outstanding Provision
Total amount beginning of  amount at the amount  Amount due for doubtful Interest
Name of borrower payable the year  end of the year ~ during the year but not paid debts made Term rate Security
READ REXR £R IS BfELRE
RAARE EffE HABESE WAEESE AERRREE GAXNLE & il % ER
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B AT BT AT B AT
Asat31December 2020 R-Z-FF
tZA=t-8
Amounts due from related  EMEB AFIFE:
companies:
JF Household Furnishings Not applicable 4,737,355 Not applicable 4,737,355 - - No fixed Interest free Unsecured
(BVI) Ltd (note) repayment
TR TR EEEEFNH %8 BER
Total for 2020 “E-ER4E Not applicable 4,737,355 Not applicable - -
TR ek
Note:  JF Household Furnishing (BVI) Ltd is no longer a related e HEXEARUBBRES)ARAA
party of the Group during the year ended 31 December REBE_ZT_TFR-_T=_—F+=
2020 and 2021. A=+ —BLEFETBAAEENEA

B AT -
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12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

12. EERANRES 5

(c) Directors’ material interests in () EERXRZ  REHERESHFTH
transactions, arrangements or EXAER
contracts
Save as disclosed in this consolidated financial BRRARNGEMEIRETMBEEEI
statements, no other significant transactions, AEBMEREERITILARA A
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s BRI ARARAIEE RN EEH
business to which the Company was a party and in EATEESHEREERAERZM
which a director of the Company and the director’s RERSIFAFAEBDATED
connected party had a material interest, whether EMEARS  LTHERELH -
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BER K
2021 2020
—EBEC-—F —E-=F
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Interest on bank borrowings and overdrafts WTEERBEIFE - 1,788,907
Interest on other borrowings HiEEF S 9,756,123 5,744,496
Interest on lease liabilities HEaERNE 859,915 411,208
Interest on royalty payable ERNERESF S 10,634 —
10,626,672 7,944,611
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+ - A=+—HILFE

14.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

14. FiEHAX

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax BNEARRIE — PRI EFTER
Provision for the year I SR 194,205 635,948
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVEARIE — HAFEFH
Provision for the year NEEZRE - 156,973
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETNR - 12,413
Over-provision in prior years BATEBEREG (15,973) (12,529)
(15,973) 15,857
Current tax — Malaysia Corporate Tax BNEARIIE — BRI ER
Provision for the year NFE B 21,483 -
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETR - 117,852
21,483 117,852
Current tax — Taiwan Corporate Tax BVEATRIE — AEE R =%
FTig®t
Provision for the year NEEGHE - 39,285
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETR - 78,570
— 117,855
199,715 887,512

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established
in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entitles not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of
25% (2020: 25%) on the estimated assessable profit for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Malaysia Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 24%
(2020: 24%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BEMAHANESHEBEEHNE EFEEXNLZE
&% £ B E 2 12,000,000 s fE R FOE A & iR
8.25% 2 E BB IE - MBBZEE &
R16.5% 2B R GBI IE - T A A FIBH
MEHEERZEEER 265 #E1%16.5%
Z R o

BE-T-—F+-A=+—HALEE @Y
PRS2 1 5T FE SR BOB R B R 25% (Z T T4 -
25%) {E -

BE—_T-—F+-_A=+-—HItFEE EXAa

D ER TR E R R R T R 24% (Z BT F
24%) {E B -

FENEEEERAR
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Taiwan Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 20%
(2020: 20%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax

14.

FrE BB <@
BEENEXMEGHIBE_T_—F
T-A=1t " BLFEMHTERE G MNIZ
20% (T -ZF : 20%) Z B KB -

Hofth b [ &R B i M) 2 BR B S T RR A AR

SEREMERREMHEERERITHM
BAD B RIEMFE -

FERmXERRABRERTFET

1 98 Imperium Technology Group Limited

expense and the product of loss before tax

multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

rate is as follows:

RrERBE2RBERMT:

2021 2020

—E-—F —E T4

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Loss before tax b 1 B s 1B (100,182,981)| (80,982,375)

Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate
of 25% (2020: 25%)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable

Tax effect of expenses that are not
deductible

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

(Over)/under-provision in previous years

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not
previously recognised

Tax effect of temporary differences not
recognised

Income tax expense

1P B 1 3 P15 i A R 25%
ZEFF25%) 5B

BERBMANBIE T E

TAABRASZORBEEE

HEARTAB RNy E
BEFE(BERE), BETR
REERBLE BB BLS 2

B % A1 K B BRI 4B O LTS

=787
e —

AEREHZENORBEE

PrERAx

Annual Report 2021

(25,045,745)

(20,245,595)

(1,366,434) (12,687,827)
6,939,966 23,642,757
8,428,046 6,605,300

(15,973) 196,306

11,793,756 7,730,176

(532,344) (3,854,885)
(1,557) (498,720)
199,715 887,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

15.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging the

15. FREE
AEBYENERDEMNBR T EEE:

following:
2021 2020
—EZ—F —EEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Auditor’s remuneration % AN B & 1,650,000 900,000
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFEEKA 73,633,541 134,065,957
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEhmPEEEEEGIAHEE
(included in cost of sales) B ZAR) 13,003,228 11,537,767
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME BELREZEIE
equipment 690,915 —
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment ¥ ¥ - BELRREZITE 7,440,492 4,209,148
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FTHEEENE 14,658,596 4,961,261
Write off of property, plant and equipment MW BRER&E 94,747 —
Impairment on intangible assets (included in BEEERBEGIAEMEE
other operating expenses) FX) 7,000,000 1,566,969
Impairment on goodwill (included in other EmEREGIAREMEERT)
operating expenses) - 8,000,000
Impairment on cryptocurrencies (included in mEgEREGATERRAR)
administrative expenses) 7,004,817 —
Impairment on cryptocurrencies deposits mEEBZesRERNEER
and receivable (included in administrative BAEGFATTEFA )
expenses) 3,060,657 —
Operating lease charges — buildings KEHEER — 22£Y 870,959 1,715,353
Equity-settled share-based payments to M) B 8 2 A5 2 DA B 4 S0 A
consultants B 10 A E R R - 923,408
Net exchange losses FHIE R EE 3,003,800 2,647,532

EHEFEXNABREEIRARITEY
29,194,869/ L (Z T = T F : 22,151,276/%

Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs and depreciation
of approximately HK$29,194,869 (2020: HK$22,151,276)

which are included in the amounts disclosed separately. o) BEFA LD RIIEE 2 RIER
DIVIDEND 16. K E

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company FR AR TERNKXERRE(ZZZ
during the year (2020: Nil). TEE) o
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17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRE#E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is EREAREEEEBIIRE T EETE

based on the following:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZTF
HK$ HK$
BT P TT
Loss Eia
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and ~ FARFTEZSBREAREEHEN
diluted loss per share &5 18 (99,031,460)| (80,214,996)
2021 2020
—ECZ—F T2 F
Number of shares R&GEA
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EEREARL #EEIE 2
for the purpose of calculating basic and I AR N RE TS E
diluted loss per share 303,070,904 287,206,000
As the Company’s share options during the year ended 31 AR EHE-ZS-_EGFR_ZE-_—F+=H8
December 2020 and 2021 do not give rise to any dilutive —tT—HLEFE ARAZERET&EY
effect to the loss per share, diluted loss per share was the tHx ERETREMNEELE  HREEZ
same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 T—-F i& T —F+A=1+—HIHF
December 2020 and 2021. B Sk#ESERESRERNEEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+ - A=+—HILFE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ BERKHE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvement machinery equipment vehicles Total
B £EBR
HELE REREH %M L] @
HKS HKS$ HKS HKS$ HKS
AT AT BT AT BT
Cost A
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-%€-A-H 6,730,062 32,910,393 4,793,824 1,666,800 46,001,079
Additions NE 3,410,817 122,456 1,123,233 - 4,656,506
Disposal hE (135614) (13,038,004 (2,800,999) (127,920 (16,102,627
Write off 5 - - (57,584) - (57,584
Exchange differences EXEE 361,600 2,044,875 281,327 105,619 2,798,421
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZZEE+ZA=T-0R
“3--F-f-H 10,366,865 22,039,630 3,339,801 1,544,499 37,290,795
Additions NE 108,894 449,688 34,643,390 - 35,201,972
Disposal HE - (10,483,394) (273,914) (665,207) (11,422,519)
Write off 5 (8,817) - (1,192,741) - (1,201,558)
Exchange differences ERZE 247571 387,285 76,168 31,703 742,727
At 31 December 2021 RZE-F+-f=+-H 10,714,513 12,393,209 36,092,704 910,995 60,611,421
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE
At 1 January 2020 R-F-5€-A-H 4,425,485 25,530,120 3,034,881 1,295,528 34,486,014
Charge for the year Engit 2,162,219 974,055 971,349 101,525 4,200,148
Disposal hE - (9,347 542) (2,506,529) (115,108 (11,969,199)
Write off 5 - - (57,584) - (57,584
Exchange differences EXEE 164,929 1,560,246 234,064 87,637 2,046,876
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZZZZE+ZA=T-0R
“3--F-f-H 6,752,633 18,716,879 1,876,181 1,369,562 28,715,295
Charge for the year ERF I 1,831,581 301,352 5,286,836 20,723 7,440,492
Disposal HE - (8,108,374) (245,029) (598,687) (8,947,090
Write off i (8,817) - (1,097,994) - (1,106,811)
Exchange differences ELZE 214132 320,853 41,934 28,300 614219
At 31 December 2021 RZE--FE+ZA=+-H 8,789,529 11,244,710 5,861,928 819,898 26,716,065
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2021 R-E_—F+-A=+-H 1,924,984 1,148,499 30,730,776 91,097 33,895,356
At 31 December 2020 WZTZEET-R=1-H 3,614,232 3,322,751 1,463,620 174,087 8,575,540
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19.

202 Imperium Technology Group Limited

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. BEWYE
The Group leases out various offices under operating leases AEBUKEHENFALEAZEARAE
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an MeBAZXN HEMNVIRBEHBERS A —
initial period of 1 to 3 years. Majority of the lease contracts EoF o WEBEATEELNE  BIRZH
contain market review clauses in the event the lessee HEAGRHBREMIEEE KA -
exercises the option to extend.
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result HRFBEHELNEEERESENEE
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in BB SAEEIgEEELH AR
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The HNERKR - FHEARTESEREERE,
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/ S EBATRAHEREBEEZYEAE
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of B
lease term.
2021 2020
—E - —E-EF
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
At 1 January HR—H—H 23,389,782 24,540,315
Fair value losses NREER (450,250) (1,490,726)
Exchange differences E W ZE%R (737,594) 340,193
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 22,201,938 23,389,782

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2021
and 2020 on the open market value basis by reference to
market evidence of recent transactions for similar properties
by Jones Lang LaSelle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, an independent firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for investment properties was derived using the
market comparable approach based on recent market prices
without any significant adjustment being made to the market
observable data.
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FAEEE
Leased
properties
HEwE
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF—F—H 12,529,460
Modification &R 3,971,957
Depreciation e (4,961,261)
Exchange differences PEH =58 269,255

At 31 December 2020 and RZE-_ZTEF+-_A=+—8K

1 January 2021 —E-—%F—H—H 11,809,411
Addition NE 53,125,667
Modification 1B (3,573,056)
Depreciation e (14,658,596)
Exchange differences fEH =% 142,228
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+=-A=+—H 46,845,654

Lease liabilities of HK$13,535,221 (2020: HK$8,436,515) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$13,196,591
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$8,033,356). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

R-ZBE-_—F+-A=+—B8 H@TH%
B 13,635,221 L (ZE ZF 4 : 8,436,515
B EHERHEEAE13196,5918 T (=F
—ZFF:8,033,356/8 ) c RAEAMMAARE
MEEEEMEREZERZI HEBBLE
BUTEMEZE  HEEEFASEAAMNE
FEPHE IR o

2021 2020

—EC-—-F —T-THF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets F AEEEMNITEE B 14,658,596 4,961,261
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABENMNERZ(GFARE

(included in finance cost) X A) 859,915 411,208

Expenses relating to short-term lease HEMEERER A GIAHE

(included in cost of goods sold, BmKA - HERDHEKA

selling and distribution, and administrative) A RAITERFE) 870,959 1,715,353

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
38(e).

FHAMEREREEFENFBH N T
38(e) °
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20.

For both years, the Group leases various offices,
warehouses, and factory for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of two years to three years
(2020: two years to three years). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

EREEEW)

MERE AEEHERBEERLE A
EERBMERNES - HEARNETEHR
AMEE=F(ZZ_ZF MEFE=F)-
M DERENELEER YREZETRE
AR B AR A o E T R AP S A
HHIRE AEERBANESR  LHETE
& R AT 58 B # T R HAER o

21. GOODWILL 21, BE
2021 2020
—E=-— —E-FHF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cost A
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+=ZA=+—8 16,482,214 16,482,214

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January

Rt BEEE
m—A—H

Impairment loss recognised in the current year 7 £ & 2 #& 372 1) 6 B &5 18

At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H

204 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) that are

21.

BE %)

EEBEHTRBZHERNKRBROET
BB EZEHaHTESNREELSE

expected to benefit from that business combination. The N(HReELESM]) HENEEES K
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: NS
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Online games: i3 A
Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd. and its Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn.
subsidiaries (the “Cubinet Group”) Bhd. & H [t & 2 7 ([Cubinet
£ED 2,982,214 2,982,214
In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment, BREEis EXfRSTENDE BEK
right-of-use assets and other intangible assets that HE - FRARAEREMBEEEEERMN
generate cash flows together with the related goodwill are BAEENHARNBRESEAEMETRE
also included in the respective CGU for the purpose of FEAE o
impairment assessment.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined REELEEM2AKBESBEIHEAMIIRE

on the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.

TREZREECHEEETE -MHRRE
um%iﬁ’]ixﬁi?&ﬁﬁﬁﬂqﬁ’]ﬁﬁfﬁx VR

CEHEMNERREXENRER - AKHE
%ﬁﬁmﬁl I RMBERREE - MARBBATL

ENRBREMMSHEEREEERR S
ELXBEMBERRNNMG BREUNRS

ELBUREEBAAELEBNREFHL
BREERQER BAEMNETREEEMA
BEBIREMESERNBEHSER -

FENEEEERAR
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21.

206 Imperium Technology Group Limited

GOODWILL (Continued)

The cash flow projections, growth rates and discount rate
have been reassessed as at 31 December 2021 taking into
consideration higher degree of estimation uncertainties in
the current year due to how the COVID-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve and volatility in financial markets.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years with the residual period using the growth
rate of 2.01% (2020: 2.01%). This rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the
Group’s online game activities is 19.52% (2020: 16.83%).

At 31 December 2021, before impairment testing, goodwill
of HK$16,482,214 was allocated to the Cubinet Group
within the online game segment. Due to the defer in plan of
publishing mobile games, the Group has revised its cash
flow forecasts for this CGU. The CGU has been reduced
to its recoverable of approximately HK$7,607,000 (2020:
HK9,499,000) and an impairment loss of HK$Nil (2020:
HK$8,000,000) recognised on goodwill during the year.
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TFE 200 GHRESRETAR - =
TEBLAEAMENREFHEREK -

AR AE@mE B EHKER
WERENLL X AB1952% (ZE - F:
16.83%) °

R-Z-—F+-"A=+—8  REEIR
AT - 7 216,482,214/ T E 9 B & Cubinet
SEMNG LB E o BN TR T
FEEE AEBCREIRASELEEM
MIREREBN ZRSCELEEMERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 - - —F+ - A=+—HILFE
22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. BILEE
Game
intellectual
properties and Game Rights on Money lending
licenses software  esports team Trademark license Total
FEASEER VET
it EERE  RHBzER [ HEER @t
HKS$ HKS HKS$ HKS HKS$ HKS
B B B B BT BT
Cost A
At 1 January 2020 RZ5-F-A-8 20,250,108 5,083,048 - - 499,999 25,833,195
Acquisition of a sulbsidiary (note 38(a)) 42 i B 2 &) (1 £38(a)) - - - 7,300,000 - 7,300,000
Additions WNE 34,542,629 - 18,818,370 - - 53,360,899
Disposal hE (7,75,000) - (1,086,370) - - (8,841,370)
Exchange differences ELZE 221010 - 1,338,400 - - 1,559,410
At 31 December 2020 and RZEZSE+ZA=+-H
1 January 2021 “5--%-f-H 47,258,647 5,083,048 19,070,400 7,300,000 499,999 79,212,094
Additions RE 16,935,535 - - - - 16,935,535
Exchange differences EXEE (380,484) - 521,600 - - 141,116
At 31 December 2021 RZE--F+-f=+-H 63,813,698 5,083,048 19,592,000 7,300,000 499,999 96,288,745
Accumulated amortisationand EH EHERFEEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-ZF-A-H 13,892,075 5,083,048 - - - 18,975,123
Amortisation 5 8,921,068 - 1,765,032 851,667 - 11,537,767
Impairment RE 1,566,969 - - - - 1,566,969
Disposal e (1,926,356) - (181,061) - - (2,107,417)
Exchange differences EXEE 184,694 - 5229 - - 189,923
At 31 December 2020 and RZE-ERET-A=1-A
1 January 2021 RZE--%-F-H 22,638,450 5,083,048 1,589,200 851,667 - 30,162,365
Amortisation B 7,685,955 - 3,807,273 1,460,000 - 13,008,228
Impairment HE 7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000
Exchange differences ERZE (402,221) - 104,504 - - (297,627)
At 31 December 2021 R-E_-F+-A=1-H 36,922,184 5,083,048 5,561,067 2,311,667 - 49,867,966
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2021 RZE--F+-A=1-A 26,891,514 - 14,040,933 4,988,333 499,999 46,420,779
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FET-A=1-H 24,620,197 - 17,481,200 6,448,333 499,999 49,049,729
FENBEEERAR 2021 3% 207




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
22.

208 Imperium Technology Group Limited

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group’s license of HK$499,999 (2020: HK$499,999) at
31 December 2021 is assessed as having indefinite useful
life because the license has a limited term of 1 year but
would be able to be renewed annually at minimal cost. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and any conditions
necessary to obtain renewal would be satisfied. The license
will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be
finite.

At 31
determined that there was no impairment of the

December 2021, management of the Group

cash-generating unit (“CGU”) containing the license with
indefinite useful life. The recoverable amount of the CGU
containing the license has been determined on a value in
use calculation. The Group prepared cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
the directors for the next 3 year period.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 12%
(2020: 12%)).

The average remaining amortisation period of game
intellectual properties and licenses, rights on esports team
and trademark are 1 to 3 years (2020: 1 to 3 years), 3.4
years (2020: 4.4 years) and 3.8 years (2020: 4.8 years)
respectively.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of its game intellectual properties and licenses classified
as intangible assets in 2021, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products. These assets are used
in the Group’s online game segment. The review led to the
recognition of an impairment loss of HK$7,000,000 (2020:
HK$1,566,969) for game intellectual properties and licenses
that have been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable
amount of approximately HK$4,448,000 (2020: HK$NIl) for
the relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their
value in use using discounted cash flow method. The rate
used to discount the forecast cash flows is 16%.
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RZBZ—F+A=+—RH0 KAEEHNE
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23.

24,

INVENTORIES 23. ®E&
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 7T
Raw material E 979,828 7,527,569
Work in progress R 98,042 1,220,113
Finished goods B RX on 97,783 7,956,152
1,175,653 16,703,834
LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST 24, ERERRKRERTE
RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
—EBC-—F —EF-=F
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Loan receivables, net of provision JE B FR (0 Bk ) 6,432,677 9,850,693
Interest receivables JE A B 516,657 607,461
6,949,334 10,458,154
The maturity profile of loan receivables and interest RBMEBHERER L EWRF BIZEGTH
receivables at the reporting date is analysed by the remaining HEHANBEZ BEBERNAT:
periods to their contractual maturity dates as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —_E-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within one year —&FRK 6,508,098 5,205,225
In the second year EF 441,236 4,799,158
In the third year EFE=F - 453,771
6,949,334 10,458,154
The carrying amounts of the loan receivables and interest FEWE R R B B 2 BREE TR Ty
receivables are denominated in HKD. g -

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, all loan receivables are
unsecured, bear interest at fixed rates and are repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the customers.

R=T=—

FENEEEERAR

FR_F_FTFE+_A=+—8H -
PRERIKERBEER
RZEBEFHEMEEHRERE -

BEEN KGR
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25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

25. EREZERM

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 7T
Trade receivables U E 5 R R 32,023,973 15,742,351
Allowance for doubtful debts RER BB (5,047,390) (2,434,883)
26,976,583 13,307,468

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90 days.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by directors. The
aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on
the invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

ARBEEARHERRELEITRS -
L

A =7

— MR FI0E0K - B EF i

BEESR AEBREREESERRER
HEMBRER 2RED

G CINE

2021 2020

—E-—F —EFF

HK$ HK$

BT AT

0-30 days 0E30X 8,994,219 1,250,318
31-60 days 31E60K 3,624,605 1,446,757
61-90 days B61E90XK 5,025,649 8,303,282
Over 90 days 90K A £ 9,332,110 2,307,111
26,976,583 13,307,468

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

AEBRKRESERZEEBEBATIEE

denominated in the following currencies: FHE:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HKD B IT 664,163 491,863
RMB AR 24,136,936 10,077,839
UsD ET 1,593,438 2,561,974
Others H it 582,046 175,792
26,976,583 13,307,468
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DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

26. B HMEWRERBANSRE

PREPAYMENTS

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETHF
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Deposit g 11,711,668 10,874,718
Prepayments TEF R IE 8,724,753 8,830,813
Other receivables H b e W 5K 18 8,258,330 12,279,467
28,694,751 31,984,998
CRYPTOCURRENCIES 27. IEEH
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and RZE_ZTF—AF—H ZEFF+=A
1 January 2021 —t+—HERZZE-_—F—H—H —
Additions NE
Cryptocurrencies mined BERENZEE 5,215,825
Cryptocurrencies received B U 1= B 32,648,215
Total additions NE BEE 37,864,040
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposit HAMEREEFR (7,864,689)
Cryptocurrency paid BERmEEH (324,521)
Impairment during the year FRRE (7,004,817)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+=ZH=+—H 22,670,013
EENEEEERAT 2021 3% 211
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27. CRYPTOCURRENCIES (Continued) 27. MEE¥HE)
At 31 December 2021, the Group held cryptocurrencies R-_TE-_—F+-_A=+—HB A£EE@HF
representing carrying amount of HK$22,670,013 (2020: BRE(E22,670,013 B LM MEZmEK(ZFT =
HK$NIl). The breakdown of which can be seen below: TFE T HEI)c HRAMAWT:
Coins/tokens HK$
BIEEE R & TT
USDT & Tether (stable coin — fixed to USD) USDTHE R ZE ¥ (BT
— HEETEE) 1,300,000 10,137,400
Ethereum — ETH Ethereum — ETH 251 7,249,007
Filecoin Filecoin 12,834 3,413,467
Chia TR 2,302 1,870,139
At 31 December 2021 RIE_—F
+=ZA=+—8 1,315,387 22,670,013
28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 28. BERMBITER
As at 31 December 2021, the cash and bank balances of the RZEBEZ—F+=A=+—8B ' K&
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$22,580,229 MARENEBE2RERFETESRD A
(2020: HK$20,952,114). Conversion of RMB into foreign 22,580,229/ JT (=& = T £ : 20,952,114/
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control T ARBHBABIINEABBEHREINEE
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and BEOIARGE - EERNEERRTE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and bank REB 2R RBITHKEEEBENETI
balances are denominated in the following currencies: B 5IE -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-=F
HK$ HK$
BT &I
HKD BT 13,233,751 31,583,890
RMB AR 22,580,229 20,952,114
Usb 7T 3,282,792 1,069,070
MYR = 402,034 231,684
THB Zr 8K 457,311 408,107
Philippine Piso (“PHP”) FREERR(RRD 7,010 140,603
NTD e 3,033,765 668,327
EUR R 7% 29,318 95,136
43,026,210 55,148,931
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TRADE PAYABLES 29. ENESKRX
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 7T
Trade payables B E SRR 5,361,514 5,134,462
The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to HEF—RETAEE0EIORMNEEH -
90 days from its suppliers.
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of ENEZERZBIREMB SR 2 RE DT
receipt of goods, is as follows: N
2021 2020
—E-— —T_THF
HK$ HK$
BT & T
0-30 days 0E30XK 2,279,556 3,386,040
31-60 days 31E60X 667,081 33,710
61-90 days B61E90XK 643,419 45178
Over 90 days 90K F 1,771,458 1,669,534
5,361,514 5,134,462
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AEBRNESERZERBENUTIER
denominated in the following currencies: FRER
2021 2020
—EZ—F —T-TF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
RMB AR 2,070,302 2,702,079
UsbD e 3,215,666 2,353,608
THB B0 75,546 54,965
MYR °HE - 23,810
5,361,514 5,134,462
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HE&AE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BREHESH EEEENRHNERE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—2--F “TITF = it 2
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B BT
Within one year —R 8,049,239 4,253,757 8,145,346 3,755,132
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -ZEhF (BEERME) 5,619,700 4,095,252 5,389,875 4,681,383
14,568,939 9,249,009 13,535,221 8,436,515
Less: Future finance charges BARBEER Not Not
applicable applicable
(1,033,718) (812,494) TEH TEA
Present value of lease obligations ~ AEET 2B E 13,535,221 8,436,515 13,535,221 8,436,515
Less: Amount due for settlement B t—HEARNELENLE
within 12 months (shown under GIRRBEEET)
current liabilities) (8,145,346) (3,755,132)
Amount due for settlement after TZHARFHEENSS
12 months 5,389,875 4,681,383

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ARHEagcgs
range from 1.55% to 9.55%. (2020: from 2.47% to 14.02%). F955% 2 M(ZE =
14.02% 2 &) °

=

& R =Z A F1.55%
THE N F247T% =
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities are
denominated in the following currencies:

30. HEASEM®H)
AEBEZHERBENRTIERIIE:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HKD BT 1,410,930 2,527,997
RMB AR 7,331,491 4,243,070
NTD ek 853,483 1,665,448
SGD b0 T 343,477 —
uUsD =TT 3,595,840 —
13,535,221 8,436,515
LOAN FROM RELATED PARTIES 31. REBBAIZ2ER
As at 31 December 2021, the Group received loans from RZEZ_—F+ZA=1T—H KEEEB

three (2020: two) related parties with principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 in total (2020: HK$ HK$180,000,000).
These loans were unsecured, interest bearing from 0% to 2%
per annum and repayable within one to three years. The fair

THZEZZEF WA BB REBA
& & #200,000,000% T(=Z T = T F:
180,000,000 L) 2 EH - ZEE R B E
T HEBORE2%AE N AR —EZF

value of these loans were estimated at the prevailing market
interest rates for equivalent loans of 5% on initial recognition.

NEER -ZEERZ

KA R ZRITHIHF 5% HE

AN
YNUIV

By iR @

N 1
@ /A B

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32. HbENRERESTIEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T4
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current liabilities REBAE
Deposits received Bl & 406,843 515,482
Accruals fEEtIER 33,659,757 28,394,379
Receipt in advance T8 W 5k 18 10,792,820 21,458,892
Loan from third parties (Note (a)) REE=H2ERK (@) 5,390,505 10,850,005
Rovyalty payable (Note (b)) FE < 5 51 4 & (B 5E (o) 3,595,037 3,870,837
Other payables H fth & 5018 23,057,768 13,743,055
76,902,730 78,832,650
FEREEMARA T 2021 5% 215




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(Continued)

Notes:

(@) The balance represented loans from one (2020: two) independent
third party. These loans were unsecured, interest bearing at fixed
rates ranged from 3% (2020: 3.00% to 4.35%) per annum and
repayable within one year.

(b) The balance represented non-cancellable minimum royalty payable

to a game developer under an online game license agreement.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Cubinet Group has defined benefit obligations arising
from one of its subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co. Ltd.

Under labour laws in Thailand, all employees with more

than 120 days of service are entitled to Legal Severance

Payment benefits ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary

upon termination of service, including forced termination or

retrenchment, or in the event of retirement.

The plan is unfunded and therefore there is no plan asset.

32. HtEMNRERESIEE M)

33.

B &

(@) EHRERE—R(CEZSEF MAB)BUE=
FRZER  EERAEERE  REEFE3%
(ZZE=ZF :3.00%%24.35%) 51 B M BN —4F
RIEE -

(b) HBAERBER EEBRELTHEN —RBER
FAEFITAAIRESRESHESRE -

EBREMNEE

Cubinet f B E REHF —RHWE QA
Cubinet (Thailand) Co. LtdZ 8 FI & £ °

BERBE 2SS TE LNIE®1I2082MF6
EERKITEREFERH KR IEXFABKRKE

WEBAZEBEELEERERMN

E300H 2 R EH B o

& BB 330

ZAETRES  RABHEEE -

The amount of retirement benefit obligations recognised in REETBERRETANBARNRKENEE
the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: THEEELNT:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Present value of defined benefit obligation AEBANEEHIERE
Current portion BN HA ER 15 58,253 64,710
Non-current portion JE BN HR =6 19 324,107 490,848
382,360 555,558

21 6 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 33. ENNERMEFEHE)
(Continued)

Movements in the Group’s retirement benefit obligations FAREERAKENEENESHOT
during the year are as follows:
Present value of
defined benefit 2021
obligation Total
REEA —E-—F
EANRE et
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-_—F—HF—H 555,558 555,558
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: HRIBZHERZ L
Current service cost B HA Ak 7 B AR 46,588 46,588
Gain regarding the effect of changes BB EBREHFEY
in financial assumption W = (117,939) (117,939)
Exchange difference ME W ZE58 (101,847) (101,847)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H 382,360 382,360
Present value of
defined benefit 2020
obligation Total
FE 18 A T
EERIREAE Et
HK$ HK$
T ow
At 1 January 2020 RZEZEF—H—H 606,060 606,060
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: RIBHZERZ & :
Current service cost B HA AR 75 Bk AR 56,393 56,393
Interest expense A BB < 9,729 9,729
Gain regarding the effect of changes HBHEUBRRESHFEZ
in financial assumption U z= (167,8306) (167,836)
Exchange difference EH =5 51,212 51,212
At 31 December 2020 R-B-_ZEF+-RA=+—H 555,558 555,558
The maximum economic benefit available from the net HAERBANFEEMNERS 2 &ALEF =
defined benefit asset is determined based on reductions in RIBR DB KRR ERETE ©

future contributions.
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

33. RHK\ENEME G

TERBRBEFERBEEZBRZIBE -

The following table is a summary of the assumptions relating
to the actuarial technique as at the end of the reporting year.

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_EF
Discount rate 2.79% 1.91%
IS 2.79% 1.91%
Long-term salary increment rate | 2.00% 2.00%
£ B % B hn @ 2.00% 2.00%

1.91% to 22.92%
1.91% £22.92%

1.91% to 22.92%
1.91% £22.92%

Employees turnover rate
BEMKEX

Mortality rates

105% of Thai Mortality Ordinary
Table 2017 published by Office
of Insurance Commission

105% of Thai Mortality Ordinary
Table 2017 published by Office of
Insurance Commission

TR 105% (RBEERAMZ-B—tF| 105% REEERABZ T+ FH
REEDR) B A k)

The Group’s sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial
assumption as of the end of the reporting period based

yE

EEEPMUEZTEARE

AEEBEREHARBEEBEEMRR

SR RE D

on reasonably possible changes of the relevant actuarial T
assumption is as follows:
Increase/decrease Impact on defined benefit
in rate obligation
kEEA/ TR HAERANEEZFE
2021 2020
—E--F ZT-TE
HK$ HK$
B oy
Discount rate B % 1.0% (2020: 1.0%) | (49,438)/59,968 (62,484)/76,101
1.0% (ZZ-T4:1.0%)
Salary growth rate H e 1.0% | 59,834/(50,232) | 75,213/(62,994)
Employee turnover rate EERAR 20% of base assumption | (35,522)/41,100 (45,446)/53,113
BERRE 220%
Mortality rates TR 20% of base assumption (5,072)/4,984 (6,211)/6,104
EARRHK 220%

21 8 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some
of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating
the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of
the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected
unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has
been applied as when calculating the pension liability
recognised within the statement of financial position.

The Group finances the funding requirements of the pension
plan by internal resources and does not have any funding
arrangements and funding policy that will affect future
contributions.

The expected contributions to the pension plan for the year
ending 31 December 2022 is approximately HK$58,253.

33. RHK\ENEME G

FREBEAFRE-ERRHEDR
FERBBRARTEMAY - SBHR
EEBERATREE BBHBROE
DUEEANE - REERTENELY
TEREBRROGTEE  DRANER
R BRI RS B AR TA (R
I B (L 0 5 MR L TR B
SR -

ARBEURBEARARRSHBNES T
REE MUBMEAREZHRBE B
BRI -

BE T - F+-A=+—HIFEHE
KRE5TE 2 7B B 5040 558,253/ 8 7T °

FENEEEERAR

2021 £ 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 & Z T - —F+_-_A=+—HItEE

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 33.
(Continued)

RAKE R EAE 5D

AEBAERNEENHMEFHFRORB
B4F - REBARBRBNNRNEHA S

The weighted average duration of the Group’s defined benefit
obligation is approximately 34 years. The maturity analysis of

the Group’s undiscounted benefit payments is as follows: T
Less Between Between
than 1 and 2 and Over
1year 2years 5years b5 years Total
—F= MEE
PR —F mF IFE HBBIEF e
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT 7T
At 31 December 2021 N-ZE-—F
+=—A=+-—8
Pension payments BAIR® 5K 58,253 — 7,141 518,084 583,478
Less Between Between
than 1 and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
—FF MEE
DR —F M TF HMBLRF T
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
T BT T BT & T
At 31 December 2020 R=Z=-2HF
+t=ZA=+—H
Pension payments RIKE TR 64,710 - — 820,375 885,085
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised
revenue from sales of virtual items for online games, where
there is still an implied obligation to be provided by the
Group over time.

Movements in contract liabilities:

34.

EHNAERE

RHNABTIEEREKAHERLBERZE

B o2 R W
NEREEEREZEYDm -

2N £% (B BE =& B A

2021 2020
—E - —E-EF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Balance at 1 January R—R—BZ &% 3,810,739 3,531,412
Decrease in contract liabilities as aresult of FERFRNERRZMERAHE
recognising revenue during the year & (4,305,085) (6,684,078)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of RS TR TEMGRIE M
billing in advance of game publishing service BEAEHAFEEIN 8,112,588 6,810,019
Exchange differences & N =R (141,637) 153,386
Balance at 31 December R+-_A=+—HBz&%& 7,476,605 3,810,739
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 35. EEBEBERB
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by AEBRINELEHRBEBAGNOT
the Group:
Fair value Undistributed
adjustments earnings
on assets of PRC
acquired subsidiaries Total
FBEE HENELT
ZARERE Z2ARIREF st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2020, 31 December WRZ-Z-_ZTF#—A—H-
2020 and 1 January 2021 and 31 —ZE-ZTF&+-AF=+—H "
December 2021 —E—F—-A—HAk
—E—%+=-RA=1+—H 915,792 1,715,969 2,631,761
FENEERERAT 2021 3% 221
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35.

36.

222 Imperium Technology Group Limited

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 35. EEREERE®
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax R EHR KNEE ﬁ ABABIEERE
losses of HK$234,548,597 (2020: HK$175,704,495) available 234,548,597 L (ZE =T 4 : 175,704,495/
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has JO) A B 85 R SR E F o B R R ROE AR
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit AHER MU EEREREEREBEE - %
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of BRMEEBEBEEIINER=2Z=N\F
HK$7,946,000 (2020: HK$7,946,000), HK$18,062,000 (2020: %:%E&—%E—iiuﬁ;ﬁzz%aooo,ﬁm
HK$18,062,000) and HK$722,743 (2020: HK$NIl) that will —ZEZE ¢ 7,946,000 7T.) + 18,062,0007%
expire in 2028, 2030 and 2031 respectively. Other tax losses T(ZE = ¢ 18,062,000/% JT) } 722,743
may be carried forward indefinitely. BL(ZEZTF - TAT)EE - HibBI1E
E B A IR B4
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has aggregate RREBK A& IZTTD ME R EZFE B
amount of deductible temporary differences of approximately %9 54,120,00078 7T (=T = ZF 4 : 4,197,000
HK$4,120,000 (2020: HK$4,197,000). No deferred tax asset T) o H P AR SR Os AR AT FE ORI - I A R
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future RIELERRIBEE ©
profit streams.
SHARE CAPITAL 36. A&
Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
SREEIBTZEER
Number of
Note shares Par value
i3 f 17 & B EE
HK$
BT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares, jt%@ﬂfi
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, R-ZZ-ZFF—-A—8"
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 ZEEFTZA=T—8"
—E-F-A-HEK
—E-%+ZA=+—H 500,000,000 50,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
Ordinary shares, 5 AR
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 RZE-_ETF—H—H"
and 1 January 2021 “EZEF+-RA=+—-HBK
— - —%F—H—H 287,206,000 2,872,060
Ordinary shares issued on placement B & % {5 3 17 2 & 3 A%
of shares (i) 23,830,000 238,300
At 31 December 2021 R-TE_—F+-H=+—H 311,036,000 3,110,360
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

(i) On 12 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with the placing agent in respect of the placement of up to
25,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to independent third
parties at a price of HK$5 per share. The placement of shares was
completed on 3 May 2021. An aggregate of 23,830,000 shares
have been placed. The excess of the subscription consideration
received over the nominal values issued, amounting to approximately
HK$119,150,000, net of share issuance expenses, was credited to
the Company’s share premium account.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises
borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, retained profits and
other reserves) except for non-controlling interests.

During 2021, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2020, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio as low as feasible. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

As at 31 December 2021, the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio
of the Group is -469% (2020: -256%).

36. BA&(#)

B

(i) RZZE_—FNA+=-H ARRHEREERE
AV ERE WSRSBTERRBILE =
75 it & & %25,000,000 8 R A A EEAE - Bl &
BHERZE_—FREAZAZK e HXEE
23,830,000 g - WM RIEREBBE
17 T B & 28 5 49 &2119,150,00058 7T ($0 Bk % 15
BRI EHARRBKRDEER -

AEBEERRANENEEREBEAEEN
SERKE) YEBBLLEBEREL
RRBREREKRE R -

AEBEKZRERLIETEARE A%
ERELERREDNEMEENRERR
MEENHBEAERE REFKARE
AEgEE AKEXSHABRRERE - &7
i mERD - HIEEY BOBRBE
BRHEEENRDER -

$%IME$%NNW§$KT%%E%
T§$°%%Tuﬁ FRERARHRE
K8 - B2 ﬁmﬁfﬁﬂﬁ R
§$“%%ﬁk%%ﬁ BOREAS ~ Btn st (B

R M B GEEREE RN

R-B-_—F AEENRIKE_T_FTF
RE—2 ABEELUKRABREALERSE
NG FREEKRF - BRITHFEZLE
AEEREFHBRTHRR KSR - ¥
THFR - ABRREEEN HEEBRE
FHEBEEARDER -

R-_E-_—F+-_A=+—H A&EHZ
EEHEABRERL R AE-469% (ZE-F
£ 1 -256%) °

FENEEEERAR

2021 £ 223



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
36. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The decrease in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during
2021 resulted primarily from decrease of equity and increase
in other borrowings.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars
monthly on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance
with the 25% limit throughout the year.

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme
(i) Existing Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed in
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on 26 November 2008, the share option scheme
(“Existing Share Option Scheme”) was approved
and adopted by the Company to comply with the
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;
and the pre-IPO share option scheme and post-IPO
share option scheme were terminated accordingly.

The purpose of the Existing Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the
contributions of any employees (including directors
of the Company), consultants and/or advisers who in
the sole discretion of the directors of the Company
have contributed or will contribute to the Group
(“Participants”) and to motivate the Participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by
offering to the Participants an opportunity to have
personal interest in the share capital of the Company.

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Existing Share Option Scheme and other
share option scheme of the Group must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. Upon acceptance of the option, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant.

224 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2021
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37. URHXMARE®E)

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

()

Existing Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The subscription price for share(s) under the Existing
Share Option Scheme will be a price as the board
of directors in its absolute discretion shall determine
and notify to each Participant and will be the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day),
(i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of grant of the option. The date of
grant is the date on which the option is offered.

An option under the share option scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Existing
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the board of directors
of the Company to each grantee which period of time
shall commence on the date of grant of the option
and expire on such date as determined by the board
of directors of the Company provided that the option
may not be exercised after the expiration of 10 years
from the date of grant of the option.

The Existing Share Option Scheme does not require
a minimum period for which an option must be held
nor a performance target which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised, unless the board
of directors of the Company otherwise determined
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to the
grantee.

DURRE & E AV B8 IR 51 81 ()

()

BEBRETE(E)

BEEEERENLE - R RE
EREMEFE2RBBER LA
@TEsRE ABANT=EYE
B ()R 6 R 8 AR B A B (%
U8R B B BT B4R & BT R 2
A ¢ (i) R 19 70 B8 O AR 4 11 B
EREEE A=k d=E I E
2 S U T U R i) IR 1) R S 5
WA EE - BT A0 R
WL A -

REBREFEZL ZBEREAR
ARBEZEBEETLANEZARA
ZHEAEAER RIFEBBEK
R B 2 RRITHE ZHMEERE
BREFRLBEME BEEARAESS
BETZRHA/L EERESAR
B AR h BB R FH0F B E m 1R
1T -

REBBREELERTLATE
B REHR  BREET
FERLFEINRRER  EARF
EEeSARERRNBELEBERET
AR ARBREERI

FENEEEERAR

2021 £, 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMET
For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. UBRHBZAIREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) UREZENBRESSE (5
(i)  Existing Share Option Scheme (Continued) () HEBERETEE)
Details of the specific categories of options are as ElRESETEENZFBERT:
follows:
Options granted to
BATALREERE
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period  Exercise price  Directors  Consultants Total
ReBH FEAH i3 ke E= Bf @t
HKS
B
2018 “E-)\F
First tranche F-8 23 May 2018 23 May 2018 23 May 2018 to 514 1,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000
22 May 2022
Z3-\% ZE-\% “3-)\F
EA-f=H 1A-1=H il oy =
TAZTZE
Second tranche % & 23 May 2018 23 November 2018 23 November 2018 to 514 - 2,000,000 2,000,000
22 May 2022
—3-\% ZE-\% “3-)\F
BA-TZH +-A-+ZH t-A=t=HEZ
TAZTZE
Third tranche ~ $=1 23 May 2018 23 May 2019 23 May 2019 to 514 - 1,980,000 1,980,000
22 May 2022
—3-\% Z50F ZE3-N0E
EA-f=H 1A-1=H il oy =
TAZTZE
1,000,000 5,980,000 6,980,000
If the options remain unexercised after a period of il B8 A hE pA I B HA B BT PO SF 18 14 R 1T -
4 years from the date of grant, the options expire. Bl EEEREm WEEBBERASE
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group. Il i iR 7 8 108 K -
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Existing Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Details of the movement of share options during the
year are as follows:

BARR AR 3244 FRIE ()

DURRE & E AV B8 IR 51 81 ()

(i) ZEEEBKEEE)

FABKREZS ZFBOT:

2021 2020
—B--F —E-EF
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
¥ NHEFH
BREHE TRE | BREHE B
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning A ) i K17 (&
of the year - - 6,980,000 514
Cancelled during the year FREH - - (1,000,000) 514
Lapsed during the year FREK - - (5,980,000) 514
Outstanding at the end of the R & &K & & 17 {#
year - - — —
Exercisable at the end of the R F R AT 1§
year - - — —

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 1,000,000
options were cancelled and 5,980,000 options were
lapsed under the mandatory unconditional cash
offers by the immediate parent. Details of the offers
have been disclosed in the circular of the company
dated 26 March 2020 and the announcement of the
Company dated 16 April 2020.

REBE_Z_ZE+_A=+—RHILFE -
BEEESARREMN RS HEEEKHR
> E 49 0 F1,000,00010 B B 4 % BUE K&
5,980,000 B IELRK - BEEE N 2FF15
ERAHAZE-_EF=-A_+NHZAR
FREKEERA_T-_TEMA+ANBZA

NCIPNGIEEE 33

FENEEEERAR

2021 3 227



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(ii)

228 Imperium Technology Group Limited

New Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed in
the annual general meeting of the Company on 29
June 2018, the new share option scheme (“New Share
Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
Company to comply with the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and the Existing
Share Option Scheme was terminated accordingly.

Pursuant to the terms of the Existing Share Option
Scheme, the 6,980,000 options previously granted
under the Existing Share Option Scheme but not
yet exercised will remain valid and exercisable in
accordance with the provisions of the Existing Share
Option Scheme and the terms of issue of such
options.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is
to enable the Company to provide an incentive or
a reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.
The eligible participants include any directors or
employees, consultants and/or advisers, the eligible
participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
suppliers, producers or licensors, licensees (including
sub-licensee) or distributors, of the Group or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group.
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37. URHXMARE®E)

37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(i)

New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the New Share Option Scheme and other share
option scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
Upon acceptance of the option, the Grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price for share(s) under the New
Share Option Scheme will be a price as the board
of directors in its absolute discretion shall determine
and notify to each Participant and shall not be less
than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day), (i) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of
grant of the option. The date of grant is the date on
which the option is offered.

An option under the share option scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the board of directors
of the Company to each grantee which period of time
shall commence on the date of grant of the option
and expire on such date as determined by the board
of directors of the Company provided that the option
may not be exercised after the expiration of 10 years
from the date of grant of the option.
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(ii) New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme does not require a

minimum period for which an option must be held

nor a performance target which must be achieved

before an option can be exercised, unless the board

of directors of the Company otherwise determined

and stated in the offer of the grant of options to the

grantee.

Details of the specific categories of options granted to

the directors and employees are as follows:

37.
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MEBEREFAAYEREVEARAR
Bz &R KBEREETE
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BRAKZRERI -

BYEELREREZBRETTER
ZHEBWT:

Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price
RABH R ks ke
HKS
E
2021A 28 September 2021 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 11.04
27 September 20831
ZET-FAACHIE ZEZZERAZTNR ZECCERAZTRE
ZE-ENAZTNA
20218 28 September 2021 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 11.04
27 September 20831
ZET-FAACHIE ZECZEZRACTAR CECEZACTNRE

If the options remain unexercised after a period of

10 years from the date of grant, the options expire.

Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 37. URGOXZAAREG@E
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) UREZENBRESSE (5
(ii) New Share Option Scheme (Continued) (ii) HEBREE(E)
Details of the movement of share options during the FABKREZSH 2FBHOT:

year are as follows:

2021 2020
—B--F —E-EF
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
mEFig NHEFH
EREHA TRE | BREHE 1T101B
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning & 115 K17 1#
of the year - - — —
Granted during the year FANEUHE 4,732,432 11.04 — —
Outstanding at the end of the R & &K & & 17 {#
year 4,732,432 11.04 — —
Exercisable at the end of the R F R AJ{T{#
year - - - -
The options outstanding at the end of the year have RER - BARITEE 2 BRI 19 81
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 9.7 TEHFRBITF - TTHERN.04E T ©
years and the exercise prices is HK$11.04. In 2021, RZZEZ—F BREESR-Z=_—FNLA
options were granted on 28 September 2021. The Z+HNHEL BREAZBNGEFTAR
estimated fair value of the options on this date is B 534,456,254/8 7T °

HK$34,456,254.

=13

These fair values were calculated using the Polynomial Z2EAABEFRZEAERETERI G
=] i %7

iy

option price model. The inputs into the model are as B o AZBRAN2EAT
follows:
2021
—E=-—F
Weighted average share price niEFEHKRE HKD11.0438 5t
Weighted average exercise price MEFHITEE HKD11.043& 7t
Expected volatility T8 HA % 18 78.61%
Expected life TEEA R R IR 10 years &£
Risk free rate 12 3 B I 2= 1.43%
Expected dividend vield TEHA IR B K 0.00%

SENEERERAT o021 3% 231
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37. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
(ii) New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the previous 10 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary

In May 2020, Apex Empire International Limited
(“Apex”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement with Nova
eSports International Limited (“Nova”) pursuant to
which Nova has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
and Apex has conditionally agreed to subscribe 70%
of the subscription shares at the subscription price of
HK$15,000,000.

Nova was engaged in the provision of esports
operation during the year. The acquisitions are for the
purpose of expand the Group’s business operation
and anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination together with the online games segment.

232 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2021
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(a)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued) (a)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities

of Nova acquired as at the date of acquisition are as

follows:

W e B BB 2 B ()

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

38. MEBRERERMITH)

RUCEE EE - 2 4B Nova 2 7] & 5l
BERBEZARENT:

HK$
BT
Net assets acquired: BWEEEFE:
Intangible assets mLEE 7,300,000
Trade and other receivables FE UK B 5 BR 3k I Ho h FE W B IR 12,046,325
Bank and cash balances WITRBE & 3,028,107
Trade and other payables JEfT B SRR & H Ath B S 5B (294,981)
Net identifiable assets AE R EEFE 22,079,451
Non-controlling interests R E R (6,628,835)
Gain on bargain purchase EZEEREl=E (455,616)
Total consideration wRE 15,000,000
Satisfied by: HER A
Cash He 15,000,000
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEE RS F NG
Cash consideration paid BENBEeRE (15,000,000)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

The fair value of the trade and other receivables
acquired is HK$12,046,325. The gross amount due
under the contracts is HK$12,046,325, of which
HK$Nil is expected to be uncollectible.

Acquisition-related costs of HK$340,000 have
been charged to administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year

ended 31 December 2020.

BEUBRELREEEY

[g] o

3,028,107

11,971,893

FENEEEERAR

BWERERESERREMERZKEBEZA
B F12,046,3258 70 - BH TN BB A
12,046,325/ 70 EHR T B T B H A A L

U B AH B8 B AN 340,000 T REZE T =
ZE+ A=+ HIEFELRABEERNA
ZITBRAZFZE -
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(a)

234 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of
HK$455,616 in the business combination. The gain is
included in other income. The business combination
results in a gain on bargain purchase which was
mainly attributable to the discount upon negotiation
with the vendor.

Nova contributed approximately HK$3,634,000 to the
Group’s consolidated revenue for the year respectively
for the period between the date of acquisition and
the end of the reporting period. Nova contributed
approximately HK$9,982,000 to the Group’s
consolidated loss for the year for the period between
the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting
period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January
2020, total Group revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 would have been HK$186,438,000,
and consolidated loss for the year ended 31
December 2020 would have been HK$82,090,000.
The proforma information is for illustrative purposes
only and is not necessarily an indication of the
revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2020, nor is intended
to be a projection of future results.
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. ZERETRERMTEH)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of interest in a subsidiary (b) HEMBARERMEREE
without loss of control il #E
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group REBEZE_TE_FTF+-_A=+—H1t
disposed of 30% interests in a subsidiary at a cash FEC-AEELER—MHBARF
consideration of HK$6,359,430. The effect of the Z30% # @ - B & 1 8 /6,359,430
disposal on the equity attributable to the owners of BT e HEHARRE AR A EL#E
the Company is as follows: m BMT
HK$
BT
Carrying amount of non-controlling HEEZERER CEAE
interests disposed (6,487,081)
Consideration received from BIERESZKE Z2RE
non-controlling interests 6,359,430
Loss on disposal recognised directly in BEEREaER2HEESE
equity (127,651)
() Major non-cash transaction () FEFREXRSH

In December 2020, Nova entered into a repurchase
agreement with its non-controlling interest, pursuant
to which non-controlling interest conditionally agreed
to sell and Nova conditionally agreed to repurchase
the repurchase shares which represented 30% equity
interest of Nova, in consideration of assigning and
novating to the non-controlling interest all the rights,
titles, benefits, interests, liabilities and obligations
in relation to the transfer agreement entered into
between Nova and GodlLike Esports PVT Limited
(“GodLike Esports”), a company incorporated in
the Republic of India with limited liability and an
independent third party, on 26 June 2020 regarding
the acquisition by Nova of the PlayerUnknown’s
Battlegrounds esports team (the “PUBG Mobile
Team”) and relevant players and coach, slot rights and
intellectual property rights owned by GodLike Esports
for a term of three years commencing from 26 June
2020 and ending on 23 June 2023. The PUBG Mobile
Team competes in official competitions, tournaments
or matches for the online video game known as
PlayerUnknown’s Battlegrounds.

RZZE-_ZFTF+=H Novafl = I
ERERA O ERE Bt 3
TREZBEGRELEMNovaB
&1+ A Z B [0 O 8 I% 19+ B Nova
230% K iE  REAMEERER
£ H Nova H2 GodLike Esports PVT
Limited ([GodLike Esports] - — F
REEREMBEFMEZLZBRES
RA BBUFEF=-F)NRZE=_ZT
ANAZTRAFTLZHE(RNE B
Nova llf & (48 th sk & ) 8B 3 X ([PUBG
Mobile Team]) & 18 B Bx 8 K& U #k
B & # K& GodLike EsportsFi# B 2
M EEEFHPH_T=_TF A
T RNEREZSEZ=FA=+=
HIEREB=F)z—tBE@#EFN - A
B FIZS - EX AREAORER
ZER R A ER - PUBG Mobile
Team 2 NN 4B b S 4 ) 48 45 45 58 1% 8%
ZEALE BMERBRE -
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

38. MEBRERERMITH)

(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (d ®BRETBHEEZEEHER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TERFAAEERETHEELEZE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including B2 BREHEeRERSE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising BRETHMEACEBERAS KR
from financing activities are those for which cash AEEGZEREREXRDERARA
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EBMBEeRECHERELRK
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as REmeE °
cash flows from financing activities.
Effect
1 January Interest paid/ of initial Exchange 31 December
2021 Modification ~ Cash flows payable  recognition differences 2021
2z-F BfY/ ERER =
-B-A B BeiE ER#AE Fe EXEE T-A=t-H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
E7 BT B BT BT B B
Lease liabilities (note 30) AE&E (M0 8,436,515 (3,718,930) (6,259,796) 859,915 13,978,317 239,200 13,535,221
Due to related companies (note 31) ERBEEAEFA ) | 169,328,042 - 20,000,000 12,784,159 (7,585,447) - 194,526,754
Other payments and accruals AftERFERETER
(note 32) (Fr&s2) 10,850,005 - (5,526,990) - - 67,490 5,390,505
188,614,562 (3,718,930) 8,213,214 13,644,074 6,392,870 306,690 213,452,480
Effect
1 January of Initial Exchange 31 December
2020 Modification Cash flows Interest paid recognition differences 2020
Z32%% ERBR “IZEE
-A-R 2 RenE EfFIE a4 EXZE t-A=T-A
HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT B BT B BT BT
Lease liabilities (note 30) I GERD) 9,176,341 3,967,382 (6,361,077) 411,208 - 232,661 8,436,615
Due to related companies (note 31) HW%‘E HE (W) 98,328,042 - 80,000,000 - (4,000,000) - 169,328,042
Other payments and accruals AR FERETER
(note 32) (H532) 4,390,505 = 6,439,500 = = - 10,850,005
Borrowings g 41,416,419 - 5862800 1783907 = 2,657,564 =
148,311,307 3,967,382 35,245,533 2,200,115 4,000,000) 2,890,225 188,614,562
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. MEBHEREXRMT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
Total cash outflow for leases (e) HEELAMBESRHLMALE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for RensxtPHEEEHENESER
leases comprise the following: &
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within operating cash flows FTAKREHRERE 1,730,874 2,126,561
Within investing cash flows FAKRERSRE 17,500 —
Within financing cash flows AARERERE 44,529,731 4,939,869
46,278,105 7,066,430
These amounts relate to the following: ZESHEHUTHEAR -
2021 2020
—E_—— —E-FF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Lease rental paid B HAEE 46,278,105 7,066,430
Payments for rental deposits REERSNK - -
Payments for right-of-use assets MERAEEENK - —
46,278,105 7,066,430
FENEEEERAT 2021 31 237
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. AARZHMBEMRRRFEEZB R
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the () ALQFZBBEARRE
Company
As at 31 December
R+=-A=+—8
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BREMRE 1,670,419 2,829,830
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR 2 KE 3,565,958 3,565,942
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,580,844 2,276,876
6,817,221 8,672,648
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries N ENETE /] 73,008,361 69,627,065
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments 1&2& - H it FE Uk I8 &
TE T B 1,096,452 1,011,347
Cash and bank balances Be NIRTES - 755,042
74,104,813 71,393,454
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,140,021 1,494,642
Other payables and accruals H th F& 1 3B & fERT IR H 11,590,074 16,028,416
Loan from a related party REBH A ZER 167,676,807 77,500,000
Due to subsidiaries JE AT BfY /B8 A &) 3R IR 25,342,512 22,464,792
205,749,414 117,487,850
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BRBEE (131,644,601) (46,094,396)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Long-term loan from related parties REBE 2 KRBER - 63,328,042
Lease liabilities HEAE 270,909 1,033,355
270,909 64,361,397
NET LIABILITIES EEE (125,098,289)| (101,783,145)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXLGHE
Share capital [N 3,110,360 2,872,060
Reserves ke (128,208,649) | (104,655,205)
TOTAL EQUITY 1R 3% (125,098,289) | (101,783,145

gEepR_S-_—&F#=H=+—H
A THIATESRERES:

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong
T8

Yeung So Mui
BES
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. A R ZHBERRRFEEH R (H)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

40. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Reserve movement of the Company (b) A BZzEEEHK
Shares  Contributed  Share option Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserves losses Total
(note 40(b)(i))  (note 40(b)iii) (note 40(b)(vili)
R EE #MABR  BRERE EfbffE 2t ER ffE
(Wystaom)i) (P E40()i) (i sE40(b)(vil))
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A AT AT AT AT AT
At 1 January 2020 R-F-FE-F-H 178951014 42,967,020 7,372,007 6671958 (232,122,107 3840792
Loss for the year ENER - - - - (111.919405)  (111.919,405)
Capital contribution TE - - - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000
Share-based payments DR BEBRH R - - 923,408 - - 923,408
Lapse of share options BREXN - - (8,296,315) - 8,296,315 -
At 31 December 2020 WoB-EEHCATH-R 0 178951014 42,967,020 - 0171958  (335745,197)  (104,655,205)
At 1 January 2021 RZF=-5-f-H
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (152,839,736)  (152,839,736)
Capital contribution e 115,932,951 - - 5,887,005 - 121,819,956
Share-based payments DR BEBRH R - - 7,466,336 - - 7,466,336
At 31 December 2021 R=F--£+-F=1-H 294,883,965 42,967,020 7,466,336 15,058,963 (488,584,933)  (128,208,649)
40. fE1E

Group (@) =%
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements REBZREESERESHEHIIN
therein are presented in the consolidated statement meEmakEMEEWE RN KL
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and EEZEHEK -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REZIMERAE
(i)  Share premium (i) REGEE

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is
available for paying distributions or dividends
to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum and Articles of Association
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

REFERSRADE  ARQH
B B0 i B A AR B A R B H
MBERRALANETE -
FA A 1A B R AE H 9 R 2OR S
B EARRAEERE DK
R IR SR IDARRE I NE
BEEKBRETIHEMN2E
% o
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40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

240 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose
as a result of the Corporate Reorganisation and
represents the excess of the then combined
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value of the share capital and
share premium of its subsidiaries arising from
group reorganisation on 8 September 2005
(“Corporate Reorganisation”).

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE — T - —F+ -_HA=+—B It FE

40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

v)

(vi)

Capital reserve

This represents the transfer from retained
profits to capital reserve as a result of the
write off of certain trade payables by % )&
ZXEAMRBRAAE JF ACR. Equipment
Supplies (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.) (“JF Ningbo”), a
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) accounting
principles and financial regulations, any gains
arising from debt restructuring which represent
the difference between the final settlement
and the carrying value of the debt concerned
are directly reflected in capital reserve and
therefore not distributable. Accordingly, a
transfer has been made from retained profits to
capital reserve. The capital reserve can only be
used to increase capital of this subsidiary.

General reserve

The general reserve is set up by way of
appropriation from the profit after tax
in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC. The rate of
appropriation to the general reserve is subject
to the decision of the board of directors of PRC
subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate is 10% of the profit after tax for each
year, until when the accumulated balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC, if approvals
are obtained from the relevant government
authorities, the general reserve can be used in
setting off accumulated losses or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

40. RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

242 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI held at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy in note
4(k) to the consolidated financial statements.

Other reserves

The Group received loans from related parties.
These loans were unsecured, interest bearing
from 0% to 2.00% per annum and repayable
according to the terms of the loan agreements.
The fair value of these loans were estimated
at the prevailing market interest rates for
equivalent loans of 5% on initial recognition.

As one of the substantial shareholder of the
Company has beneficial interests in the related
parties, the difference between the principal
amount and the fair value of the loans on
initial recognition were considered as capital
contribution and recognised in the other
reserve.
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are

41.

RMBARAZRE

MBARNR-T-_—F+-_A=+—HNHF

as follows: =R N
Place of Nominal value of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up ordinary
establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
A& ERATRBEZER/
£ BYREE Bz HEMEAEE TERER
Directly held
EERE
Apex Empire International Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
BREBRAERAR EEAERRES IRERAEEIZTHE®R REZRK
Profit Business Group Limited? British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
RESERRRA" EEERRES IRERAEEIZTHE®R REZRK
Gigantic Ocean Investments Limited*  The Republic of 100% 1,000 ordinary share of US$1  Investment holding
Seychelles each
EEREBRAAN ETRANE 1,000 BREEIZTH REZRK
R
Imperium Cloud Computing Digital Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
Technology Company Limited each
(formerly known as JF Household
Furnishings Limited)
FEEFEHEREERAR % IREREEETINERR REER
(AIERERERRERLR)
JF Household Furnishings (Asia) Ltd.*  British Virgin Islands 100% 300 ordinary shares of US$1 Investment holding
each
FERERM(EMBRAF EEERRES SORBREEIZANEER RAER
Ultra Power Ventures Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary shares of US$1 For payment of
each Metaverse's expenses
BEEARARRA" EEAERRES IRERBAEIETHERER IANTTFHESR
Golden Century Ventures Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary shares of US$1 For payment of

eHLBIRARATS

REEARES

each headquarters’
expenses
IRERABETNERR NEHER
FENEEEERA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 4. RHBERAZ2RE®)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERTRBREER/
£ BYREE Bz HAMEAEE TEXH
Indiirectly held
FERFE
Digital King Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
ERERRES REREEMETNLERR REER
Hasssh Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each  Design, development and
operation of online
games
B RERkEBEETHEER R FARREERL
Seven Senses Game Company Hong Kong 100% 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Design, development and
Limited each operation of online
games
tREBEHAERAA Bk 10,0008 & R EE17E T &9 Rit REREER L
R B
TITREHER AR Taiwan 100% 18,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ Design, development and
TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) 18,000,000 BREE I AH Rt BEREER L
Vg R B
BEHUREFRAR Taiwan 100% 3,000,000 ordinary share of Design, development and
TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) 3000 GREE AL  REt HERZBERL
R B
BERBEAERRERAF PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
RMB5,000,000 operation of online
Paid up capital of RMB Nil games
B A EARARKS5000000T WA AEREESE
BREAAREST i
EINBBEEERBEBRAR PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
RMB30,000,000 operation of online
Paid up capital of games
RMB1,257,678
HE &R ARK30,000,000 A AEREESE
BREAARK1,257,678TC g1
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

41.

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

RBLATR 2RE (@)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered

Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERTRBREER/

£ BYREE L Bz HAMEAEE TEXH

Indiirectly held (Contunueq)

F#ERE (&)

Triple S Global Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Design, development and

Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd.#

Cubinet Interactive Sdn. Bhd.*

Cubinet Interactive Holdings Sdn.
Bhd.*

Cubinet Interactive Int’l Co,. Ltd*

Cubizone Interactive (Thailand) Co.,
Ltd*

Cubizone Philippine Corporation?

REEARESE

Malaysia

HRAED

Malaysia

HRAE D

Malaysia

HRAE S

Malaysia-Labuan

BSRER — WE

Thailand

ZE

Philippines

100%

100%

100%

100%

48.994%

39.98%

1REREEIETHERER

6,048,780 ordinary share of
MYR1 each

6,048,780 B R EEILER
TR

400,000 ordinary share of
MYRG6 each

400,000f FREE6SE M
T8

200,000 ordinary share of
MYRO.7 each

200,000 EREAECTLE K
LAk

1 ordinary share of MYR4
each

1REREEISEOEBR

100,000 ordinary shares of
THB100 each

100,000% &A% EIE100% k69
T E R

498 ordinary share of MYR7.4
each

408 A ETASE R
8 i

FENEEEERAR

operation of online
games
R HEREERL

Investment holding

RERR

Design, development and
operation of online
games

FEt RABREERL

Property investment

NERE

Design, development and
operation of online
games

FEt FABREERL

Design, development and
operation of online
games

FEt RABEREERL

Design, development and
operation of online
games

FEt ABEREERL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

41. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 4. RHBERAZ2RE®)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERTRBREER/
£ BYREE L Bz HAMEAEE TEXH
Indiirectly held (Contunueq)
F#ERE (&)
Cubinet Interactive Philippines Philippines 49% 4,998 ordinary share of Design, development and
Corporation* MYRO0.8 each operation of online
games
FRE 4,998 §REE0.8T HH Rit REREER L
R B
Cubinet Interactive Vietnam Co., Ltd*  Vietnam 49% 14,700 ordinary share of Design, development and
MYR3.4 each operation of online
games
B 14700k BREES4TEN Rt BHEREER L
R B
Golden Mark Technology Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HKD1 Design, development and
each operation of online
games
SERBERAR ER0) IREREEETNE AR FEt RABREERL
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1  Cloud computing and
Technology Limited each data storage
Tt EHYBREERAA Bk 1,0008% & R E E17% 7T H) BitEREERRE
R
Seven Elements Interactive Limited Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary share of HK$1  Cloud computing and
each data storage
tTEHFERRA Bk 1,0008% & R E E17% 7T 8 BitEREERRE
R
BRELTEHESRMBRAR Y  PRC 100%  Registered capital of Cloud computing and
RMB10,000,000 data storage
Paid up capital of
RMB2,500,000
th At EAARE10,000,000 EFEREEHT
H R ERARK2500,0007
Qianmo Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each ~ Cloud computing and
data storage
FrlRBERAa" ERERRES IREREEIETHE AR ENEREERRTT
Otey Gaming Pte Limited* Singapore 100% 2 ordinary share of SGD 2 Cloud computing and
each data storage
ZiIIs 2R G REE2H N TR BitEREERRE
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

41.

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

RBLATR 2RE (@)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered

Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
A& BRTRBEZER/

a7 BYREE EhtEs IMELEE TEER

Indiirectly held (Contunueq)

EERF(E)

Ultra Modern Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each  Cloud computing and

BRARBRRA"

Hashera Pte Limited*

Otey Technology Pte Limited*

Nova eSports International Limited

Deluxe Trading (HK) Limited
JHREH(BE)BERAR

BHERRANRBERDA "

EREHMBEBHNBRARAR

BELTEBENBARDR™

ABRARES
Singapore

K

Singapore

K

British Virgin Islands
REUBRES
Hong Kong

BB

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

70%

100%

1REREEIETHERER

2 ordinary share of SGD 2
each

2R G REE2H N TR
LiER

2 ordinary share of SGD 2
each

2R G REE2H N TR
LiER

70 ordinary shares of US$1
each
TOREREEIETHE R

100 ordinary shares of HK$1
each
100 EREEIETHEER

Registered capital of
RMB20,000,000

Paid up capital of
RMB7,550,000

1l & A A & #20,000,0007T

B REARANRE7,550,0007T

Registered and paid up capital
of RMB20,000,000

AMEARBRERARE
20,000,0007C

Registered capital of
RMB1,000,000
Paid up capital of RMB Nil

data storage

EHERUBERTE

Cloud computing and
data storage

THERBEET

Cloud computing and
data storage

EHERMERTE

Esports operation

fl

BIBRY

-

Investment holding
REEK

Esports operation

Esports operation

fl

ETHRE

-

Design, development and
operation of online
games

SMERARKE 000000  BE - BERRLES L
BREAANREST B
FENBEEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

41.

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

RBLATR 2RE (@)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERTRBREER/
£ BYREE L Bz HAMEAEE TEXH
Indiirectly held (Contunueq)
F#ERE (&)
BEIOBEREERAR PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital of RMB Nil
th FfERAREKI0000000r EFHHEEE
BREAANRKEER
Best Gold Corporation Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each  Money lending
tHEXFRRA B RekEEETNERR  WE
Keylink Technology Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 100 ordinary shares of US$1 Investment holding
each
BEMRBRRA EBRARES 100RGRAEMETNEER REER
JF Ningbo " * PRC 100%  Registered capital and paid- Manufacturing and
up capital of US$7,000,000 sales of stainless
steel furnishings and
home products and
accessories
BEREE th AMEARBEEART000000 HERHEFTFHEE -
=Y XERAmREHY
JF Metal *# PRC 100%  Registered capital and paid- Manufacturing and
up capital of US$140,000 processing of stainless
steel rods and other
accessories
HESE th AMEARHRER140000 HERNITHHERE
=Y o B
# Statutory financial statements not audited by RSM Hong Kong # TV EREARBEHES M S S EX
* Wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC * ERBERIHIINEEE %
* Limited companies established in the PRC with limited liability S ERBEKIHBERAR

Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity
interest in Cubizone Interactive (Thailand) Co., Ltd, Cubizone
Philippine Corporation and Cubinet Interactive Philippines
Corporation, it is able to gain power over more than 50% of
the voting rights by virtue of agreements with other investors.
Consequently, the Group consolidates these entities.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.
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41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41.

The following table shows information on a subsidiary that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group.
The summarised financial information represents amounts

before inter-company eliminations.

e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

RMBAR ZKRE W)
TRETARBHAGEMEBERN ZIFE

s (EERERD B RRIEH -

MEHFHEEREAT LR HHEAT S -

TR (E M) BB
Name =g BRAF
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Principal place of business/country T E& £#h % SFHHEIER
of incorporation PRC/PRC PRC/PRC
HE S+ FE
% of ownership interests/voting rights held JE¥ERERE BB B EE R
by NCI RAEZADL 30%/30% 30%/30%
HK$ HK$
BT AT
At 31 December: R+=-ZA=+—8:
Non-current assets FERBEE 14,230,169 17,646,985
Current assets mEE E 28,895,097 19,282,515
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - —
Current liabilities mEaE (21,418,015) (14,642,512)
Net assets BEFE 21,707,251 22,286,988
Accumulated NCI 2P EE R ES 7,036,670 6,685,441
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLEE:
Revenue U = 25,995,479 9,404,446
Loss & 18 (1,170,762 (1,545,810)
Total comprehensive income FHE W B — -
Loss allocated to NCI Sl TIEERER 2 BB (351,228) (198,361)
Dividends paid to NCI AT FIEERE R 2 IR B - —
Net cash generated from/ KEEHEL (A HALFHE
(used in) operating activities 15,092,980 (13,452,861)
Net cash used in investing activities REEDFARES TR (91,257) (19,247,348)
Net cash generated from financing BMEEBELER S FHE
activities — 31,777,348
Foreign exchange adjustment bE o 7 & 170,613 1,671,321
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR & MR & ZEY 2 BN FE5E 15,172,336 748,460
FEREEMARA T 2021 &5 249



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE

42,

43.

44,

250 Imperium Technology Group Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a subsidiary of
the Company in the manufacturing and sales of furnishing
business has laid-off a number of skilled staff. The subsidiary
has come into an agreement with a third party entity to
employ these skilled staff. This third party entity agreed
that the obligation for the economic compensation payable
by the subsidiary in accordance with the relevant labour
law of the PRC amounting to approximately HK$6,133,000
(2020: HK$5,970,000) would be transferred to the third party
entity under the arrangement. At the date of these financial
statements, the directors are of the view that no material
liability will arise in respect of the arrangement.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not yet incurred are as follows:

Game intellectual properties and % Bk A0 5k = A M R AE

licenses

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to investment property owned by the
Group with lease terms of 1 to 3 years, with no extension.
The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property
at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

42. HAREE
m:z EF+-_A=+—H ARa—MH
BENEEREBEK ZHBAREBZA
ﬂﬁEI°§W§Aﬂﬁ%EHE¥§W
e EEREAREL - ZFEF=HETE
AE ZWNBARZTPHIEBEEE EEE
- 7 & ¥ 18 & 496,133,000 T (ZE &
¢'5970000,9§7E>Hﬂ ZHERXFZE=

HEE RUBHREBH EERAETE
MALHELEAAE -

43. E KEE
RBEBHROEITOEEMREEERNAE
R

2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
4,836,750 —

44, REHELH
AEBEAEHBEA
KEHEERAEEHNA—E=FM84F

REMENATH) AR - &AM AL EE
EREHERGBERYMENEZE -

HMENRERBKBAERENT

2021 2020

—E-—fF —E-THF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within year 1 — &R 954,111 1,080,770
In the second year B 78,559 464,496
Total et 1,032,670 1,545,266
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44.

45.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ —E - —F+ _A=+—HItFE

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 44. REHEZH H)
(Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued) AEBEAEHEAE
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit TRENREZRBRNSE
or loss:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Lease income on operating leases KEHEMHEEWRA 1,401,422 1,401,650
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. BEBALIXRS
(@) In addition to those related party transactions and (@) KA% ﬁﬁﬁ% ok A A EB o AT B ER
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated 9 8 Bk A NiEsoh RER -
financial statements, the Group had the following & lEﬁi,ﬁfﬁﬂ THEHITUTRS:
transactions with its related parties during the year:
2021 2020
—E--f e 3
HK$ HK$
BT BT
License fees paid to R TARZ A %Z?%i Not
— A.C.R. Equipment Supplies Limited - RERREVERL applicable 120,000
TER
Interest expense paid to WMT BESE ﬁﬁﬁi
— Imperium Credit Limited BiEEMBERA 2,392,708 2,392,534
— Sun International Group Limited (formerly known — iiﬂﬁl REEERA
as Imperium Financial Group Limited) (ﬁﬁ%%@%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ) 6,461,325 3,314,945
— Imperium Group (Holdings) Limited - FEEEER)BRAF 737,202 -
Lease income from REUTEAMEERA
— Best Master Limited — Best Master Limited 698,108 -
— Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - BTHEEAE 358,884
Mobile Game income from KRBT LA A F#5 5kA
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment Limited - FRYEEBHAERDA 794,863 —
License fee paid to AT AR A %EﬁFE’
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment Limited - FEFELHERA 222,521 =
Service fee paid to R TARZNRE E
— BINERNMEBEREERAF — BMER DMK A& B
BRAA 2,869,337 -
During the year, the key management personnel FRN AEEIZNTFTETEEEAENHE
compensation paid by the Group including amounts BRENERE B MR TZ12R T 3E &
paid to the Company’s director as disclosed in note TARRNAIESARWNERE B 7% =R & W 11
12 to the consolidated financial statements and NATEBESRFETUNESTFMA LTINS
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in o
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEMNEEEBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —E - —F+ _A=+—HIEFE
45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)

45. BABALTXRF (&)

Balance with related parties (b) EERAEEANLH& SR
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had the RZB_—FR_T_ZFF+_H
following balances with related parties: =+ —HB AEBEHEFBALTE T
AR
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-=F
Note HK$ HK$
B 7% BT BT

Due to related companies

— Imperium Credit Limited

— Sun International Group Limited
(formerly known as Imperium
Financial Group Limited)

— Imperium Group (Holdings)
Limited A

— Imperium Interactive —
Entertainment Limited

PR AA])

Notes:

(i) The amounts due to related companies of HK$194,526,754
(2020: HK$169,328,042) was unsecured, interest bearing
from 0% to 2% per annum and repayable within two years.

(if) The amounts due to related companies was unsecured, not
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2022.
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JE& < B Bst 2 R) R IR

— TEEEMBARAF (i)

AEEREBER QT
(mETEeREES

TEHEERFER)ERA

TR ELBHAERANA

(49,088,355) (48,093,726)

(i (125,367,864)| (121,234,316)
(i (20,070,535) —

(if) (179,626) —

(194,706,380)| (169,328,042)

o 5
(i) % %5 JE S BA B A A 3R IH194,526,7548 L (= F
Z T F:169,328,042/8 L) A EKIF - BB F
0% ZE2%:T ERERMFENEE -
(ii) ZEERGEBARNEAEER 28RIEE
fEE -
46. B HmEROHE

gFFe RN _E-__F=A=+—8B#tE
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